PROGRAMME CIRCULAR

Incorporated in Australia with limited liability

U.S.\$70,000,000,000* Euro Medium Term Note Programme

*Combined programme limit for the Euro Medium Term Note Programme of ASB Finance Limited and Commonwealth Bank of Australia. This Programme Circular relates to Notes to be issued under such programme by Commonwealth Bank of Australia only.

Commonwealth Bank of Australia (the "Issuer" or the "Bank") may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the "Notes") in any form contemplated in "Conditions of the Notesherein and as described in "Overview of the Programmerie.

The Notes will be issued from time to time to corremore of the Dealers specified on page ach a "Dealer" and together the "Dealers", which expression shall include any additional Dealers appointed under the Programme (as defined below) from time the time has this Programme Circular to the elevant Dealer" shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to subscribe for such Notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For adiscussion of these risks see "Risk Factors".

The Issuer has been rated AAy Standard & Poor's (Australia) Pty. Ltd. ("S&P"), Aa3 by Moody's Investors Service Pty Ltd. ("Moody's") and AA- by Fitch Australia Pty Ltd ("Fitch"). None of S&P, Moody's or Fitch is established in the European Union (the "EU") or registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the "CRA Regulation"). However, Commission Implementing Decision 2012/627/EU provides at the Australian legal and supervisory framework for credit rating agencies shall be considered as equivalent to the requirements of the CRA Regulation and ABA Global Ratings Europe Limite Moody's Investors Service Ltd. and Fitch Ratings ruited which are established in the Jand registered under the CRA Regulation (and, as such are included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") on its website (at http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/Lietgisteredandcertified-CRAs) in accordance with such Regulation) currently endorse the credit ratings of S&P, Moody's and Fitch, respectively, for regulatory purposes in the EU. There can be no assurance that such endorsement of the credit ratings of S&P, Moody's and Fitch will continue.

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated by any one or more of the rating agencies referred to alaoventwenter leave to alaoventwenter

Application has been made to the Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority the "FCA") acting in its capacity as the competent authority for Notes to be issuething the period of 12 months from the date of this Programme Circular under this U.S.\$70,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") to be admitted to the official list of the FCA (the "Official List") and to the London Stock Exchange (the "London Stock Exchange") for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market. References in this Programme Circular to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admited to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market and have been admitted to the Official List. The London Stock Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU).

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and the information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under "Conditions of the Notes") of Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the "Final Terms") which, where listed, will be delivered to the FCA and the London Stock Exchange. Copiesthef Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed the London Stock Exchange will also be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange

Barclays
BofA Merrill Lynch
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Daiwa Capital Markets Europe
Goldman Sachs International
J.P. Morgan
NatWest Markets
UBS Investment Bank

Dated3 July 2019

BNP PARIBAS Citigroup Credit Suisse Deutsche Bank HSBC Morgan Stanley Nomura

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Programme Circular comprises a base prospectus for **Cowreal**th Bank of Australia only for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directi**We**hen used in this Programme Circulaterospectus Directive' means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or supersede) dand includes any relevant implementing measurer a relevant Member State of the European Economic (Marea EEA').

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Programme Circular and the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of whedge of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Programme Circular, is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

This Programme Circular is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated in it by reference (see "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*"). This Programme Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that sedocuments are so incorporated and form part of this Programme Circular.

The Dealers (which term in this paragraph and the third paragraph below includes Commonwealth Bank of Australia in its capacity as dealer but does not include Commonwealth Bank of Australia in its capacity as issuer of the Notes) have not separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made aespoosibility or liability is accepted by the Dealers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Programme Circular or any further information supplied by the Issuer in connection with the Notes.

No person has been authoristed give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Programme Circular or any further information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be replicated as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Programme Circular nor any further information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and shot be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Programme Circular or any further information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing Notes should make its own independent investigation of the condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Programme Circular nor any further information supplied in connection with the Prangme or the Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

The delivery of this Programme Circular does not at any time imply that the informationined nta it concerning the Issuer is correct at any time subsequents date or that any further information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the financial or other condition or affairs of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries during the life of the Programme. Investors should review, *inter alia*, the most recent financial statements of the Union to purchase any Notes.

The distribution of this Programme Circular and the offer or sale of the Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Programme Circular or any Notesmust inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Programme Circular and the offer or sale of the Notes in the United States. At (including the United Kingdom and Lixembourg), Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Hong Kong, PIRE, Macau (each as defined below), the Republic of Korea Singapore and Taiwan (see "Subscription and Sale").

The Notes have not been and will not begistered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or any U.S. State securities laws and may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons as defined in Regulation & three Securities Act unless an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act is available and in accordance with all applicable securities laws of any state of the United States and any other juris (station bubscription and Sale").

IMPORTANT – EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EUa(s amended;MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/E@s(amended)r supersede)d where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFIDolr (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as amended; "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

MiFID II product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Notes ay include a legend entitled "MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any parts sequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes "(distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to it is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU Detected Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance Rule); any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purposefothe MiFID Product Governance Rules.

Product Classification pursuant to Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore) – In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) app Sine (as amended or modified the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), unless otherwise stated in the applicableal Terms all Notes shall be prescribed capital rivets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products)

Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its owncommistances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

- (i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the the text rits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Programme Circular or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Noteswhere the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of financial markets; and
- (v) is able to evaluate possible scenarioseconomic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (13)er restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable braisled capital or similar less.

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

In this Programme Circular, all references to:

- "U.S. dollars", "USD" and "U.S.\$" are to United States dollars;
- "JPY", "Yen" and "\text{\text{\$\text{\$Y\$}}" are to Japanese yen;}
- "Sterling", "GBP" and "£" are to pounds sterling;
- "AUD" and "A\$" are to Australian dollars;
- "NZD" and "NZ\$" are to New Zealand dollars;
- "HKD" and "Hong Kong dollars" are to the lawful currency of Hong Kong;
- "Renminbi", "RMB" and "CNY" are to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") which for purposesof this Programme Circular excludes the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Taiwan;
- "CHF" and "Swiss Francs" areto the lawful currency of Switzerland;
- "euro", "EUR" and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning Edutopean Unionas amended and
- "Issuer" or "Bank" are to Commonwealth Bank of Australiand as appropriatets subsidiaries

AUSTRALIAN BANKING LEGISLATION

The Issuer is an authorised depositing institution (an "ADI") for the purposes of the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (the "Banking Act"). The Banking Act provides that, in the event an ADI becomes unable to meet its obligations or suspends payment, the ADI's assets in Australia are available to meet specified liabilities of the ADI in priority to all other liabilities of the ADI (including, in the case of the Issuer, any Notes issued the Programme). These specified liabilities include certain obligations of the ADI to the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority ("APRA") in respect of amounts payable by APRA to holders of protected accounts, other liabilities of the ADI in Australia in relation to protected accounts, debts to the Reserve Bank of Australia "RBA") and certain other debts to APRA. A "protected account" is, subject to certain conditions including as to currency and unless prescribed otherwise by regulations caount or a specified financial product: (a) where the ADI is required to pay the account demand or at an agreed time, the net credit balance of the account, or (b) otherwise prescribed by regulation. The Australian Treasurer has publicated aration of products prescribed as protected accounts for the purposes of the Banking Act. Changes to applicable law may extend the liabilities required to be preferred by law.

Any Notes issued under the Programme will not represent a protected anticomma deposit with, the Issuer. The liabilities which are preferred by law to the claim of a holder of a Note issued under the Programme will be substantial and the Conditions of the Notes do not limit the amount of such liabilities which may be locurre assumed by the Issuer from time to time.

The offer or sale of any Notes under the Programme will not require disclosure under Part 6D.2 or Part 7.9 of the Corporations Act2001 of Australia the "Corporations Act") as the Issuer is an ADI under ther ther there and section 708(19) of the Corporations Act provides that an offer of an ADI's debentures for issue or sale does not need such disclosure. Accordingly, this Programme Circular has not been, nor will be, lodged with nor registered by the Australia Securities and Investments Commiss (Australia).

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more relevant Dealers (the "Stabilisation Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) may, outside of Australia and on a financial market operated outside of Australia, over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Table of Contents

Overview of the Programme	8
Risk Factors	11
Documents Inorporated by Reference	34
Form of the Notes	35
Applicable Final Terms	38
Conditions of the Notes	47
Use of Proceeds	84
Commonwealth Bank of Australia	85
Directors of Commonwealth Bank of Australia	95
Subscription and Sale	99
General Information	106

Overview of the Programme

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is not a summary for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Programme Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implenting Directive 2003/71/EQ(the Prospectus Regulation).

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Conditions of the Notes" and not otherwise defined shall have the same meanings in this Overview.

Issuer: Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): MSFSBD3QN1GSN7Q6C537

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Arranger: UBS AG London Branch

Dealers: Barclays Bak PLC

Barclays Capital Asia Limited

BNP Paribas

Citigroup Global Markets Limited Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Limited Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Goldman Sachs International

HSBC Bank plc

J.P. Morgan Securities plc Merrill Lynch International

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc

NatWest Markets Plc Nomura International plc UBS AG London Branch

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Progra

Agreement.

Certain restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of v

particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or repor requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances who comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time including the following restrictions applicable at the date of this Programme Circular.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having maturity of less than one year from take of issue will be issued (i) to a limited class of professional investors will have a denomination of at least £100,000 (or an amour equivalent value denominated wholly or partly in a currency of than sterling) and no part thereof will be the ferable unless the redemption value of that part is not less than £100,000 (or suc equivalent amount) or (ii) in any other circumstances which do violate section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act,2

as amende(the "FSMA").

Issuing and Principal Paying Agent: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Registrar: Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

Distribution: Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement

in each case on a syndicated or-syndicated basis.

Currencies: Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restriction stees

may be denominated **td**.S. dollars, euro, Yen, Sterling, Australia dollars, New Zealand dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Stancs and such other currencies as may be agreed with

relevant Dealer.

Maturities: Subject to any applicable laws and regulations, any orig

maturity.

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at par or at a discount to, or premium

par.

Form of Notes: The Notes will be issued in ither bearer or registered of m as

described in "Form of the Notes". Registered Notes will not be

exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice versa.

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on such date or dates in

year as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant I and on redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and

relevant Dealer.

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will beantierest at a rate determined on t

same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, published the International Swaps dnDerivatives Association, Inc. and a amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche Notes, or on the basis of a reference rate appearing on an a

screen page of a commercial quotation service.

The Margin (if any) relating to stacfloating rate will be specified

in the applicable Final Terms.

Other provisions in relation to

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest ra minimum interest rate or both. Interest on Floating Rate Notes be payabe on Interest Payment Dates, as agreed at the tim

agreement to issue, and (where applicable) will be calculated o basis of the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable F

Terms.

Details of the interest rate applicable to the then culfide the Interest Period in respect of the Floating Rate Notes of any S

will be available from the Principal Paying Agent.

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at par or at a disc

to their nominal amount and will not breaterest.

Benchmark Discontinuation: In the case of Floating Rate Notes, if the Issuer determines t

Benchmark Event has occurred, the relevant benchmark or sarate may be replaced by a Successor Rate or, if there is Successor Rate but the subser determines there is an Alternation Rate (acting in good faith and by reference to such sources

deems appropriate, which may include consultation with Independent Adviser), such Alternative Raten Adjustment Spread may also be applied to the Coessor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), together with any Benchi Amendments (which in the case of any Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread unless formally recommended or provided and any Benchmark Amendments shall be deterthiby the Issuer, acting in good faith and by reference to such sources deems appropriate, which may include consultation with Independent Adviser). For further information, see Condition

Redemption:

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes that Tranche cannot be redeemed prior to their stated mat other than for taxation reasons, or that such Notes will redeemable at the option of the Issuer (in specified amountates applicable Final Terms so indicate) and/or at the option of holder(s) of such Notes on a date or dates specified prior to stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other term may be indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Risk Factors

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors which individually or together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is not possible to identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's control. The Issuer has identified in this Programme Circular a number of factors which could materially adversely affect its businesses and ability to make payments due under the Notes.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued by the Issuer under the Programme are also described below.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Programme Circular and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Notwithstanding anything in these risk factors, these risk factors should not be taken as implying that the Issuer will be unable to comply with its obligations as a company with securities admitted to the Official List or that the Issuer will be unable to comply with its obligations as a supervised firm regulated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority and the FCA.

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Conditions of the Notes" and not otherwise defined shall have the same meanings when used herein.

FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER, INCLUDING ITS ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

The Issuer is subject to extensive regulationed operates in an environment of political scrutiny, which could adversely impact its operations and financiation of political scrutiny.

The Issuer and its businesses are subject to extensive regulation in Aastossisamultiple regulators of yodies as well asotherregulators injurisdictions in which the Issuer operates or obtains fundinglyding New Zealand, the United Kingdom, the United Stateshina, Japansingapore Hong Kong and Indonesia.

Key domestic regulators includ&PRA, ASIC, the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre ("AUSTRAC"), the Office of the Australian hformation Commissioner(the "OAIC"), the Australian Competition and Consumer Commissioner Australian Financial Complaints Authoritythe RBA and the Australian Stock ExchangeASX").

APRA as the Issuer's prudential regulator in Australians very wide powers under the Banking Act, including in limited circumstances to direct banks (including the Issuer) not to make payome its debt and equity securities

In addition to its key Australian regulators, a range of international regulators and <code>itexthsuriptervise</code> and regulate the Issuer in respect of, among other areas, capital adequacy, liquidity levels, funding, provisioning, insurances, compliance with prudential regulation and standards;unting standards;emuneration, data access, stock exchge listing requirements, and Issuer's compliance with relevant financial crime, sanction, privacy, taxation, competition, consumer protection and securities trading laws.

The Issuer and the wider financial services industry are facing increase the increase and jurisdictions and changes or new regulation in one part of the world could lead to changes elsewhere.

Any change in law, regulationaccounting standardspolicy or practice of regulators, or failure to comply with laws, regulation or policy, may adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial condition, liquidity operations, prospects and reputation, and its ability to execute its strategy, either on a technoritor longterm basis. The potential impacts of regulatorchange are wide, and could include increasing the levels and types of the lasuer is required to hold restricting the way the Issuer can conduct its business and the nature of that business, such as the types of products that it cantoffeustomers.

The Issuer may also be adversely affected if the pace or extent of esgudatory change exceeds its ability to adapt to suck thanges and embed appropriate compliance processes adequately. The pace of regulatory change means that the relatory context in which the Issuer operates is often uncertain and complex.

Regulatory reforms

Examples of significant regulatory reform under development in Australia in almeriew of Open Banking (as defined below) APRA's proposals to revise the data biframework for ADIsandthe Treasury Laws Amendment (Design and Distribution Obligations and Product Intervention and Product 2019.

In late 2017, the Australian Government announced it would legislate an ecoviden Consumer Data Right to give consumes access to and control over their data, beginning with banking (referred '10 pages). The Australian Government Isadecided to phase in Open Banking with major banks expected to make data available on credit and ebit card, deposit and transaction accounts from July 2019, before expanding to other banking products (e.g. mortga) gaend sharing of consumer data between banks and accredited third parties (at the direction of the consumer). Threesforms are intended to increase competitionhian financial sector and improve customer outcomes. Consumer Riagitat laws have not yet been passed by the Federal Parliamentin Australia Increased competition resulting from Open Banking adversely impact the sue's business and financial condition

The finalisation of the capital reformwhich is currently under consultation with APRA, may resulthanges to the riskweighting framework for certain asset classes, which are expected to inthreats ue's riskweighted asset (RWA") and accordingly (all things being equal) reducted Issuer's Common Equity Tier 1 ("CET1") ratio. As part of the revisions to the capital framework, APRA is also consulting with the industry on approaches for achieving international comparability, without charthen guantum of CET1 capital. APRA is separately consulting on its proposed approach for absorbing capacity to support the orderly resolution of Australian ADIs. For Domesti systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs") such as the Issuer APRA's proposal would require an increase in the total capital requirement. Seeillire to maintain capital adequacy requirements would adversely affect the Issuer's financial condition" for more information.

The Treasury Laws Amendment (Design and Distribution Obligation Product Intervention Pers) Act 2019 could impact the sue's ability to issue and market financial products in the future. This law requires issuers of financial products to identify target markets for their products, select appropriate distribution channels, and periodically review arrangements to ensure they continue to be appropriate. In addition, distributors of financial products will be required to put in place reasonable controls to ensure products are distributed in accordance with the idioned target markets. The Product Intervention Power will enable ASIC to intervene in the distribution of a financial product and a credit product where it perceives a risk of significant consumer detrimentncreased compliance costs resulting from finant finantial condition.

Outside Australia there have also been a series of other regulatory initiatives from authorities in the various jurisdictions in which thessueroperates or obtains funding that would result in significant regulatory changes for financial institutions. Examples include proposals for changes to financial regulations in the United States (including legislation enacted in May 2018 that rolled back companions of the DodeFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 ("Dodd-Frank") and additional proposals to further dilute the law, including prohibitions that prevent banking entities from engaging in certaipnoiste proprietary tading activities or investments in hedge funds or private equity funds, known as the Volcker Rule), more data protection regulations in Europe and MiFID II in Europe. Authorities in Europe and the United Kingdom may also propose significant regulatory class a result of "Brexit", however the scope and timing of any such changes remains uncertain. There may be an extended period of increased uncertainty and volatility in the global financial markets while the details of Brexit are negotiated. "Goe Issuer may be adversely affected by general business and economic conditions and disruptions in the global financial markets" for more information.

In the United States, the Issuer elected to be treated as a Financial Holding Company by the Federal Reserve Board in the United States in October 2016. As a result, the Issuer is subject to additional regulatory requirements in the United States that it was not subject to prior to that election.

Other regulatory and political developments

There is currently annewironment of heightened scrutirby the Australian Government and various Australian regulators on the Australian financial services industry. Examples of industry scrutinythat maylead to future changes in the autralian financial services, include the stablishment of a Royal Commission to inquire into the misconduct by financial service entities.

The Royal Commission

The Royal Commission was established on 14 December 2017 and was authorised to inquire into misconduct by financial service entities (induding the Issuer). Seven rounds of hearings into misconduct in the banking and financial services industry were held throughout 2018, covering a variety of topics including consumer and business lending, financial advice, superannuation, insurancepathidyaround. The Royal Commission's final report was delivered on 1 February 2019. The final report included 76 policy recommendations to the Australian Government and findings in relation to the case studies investigated during the hearings, with raofiumbe referrals being made to regulators for misconduct by financial institutions, which is expected to result in heightened levels of enforcement action across the industry.

The 76 recommendations covered many of the Issuer's business areas, and also canvassed the role of the regulators and the approach to be taken to customer focus, culture and remuneration. The recommendations regarding the role of regulators, in particular the 'litigate first' approach for breaches of financial services law, will likely lead to a change in the Issuer's regulator relationships and the Issuer can expect an increase of activity, costs and reputational impact in this area. The Issuer released a statement to the ASX on 8 March 2019 welcoming the final report and committing actions to deliver on the recommendations.

Damage to the Issuer's reputation could harm its business, financial condition, operations and prospects

The Issuer's reputation is a valuable asset and a key contributor to the support that it receives from the community for its business initiatives and its ability to raise funding or capital. Damage the street's reputation may arise where there are differences between stakeholder expectations and its ability to raise funding or capital. Damage the street's reputation may arise where there are differences between stakeholder expectations are the community for its business initiatives and its ability to raise funding or capital. Damage the street's reputation may arise where there are differences between stakeholder expectations are the community for its business initiatives and its ability to raise funding or capital. Damage the street's reputation may arise where there are differences between stakeholder expectations are the community for its business initiatives and its ability to raise funding or capital. Damage the street's reputation may arise where there are differences between stakeholder expectations are the community for its business.

Various issues, including a number of the risks described herein, may give rise to reputational damage and cause harm to the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations and prospects. These issues include the conduct of the Issuer (for example, inadequate sales and trading practices, inappropriate management of conflicts of interest and other ethical issues), breaches of legal and regulatory requirements (such as moneygauodeter terrorism financing, trade sanctions and privacy laws), technology and information security failures, unsuccessful strategies or strategies that are not in line with community expectations-auchpliance with internal policies and procedure. In Issuer's reputation may also be adversely affected by community perception of the broader financial services industry, or from the actions of its competitors, customers, suppliers or companies in which the Issuer holds strategic investments.

Failure, or perceived failure, to address these issues appropriately could also give rise to additional legal or regulatory risk, subjecting the Issuer to regulatory enforcement actions, fines and penalties, or further damage the Issuer's reputation and integrity among its stakeholders including customers, investors and the community

The Issuer may be adversely impacted by a downturn in the Australian or New Zealand economies

As the Issue's businesses are primarily located in Australia and New Zealand, its performance is dependent on the state of these economies, customer and investor confidence, and prevailing market conditions in these two countries.

The Issuercan give no assurances as to the likely future conditions of the Australian and New Zealand economis, which can be influenced by many factors within and outside these countries, which are outside of its control, including domestic and international economic events, political events, natural disasters and any other event that impacts global financial rivets.

China is one of Australia's major trading partners and a significant driver of commodity demand and prices in many of the markets in whicthe Issuerand its customers operate. Anything that adversely affects China's economic growth, including the miplementation of tariffs or other protectionist trade policyuld adversely

affect Australian economic activity and, as a restale, Issue's business, financial condition, operations and prospects.

The strength of the Australian economy is influenced the strength of the Australian dollar. Significant movements in the Australian dollar may adversely impact parts of the Australian economy and, the turn, Issue's results of operations. See "Failure to hedge effectively against market risks (including adverse fluctuations in exchange rates) could negatively impact the Issuer's results of operations" for more information.

A material downturn in the Australian or New Zealand economies could adversely impassive's results by reducing customers' demand forthe Issue's products and borrowers' ability to repay their loans to the Issuer (i.e. credit risk). In particular, givethe Issue's concentration of earnings from home loans, a significant or sustained decrease in the Australian and New Zealhanusing markets or property valuations, including external factors or tightening lending standards could adversely alifectssues home and commercial mortgage portfolio, result in a decrease in the amount of new lendents able toundetake and/or increase the losses that Issuermay experience from existing loans. These factors could adversely that Issuers business, financial condition, operations and prospects.

The demand for residential property may also decline due to borgeens about decreases in value, regulatory or tax changes or concerabout rising interest rates, which could impademand for the Issue's home lending products. Recently, the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS") reported that residential properties (as a weighted average of eight capital cities) declined per cent.over the quarter ended 3 March 2019 and declined by 7.4 per cent.over the year ended 1 March 2019 (compared togrowth of 2.0 per cent.over the year ended 3 March 2019). In April 2018 APRA announced its decision to remove itspecient.cap on investor loan growth and in December 2018 removed its supervisory benchmark on interpretation. This will be replaced with a series of more permanent measures to strengthicential mortgage lending standards. If regulators impose further supervisory measures that imbadesures mortgage lending practices, Australian housing price growth significantly subsides or property valuations decline, the demathed to so the lending products may decrease and loan defaults could increase due to declining collateral values. This would adversely affect be Issue's business, operations and financial condition.

Adverse impacts on the suer's commercial mortgage portfolio could emanate from lower levels of new origination activity and increased losses due to deteriorating security values and a less active neglinanc market. A material decline in residential housing prices could also cause increased loss the first residential property developers, particularly if such developers' customers that are pre-committed to purchase the completed dwellingse unable or unwilling to complete their contracts the dissue is forced to sell these dwellings for less han the precommitted contract price.

The Issuer may be adversely affected by general business and economic conditions and disruptions in the global financial markets

By the nature of its operations in various financial markets the Issuer has previously adversely impacted, both directly and indirectly, by difficult business, economic and market conditions and could be adversely affected should markets deteriorate again in the future. The financial system (or systems) within which it operates may exerience systemic shock due to market volatility, political or economic instability or catastrophic events.

A shock to or deterioration in the global economy could result in currency and interest rate fluctuations and operational disruptions that negative impact the Issuer. For example, global economic conditions may deteriorate to the extent that counterparties default on their debt obligations; countries or introduce capital controls; one or more major economics seoland/or global financial markets cease to operate, or cease to operate efficiently. Sovereign defaults may adversely impact the Issuer directly, through adversely impacting the value of the Issuer's assets, or indirectly through destabilising global financial markets, adversely impacting the Issuer's liquidity, financial performance or ability to access capital.

Issuer's cost of funds for lending and investing, as well as the return that the Issuer earns on those loans and investments. These factors impact the Issuer's net interest margin and can affect the value of financial instruments it holds, such as debt securities and hedging instruments. The policies of the centraly moneta authorities can affect the Issuer's borrowers and other counterparties, potentially increasing the risk that the Issuer's borrowers and other counterparties may fail to repay loans or other financial obligations to the Issuer. Monetary policies also have broader impact of the Issuer's customers' spending and savings activity, which will in turn, affect the Issuer's performance. Changes in such policies can be difficult to predict.

Additionally, on 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom voted to leave the 'Brexit') in a referendum and on 29 March 2017 gave notice under Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union to commence the legal process to end the United Kingdom's membership of the EU. As part of the negotiations between the UK and the EU regarding theerms of the UK's withdrawal from the EU and the framework of the future relationship between the UK and the EU (the "article 50 withdrawal agreement"), a transitional period has been agreed in principle which would extend the application of EU law, and vide for continuing access to the EU single market, until the end of 2020There may be an extended period of increased uncertainty and volatility in the global financial marketsdue to the orgoing political uncertainty as regards the terms of the UK's withdrawal from the EU and the structure of the future relationship united Kingdom's decision to leave the EU may adversely affect the Issuer's ability to raise medium or long term funding in the international capital markets and the EU is potential for further consequences of Brexit to adversing act the financial marketst remains uncertain whether the article 50 withdrawal agreement will be finalised and ratified by the UK and the EU. If it is not ratified, the Treaty on the European Union and the fireaty on the European Union will cease to apply to the UK from that date.

Furthermore, since January 2017 the United States inistration has outlined a political and economic agenda for the United States that, in certain ways, sigaintly differs from previous trade, tax, fiscal, regulatory and other policies of the United States In particular, the current United States ministration has pursued a protectionist trade policy which includes a series of expansive tariffs, up ton and the entirety of goods traded between the United States and China, which may result in adverse effects on the economy of China, one of Australia's major trading partners and a significant driver of commodity demand and prices in the markets in which the Issuer and its customers operate. Anything that adversely affects China's economic growth could adversely affect Australian economic activity and, as a result, the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations and prospects.

The Issuer is subject to intense competition which may adversely affect its results

The Issuer faces intense competition in all of its principal areas of operation. Competition is expected to increase, especially from nontustralian financial services providers who continuexpand in Australia, and from new nonbank entrants or smaller providers who may be unregulated or subject to lower or different prudential and regulatory standards than the Issuer and are therefore able to operate more efficiently. These entrants mayseek to disrupt the financial services industry by offering bundled propositions and utilising new technologies.

If the Issuer is unable to compete effectively in its various businesses and markets, its market share may decline and increased competitionamalso adversely affect the Issuer's results by diverting business to competitors or creating pressure to lower margins to maintain market share.

The Issuer may incur losses from operational risks associated with being a large financial institution

Operational risk is defined as the risk of economic gain or loss resulting from (i) inadequate or failed internal processes and methodologies; (ii) people; (iii) systems and models used in making business decisions; or (iv) external events.

The Issuer's use of third party suppliers and third party partnerships, especially those where they supply the Issuer with critical services such as key technology systems or support, also expose it to operational risks including the potential for a severe event at a **tparty** impacting the Issuer.

The Issuer's businesses are highly dependent on their ability to process and monitor a very large number of transactions, many of which are highly complex, across multiple markets and in many currencies. The Issuer's financial, accounting, record keeping, data processing or other operating systems, processes and facilities may fail to function properly or may become disabled as a result of events that are wholly or partially beyond its control, such as a spike in transaction unotes, damage to critical utilities, environmental hazard, natural disaster, or a failure of vendors' systems. The Issuer could suffer losses due to impairment of assets, including software, goodwill and other intangible assets.

There is also a risk thatopr decisions may be made due to data quality issues, models that are not fit for purpose, or inappropriate data management. This may cause the Issuer to incur losses, or result in regulatory action.

Management must exercise judgment in selecting and iapphe Issuer's accounting policies so that not only do they comply with generally accepted accounting principles but they also reflect the most appropriate manner in which to record and report on the financial position and results of operations states. IWhile the Issuer has processes to set and ensure compliance with the Issuer's accounting policies these processes may not always be effective. Application of and changes to accounting policies may adversely impact the Issuer's results.

The Issuer ma also be adversely impacted by failures in the efficacy, adequacy or implementation of its risk management strategies, frameworks and processes. The emergence of unexpected risks or unanticipated impacts of identified risks may result in financial or reptional losses for the Issuer.

The Issuer may be adversely impacted by information security risks, including extecks

The Issuer's businesses are highly dependent on its information technology systems, including those supplied by external service **pr**viders, to securely process, store, keep private and transmit information. These information technology systems are subject to information security risks. Information security risks for the Issuer have increased in recent years, in part because of: (a) ptrvasiveness of technology to conduct financial transactions; (ii) the evolution and development of new technologies; (iii) the Issuer's increasing usage of digital channels; (iv) customers' increasing use of personal devices that are beyond the Issuer's control systems; and (v) the increased sophistication and broadened activities of cyber criminals.

Although the Issuer takes protective measures and endeavours to modify these protective measures as circumstances warrant, its computer systems, softwardenetworks may be vulnerable to unauthorised access, misuse, deniabf-service attacks, phishing attacks, computer viruses or other malicious code and other events. These threats could result in the unauthorised release, gathering, monitoring, missuser, destruction of confidential, proprietary and other information of the Issuer, its employees, customers or third parties or otherwise adversely impact network access or business operations.

An information security failure (including the impact of anyberattack) could have serious consequences for the Issuer including operational disruption, financial losses, a loss of customer or business opportunities, litigation, regulatory penalties or intervention, reputational damage, theft of intellectualty, dpss or theft of customer data, and could result in violations of applicable privacy laws.

Human capital risk including the loss of key executives, employees or Board members may adversely affect the Issue*'s business*, *operations and financial condit*ion

The Issuer's ability to attract and retain qualified and skilled executives, employees and Board members is an important factor in achievinghe strategic objectives of CBA and its subsidiaries (the "Group"). The Chief Executive Officer, the management and of the Chief Executive Officer and the Board have skills that are critical to setting the strategic direction, successful management and growth of the Issuer, and whose loss due to resignation, retirement, death or illness may adversely affects ther's business, operations and financial condition.

If the Issuer has difficulty retaining or attracting highly qualified people for important roles, including key executives and Board members, particularly in times of strategic change, the Issuer's business, operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

The Issuer could suffer losses due to climate change

Climate change is systemic in nature, and is a significant theorem driver of both financial and notinancial risks. A failure to respond to the potential and expected impacts of climate change will affect the langer term performance and can be expected to have powide impacts for the Group in its lending (retail ad business), procurement an indivestment portfolios. These notified, but are not limited to, impacts the probability of default ad losses arising from default waluations and collateral as well as portfolio performance.

The Issuer recognises that inadequate assessment and management of the physical gisko(marieintreme weather events and long term shifts in climate patterns) and transition risk (arising from legal, market, policy, technology and reputation to a low carbon economy) of climate change, have the potental to disrupt business activities, damage property and otherwise affect the value of assets, and affect our customers' ability to repay loans.

Climate change therefore has the potential to impact the Group's franchise value, strategic risk and financial risk and poses a risk to the Issuer's cost of capital.

A similar subject matter shareholder class action was filed on 29 June 2018 by law firm Phi Finney McDonald on behalf of a group of shareholders who acquired an interest in the Issuer's ordinary shares between 16 June 2014 and 3 August 2017.

The Issuer intends to vigorously defend both shareholder class actions. At this time it is not possible to reliably estimatethe possible financial impact on the Issuerthese class actions. Accordingly, no loss provision has been made, although the Issuer has provided for legal costs expected to be incurred to defend these claims.

Additionally, in some of the Issuer's contractual arrangements, the Issuer provides representations and warranties regarding its compliance with the AML/CTF Actd other applicable antioney laundering and counterterrorism rules and regulations. Because of the settlement with AUSTRAC, the Issueberexposed to potential claims from its contractual counterparties to the extent such counterparties believe that the Issuer has breached the applicable representations and warranties contained in the Issuer's contractual arrangements with them and haveuffered loss as a result of any such breach. The Issuer is not aware of any such claims as of the date of thisProgramme CircularSuch investigations, actions, claims or proceedings, could result in penalties, fines and costs, reputational harm, rettiediaosts and other losses that, individually or collectively, could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations, prospects and reputation.

On 9 October 2018, Slater and Gordon Lawyers filed a class action adjainst the Issuer and Colonial First State Investments Limited ("CFSIL") in the Victorian Registry of the Federal Court of Australia. The Issuer is the second respondent to this claim. The claim relates to investment in cash and deposit optionase (whitech Issuer's cash and deposit products) in Colonial First State FirstChoice Superannuation Trust and Commonwealth Essential Super. The main allegation is that members with these options in the funds received lower interest rates on them than they workshop had CFSIL put them in equivalent products with the highest interest rates obtainable on the market. It is alleged that the Issuer workshop in CFSL's breaches as trustee of the funds and CFSIL's breaches as Responsible Entity of the underlying managed investment schemes. It is currently not possible to determine the ultimate impact of these claims, if any, on the Group. Both the Issuer and CFSIL deny the allegations antided a defence to the claim. However Slater and Gordon Lawyers have made further amendments to the claim ather Issuer and CFSIL filed a defence to the amended claims 7 June 2019. The amendments introduce additional allegations relating to another term deposit and a breach of trust in respect of adviser commission from the legal costs estimated to be incurred in the defence of the claim.

Additionally, the settlement in the AUSTRAC proceedings and other investigations, actions, claims and proceedings may harm the Issuer's business and results by negatively impacting the Issuer's reputation among the Issuer's customers, investors and other stakeholders. Reputational harm could result in the loss of customers or restrict the Issuer's ability to access the capital markets on favourable terms, which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations, prospects and reputation.

During the 2018 financial year, A\$389 million of expense provisions were riseouthfor financial crimes compliance, the Royal Commission, the Prudential Inqu(ins) defined below) the AUSTRAC civil proceedings, shareholder class actionsthee ASIC investigation.

Furthermore, in recent years there have been significant increases nature and scale of regulatory investigations and reviews, enforcement actions (whether by court action or otherwise) and the quantum of fines issued by regulators, particularly against financial institutions both in Australia and globally. Tree of a three investigations and reviews can be wide ranging.

Following the inquiry conducted by an independent panel ithe Group with the goal of identifying shortcomings in the governance, culture and accountability framev(threks'Prudential Inquiry"), APRA released the panel's final report on 1 May 2018 (the "Final Report"). The Final Report made a number of findings regarding the complex interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management of interplay of organisational and cultural factors whith issue and the need for enhanced management o

The Issuerhas entered into an Enforceable Undertaking under whiteh Issuers remedial action plan (the "Remedial Action Plan") in response to the Final Report is monitored by APRA.

The Remedial Action Rah provides a detailed program change outlining how the Issuer will improve the way it runs its business, manages risk, and works with regulators. The Remedial Action Plan provides a comprehensive assurance framework, with Promontory Australasia (Sydney) having been appointed as the

independent reviewer and is reticulated to report to APRA on the roup's progress regularly, with the first report being submitted on 28 September 2018 and the second report on 20 December 2018. Both these reports have been released tithe Issuer Promontory Australasia (Sydney) has noticed the Remedial Action Plan program of work remains on track and he Issue's commitment to implementing the Prudential Inquiry's recommendations in a timely and comprehensive way continued to be strong with all milestones on schedule to be delivered by the due dates. A third report was submitted to APRA on 30 April 2019. This report has yet to be released by the Issuer

During the financial year ended 30 June 20th lessuer has also received various notices and requests for information from its regulates as part of both industryide and Bankspecific reviews. There may be exposures to customers which are additional to any regulatory exposures. These could include class actions, individual claims or customer remediation or compensation activities. There may be with such reviews and possible exposures remain uncertain. However, should any regulatory investigations and reviews result in fines, the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations, prospects and reputation may be adversely affected.

The Issuer may incur losses as a result of the inappropriate conduct of its staff.

The Issuer could be adversely affected if an employee, contractor or external service provider does not act in accordance with regulations or its podisiand procedures, engages in inappropriate or fraudulent conduct, or unintentionally fails to meet a professional obligation to specific clients. Examples are inadequate or defective financial advice, product defects and unsuitability, market manipulational regulational privacy or data security breaches and misleading or deceptive conduct in advertising. As a result, the Issuer could incur losses, financial penalties and reputational damage, and could be subject to legal or regulatory action.

The Issuermay incur losses associated with counterparty exposures

The Issuer assumes counterparty risk in connection with its lending, trading, derivatives, insurance and other businesses as it relies on the ability of its counterparties to satisfy their finabligations to the Issuer on a timely basis. For example, customers may default on their home, personal and business loans, and trades may fail to settle due to nopayment by a counterparty or a systems failure by clearing agents, exchanges or other financial intermediaries. This risk also arises from the Issuer's exposure to lenders' mortgage insurance and reinsurance providers. There is also a risk that the Issuer's rights against counterparties may not be enforceable in certain circumstances.

Counterpaties may default on their obligations due to insolvency, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. This risk may be increased by a deterioration in economic conditions and a sustained high level of unemployment. In assessing whether to exteredit or enter into other transactions, the Issuer relies on counterparties providing information that is accurate and not misleading, including financial statements and other financial information. The Issuer's financial performance could be negatively impacted to the extent that it relies on information that is inaccurate or materially misleading.

Unexpected credit losses could have a significant adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations and prospects.

The Issuer's results may be adversely affected by liquidity and funding risks

The Issuer is subject to liquidity and funding risks, which could adversely impact the Issuer's results. Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to meet financial obligations as and whe fathelye. Funding risk is the risk of over-reliance on a funding source to the extent that a change or increased competition in that funding source could increase overall funding costs or cause difficulty in raising funds.

Further information on liquidity and funding risk is outlined in note 9th the Issuer's audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 12018 provides an overview of the Issuer's liquidity and funding risk management framework.

Adverse financial and credit market conditions may significantly affect the Issuer's ability to access international debt markets, on which it relies for a substantial amount of its wholesale funding

While the majority of the Issuer's funding comes from deposits, it remains reliant on **-sff**ore wholesale funding markets to source a significant amount of its funding and grow its business.

Global market volatility may adversely impact the cost and the Issuer's ability to access wholesale funding markets and may also result in increased competition for, and therefore the cost of, deposits in Australia.

If the Issuer is unable to pass its increased funding costs on to its customers, its financial performance will decline due to lower net interest mansai If the Issuer is forced to seek alternative sources of funding, the availability of such alternative funding and the terms on which it many value below ill depend on a variety of factors, including prevailing financial and credit market conditions en Eif available the cost of these alternatives may be more expensive may only be available unfavourable terms, which may adversely impact the Issuer's cost of borrowing and the Issuer's on-going operations and funding. If the Issuer is unable t source appropriate and timely funding, it may also be forced to reduce its lending or consider selling assets.

The Issuer may not be able to maintain adequate levels of liquidity and funding, which would adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations and prospects

The Issuer's liquidity and funding policies are designed to ensure that it will meet its debts and other obligations as and when they fall due. Although the Issuer actively monitors and manages its liquidity and fundin positions, there are factors outside of its control which could adversely affect these positions, for example if financial markets are closed for an extended period of time.

In addition to APRA's Liquidity Coverage Ratio requirements (effective 1 January 2015), the Issuer must comply with the Net Stable Funding Ratiequirements, which came into effect from 1 January 2018. If the Issuer fails to maintain adequate levels of liquidity and funding, it would adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial condition, operations and prospects.

Failure to maintain credit ratings could adversely affect the Issuer's cost of funds, liquidity, access to debt and capital markets and competitive position

The Issuer's credit ratings (which are strongly influenced by Australia's sovereign credit rating) affect the cost and availability of its funding from debt and other funding sources. Credit ratings could be used by potential customers, lenders and investors in deciding whether to transact with or invest in the lssu

A downgrade to the Issuer's credit ratings, or Australia's sovereign credit rating, could adversely affect the Issuer's cost of funds, liquidity, access to debt and capital markets, collateralisation requirements and competitive position.

Failure to maintain capital adequacyequirements would adversely affect the Issusafinancial condition

The Issuer must satisfy substantial capital requirements, subject to qualitative and quantitative review and assessment by its regulators. Regulatory capitalinements influence how the Issuer uses its capital, and can restrict its ability to pay dividends and Additional Tier 1 distributions, or to make stock repurchases. The Issuer's capital ratios may be affected by a number of factors, including earnings, asset growth, changes in the value of the Australian dollar against other currencies in which the Issuer conducts its business, and changes in business strategy (including acquisitions, divestments, investments and changes in capital intensive businesses).

The Issuer operates an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Proceds (AAP") to manage its capital levels and to maintain them above the minimum levels approved by the Board (which are currently set to exceed regulatory requirements). The ICAAP include the recasting and stress testing of capital levels, which guides the Issuer in selecting any capital management initiatives it may undertake.

Should the ICAAP forecasts or stress tests prove to be ineffective, the Issuer may not be holding sufficient capital and may need to raise capital to manage balance sheet growth and/or extreme stress.

APRA has implemented a number of actions in response to the final report of the Financial System Inquiry ("FSl") released in December 2014, including the report's recommendation that Australian ADIs be required to operate with "unquestionably strong" capital ratios.

In July 2017, APRA released an information paper "Strengthening banking sector resilience – establishing unquestionably strong capital ratios" in which it stated that in order to meet the objective of having "unquestionably strong" capital ratios, Australia's major banks would need to operate with an average benchmark ratio ocental toRWA of 10.5per centor more by 1 January 2020.

Separately, on 7 Dember 2017, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision issued "Basel III: Finalising postcrisis reforms" confirming new measures designed to address deficiencies in the international regulatory capital framework following the global financial crisis; parily focused on addressing excessive variability in RWA, and therefore capital requirements, across banks.

In response, on 14 February 2018, APRA released a discussion paper titled "Discussion Paper – Revisions to the capital framework for authorised plassitaking institutions" (the "Paper") to commence its consultation on revisions to the capital framework. The Paper outlines the main components of the revisions APRA expects to make to the ris-based capital requirements for ADIs using the advanced tamed approach to credit,

market and operational risk. Amongst other things, the Paper seeks to address systemic concentration of ADI portfolios in residential mortgages and the proposals seek to target-high-eesidential mortgage lending, including investment and interest only loans. APRA has stated that it expects the overall impact of the proposals in the Paper to be a net increase in ADIs' RWA. APRA has noted that all else being equal, this will reduce an ADI's reported capital ratios, even though there is no change to the ADI's underlying risk profile or to the quantum of capital required to achieve capital ratios that are "unquestionably strong".

In August 2018, APRA released a second discussion paper titled "Discussion paper - Improving the transparency, comparability and flexibility of the ADI capital framework". APRA proposes two key options for achieving comparability, without changing the quantum or allocation of capital. The first option is similar to the current approach, with the dictional disclosure of APRA prescribed internationally comparable capital ratios, alongside the current APRA regulatory capital ratios. The second option will result in only one set of APRA regulatory capital ratios that are more internationally harmortismed the current approach. The latter will be achieved by removing certain aspects of APRA's relative conservatisms from an ADIs' capital ratio calculations and lifting minimum regulatory capital ratio requirements in tandem.

The outcome of these discussipapers, and the overall review of the capital framework, will determine whether APRA mayecalibrate the benchmark 10.5 per content applicable to major banks. However, APRA's expectation is that this will not necessitate additional capital raisings by ADIs nor alter the risk sensitivity of capital requirements.

APRA's intention is that the quantum of capital required to be held by ADIs under the revised capital framework can be accommodated within the amount of capital they would have ne**twed to** meet the benchmark CET1 ratio by January 2020.

Revisions to APRA's prudential standards will be subject to consultation before becoming effective from 1 January 2022.

Consistent with the Issuer's approach to capital management, the Issuer will aim to achieve "unquestionably strong" capital ratios through a range of initiatives, including organic capital generation, prudent capital management and announced asset sales.

In addition to the revisions to the capital framework, APRA has announced itsinterimplement other capital related FSI recommendations, including a framework for minimumabsorbing and recapitalisation capacity and the introduction of a minimum Leverage Ratio requirement for ADIs.

- In February 2018, APRA released a discussion of titled "Discussion Paper Leverage ratio requirements for authorised depending institutions". Following consultation, in November 2018, APRA announced that it would set a minimum Leverage Ratio requirement of 3.5 per cent. for internal ratings based approach ("IRB") ADIs, which will apply from 1 January 2022.
- In February 2018 the Australian Government passed legislation to give APRA additional powers for crisis resolution and resolution planning in relation to regulated entities. This incharde is incharded in APRA's prudential standards.
- On 8 November 2018, APRA released a discussion paper titled "Discussion Paper increasing the loss absorbing capacity of ADIs to supporterly resolution". The paper recommends that the Australian loss-absorbing regime be established under the existing capital framework, rather than by introducing new forms of loss-absorbing instruments. For-BIBs, APRA proposes an increase in theaT capital requirement of between four and five percentage points of RWA, with the requirements taking full effect from 2023. APRA further notes that it is anticipated that then kswould satisfy this requirement predominantly with additional Tier 2 capital. The Groupexpects that this requirement would result in a decrease in other forms of funding. It is expected that APRA will finalise its requirements in late 2019

The Reserve Bank of New Zealand is undertaking a comprehensive review of the capital: demework applying to registered banks in New Zealand. The latest consultation paper titled "Capital Review Paper 4: How much capital is enough?" released in December 2018 includes proposals to increase New Zealand IRB banks' RWA to 90 per cent. oftandardised RWA and to increase the minimum Tier 1 capital requirement for banks which are deemed systemically important to 16 per cent. of RWA (currently 8.5 per cent.). Consultation on the proposals is now closed with final policy decisions expected November 2019.

The Group's failure to meet the capital requirements discussed above, or any future proposed capital requirements if enacted, would adversely affect its financial condition.

Failure to hedge effectively against market risks (including advefteetuations in exchange rates) could negatively impact the Issuer's results of operations

The Issuer is exposed to market risks, including the potential for losses arising from adverse changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity and prices, credit spreads and implied volatility levels for assets and liabilities where options are transacted. This exposure is split between traded market risks, primarily through providing services to customers on a global basis, and marketisks, predominately interest rate risk in the Issuer's banking book.

A significant proportion of the Issuer's wholesale funding and some of its profits and investments are in currencies other than the Australian dollar, principally the U.S. dollar ham Eturo. This exposes the Issuer to exchange rate risk on these activities, as the Issuer's functional and financial reporting currency is the Australian dollar. These activities are hedged where appropriate, however there are also risks associated in the example, a hedge counterparty may default on its obligations to the Issuer. For a description of these specific risks, see note 9.00 the Issuer's audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year end 30 June 2018 There can be no assurance that the Issuer's exchange rate hedging arrangements or hedging policy will be sufficient or effective. The Issuer's results of operations may be adversely affected if its hedges are not effective to mitigate expensate risks, if the Issuer is inappropriately hedged or if a hedge provider defaults on its obligations under the Issuer's hedging agreements.

The Issuer's results could be adversely impacted by strategic risks

Strategic risk is the risk of material **we** destruction or less than planned value creation, due to an inadequate strategy. Examples of strategic risk include:

- suboptimal allocation and balance of the Issuer's resources to execute on its strategic objectives
- ineffective delivery of the Issu's strategy (for example due to operational complexity or the pace of execution being too fast for processes, people and systems to work as they need to, or too slow to keep pace with the changing environment); and
- the inability of the Issuer to keep pawith intensified competition from traditional and ntraditional financial services players across key value pools.

While the Board regularly monitors and discusses the Issuer's operating environment, strategic objectives and implementation of major stragic initiatives, there can be no assurance that such objectives and initiatives will be successful or that they will not adversely impact the Issuer.

The Issuer's performance and financial position may be adversely affected by acquisitions or divestments businesses

The Issuer may divest businesses or capabilities it considersone for wind down businesses or product areas. For example, the Issuer is currently undertaking a number of divestments and strategic reviews of certain businesses.

There is a sisk that the cost and pace of executing divestments, including as a result of external approvals, may cause the Issuer to experience disruptions in the divestment, transition or wind down process, including to existing businesses, which may cause customeremove their business from the Issuer or have other adverse impacts for the Issuer.

From time to time, the Issuer evaluates and undertakes acquisitions of other businesses. There is a risk that the Issuer may not achieve the expected synergies from acquisition, and may experience disruptions to its existing businesses due to difficulties in integrating the systems and processes of the acquired business. These may cause the Issuer to lose customers and market share, and incur financial losses.

Multiple divestments and/or acquisitions at the same time may exacerbate these risks.

The Issuercould be adversely impacted by investor activism

In recent times, the Issuer has been increasingly challenged on its strategy by shareholders, including institutional shareholders and special interest groups. Areas which have attracted investor activism in Australia include making socially responsible investment and avoiding financing or interacting with businesses that do not demonstrate responsible management for informmental and social issues. The prevalence of investor activism could adversely impact management's decision-making and implementation of the Issuer's initiatives, which in turn could adversely affect its financial results.

The Issuermay be adversly impacted by insurance risk

Events that the Issuer has provided insurance against may occur more frequently or with greater severity than anticipated, which could adversely impact the Issuer. In the Issuer's life insurance business, this risk arises primarily through mortality (death) and morbidity (illness and injury) related claims being greater than expected. In the Issuer's general insurance business, this risk is mainly driven by weather related incidents (such as storms, floods or bashfires) and other catastrophes

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A range of Notes may be issued under the ProgrammeunAber of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features:

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market wallube Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return.

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issue may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when itsofcbetrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the street interest rate as high as the interest rate on the street interest rate and may only be to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

If the Notesinclude a feature to convert the interest basism a fixed rate to a floating rate, or ve versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rateSuch a feature to covert the interest basis, and arroynversion of the interest basis may affect the secondary markiest, and the market value of such Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. Where the Notewert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Note help hotes convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rate those Notes and could affect the market value of an investment in the relevant Notes

Notes which are ssued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium to their principal amount test to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for more conventional interest earing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more continual interest bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Future discontinuance of LIBOR may adversely affect the value of Floating Rate Notes which reference LIBOR, and other regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of exidenced to or referencing such "benchmarks"

The sustainability of LIBOR has been questioned as a result of the absence of redutivem funderlying markets and possible disincentives (including possibly as a result of benchmark reformas) keet participants to continue contributing to such benchmar@n 27 July 2017, and in a subsequent speed to this Chief Executive on 12 July 2018, the FCA, which regulates LIBOR; on firmed that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021 (the FCA Announcements). The FCA Announcements indicated that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the continuation of the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed to the current basis cannot an account to the current basis cannot be current basis cannot be c

In addition, on 29 November 2018, the Bank of England thred FCA announced that, from January 2018, its Working Group on Sterling Riskree Reference Rates has been mandated with implementing ablassed transition from Sterling LIBOR to Sterling Overnight Index Average (ONIA") over the next four years across sterling bond, loan and derivative markets, so that SONIA is established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end of 2021 (see also "The market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference rate" below).

Separate workstreamære also underway in Europe to reform EURIBOR using a hybrid methodaltodyto provide a fallback by reference to a euro-fliste rate (based on a euro overnight-fissle rate asadjusted by a methodologyto create a term rate). On 13eptember 2018,he working group on euro risflice rates recommended Euro SheFlerm Rate (*STR") as the new risk free rate. *STR is expected to be published by the ECB by Otober 2019. In addition, on 2January 2019, the euro risk freete working group publishedsæt of guiding principles for fallback provisions in new euro denominated passiblucts (including bonds). The guiding principles indicate, among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts may increase the risk to the euro area financial system.

In addition to these announcement there have been other cent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform of interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", including LIBOR, EURIBOR and SONIA. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still itophermented. These reforms could include, among other things, reforms to other "benchmarks" similar to those reforms announced in relation to LIBOR, and any such reforms may cause such "benchmarks" to perform differently than in the past, to disappear exity, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Notes or any other Notes which are linked to or reference a "benchmark".

The Benchmarks Regulation was published in the Official Journal of the EU on 29 June 2016 and applies subject to certain transitional provision of benchmarks, the contribution oput data to abenchmark and the use of abenchmark within the EU. Among other things; (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non EU based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised open and (ii) preverst certain uses by EU supervised entities of "benchmarks" of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a materipairthon any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark", in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the "benchmark" are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other thingse haffecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the "benchmark".

More broadly, any of the international or national refo(insluding those announced in relation to LIBOR and the application of any imilar reforms to other "benchmarks") reforms the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks", could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations requirements. It is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR, EURIBONIA and such ther benchmark's will continue to be supported going forwards. This may cause LIBOR, EURIBONIA and such ther benchmark's to perform differently than they have done in the past, and may have other consequences.

predicted. Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on ce'hbeinchmark's (i) discouraging market participants from continuing toniardster or contribute to abenchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in beechmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a restult national or national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect value her and return on any Notes linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) uper than ark.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Investors should be aware that in the case of Floating Rate Notes, the Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published Benchmark, including that interest cases are such as LIBOR, EURIBOR SONIA or other relevant reference rates ceases to exist or be published or another Benchmark Event occurs. These fallback arrangements include the possibility that the Rate of Interest could be determined by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate and that an Adjustmenth of the relevant benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), together withhe making of certain Benchmark Amendments to the Conditions of such, Nutries in the case of any Alternative Rate, any Adjustment Spread unless formally recommended or provided for and any Benchmark Amendments shall be determined that Issuer (acting in good faith and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent Aktivis Adjustment Spread that is applied may not be effective and unless formally recommended or provided for such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate colling with the application of an Adjustment Spread) will still result in any Notes linked to or referencing benchmark performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they what if the relevant benchmark were to continue to apply in its current form.

In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last pregelditerest Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page or the initial Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes on the Ordernenencement Date. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate any determination that may need to be made by the Issured the involvement of any Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of and return on any such Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change totithe seexistence of any relevant reference rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, the Floating Rate Notes. Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to the relevant Floating Rate Notes.

The market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference rate

Where the applicable Final Terms for a seriof Floating Rate Notes specifies that the interest rate for such Floating Rate Notes will be determined by reference to SONIA, interest will be determined on the basis of Compounded Daily SONIA (as defined in the Conditions of the Notes). Compounded Daily Adiffers from Sterling LIBOR in a number of material respects, including (without limitation) that Compounded Daily SONIA is a backward booking, compounded, risfere overnight rate, whereas Sterling LIBOR is expressed on the basis of a forward booking term and includes a credit risk ement based on interest lending. As such, investors should be aware that Sterling LIBOR and SONIA may behave materially differently as interest reference rates for Floating Rate Notes. The use of SONIA as a reference for Eurobonds is nascent, and is subject to change and development, both in terms of the substance of the calculation and in the development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of debt securities referencing SONIA.

Accordingly, prospective investors in any Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA should be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference rate in the capital markets and

its adoption as an alternative to StegliLIBOR. For example, in the context of backwalkedsking SONIA rates, market participants and relevant working groups are, as at the date of this Programme Circular, currently assessing the differences between compounded rates and weighted averaged dates, groups are also exploring forwardlooking 'term' SONIA reference rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average SONIA rate over a designated term). The adoption of SONIA may also see component inputs into swap rates of other composite rates transferring from Sterling LIBOR or another reference rate to SONIA.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions in the case of FloatingteR Notes issued under this Programme for which Compounded Daily SONIA is specified as being applicable in the applicable Terms Furthermore, the Issuer may in the future issue Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA that differ materially in tethnes of interest determination provisions when compared with the provisions for such determination as set out in Condition 5(b)(5A) as contained in this Programme Circular. The nascent development of Compounded Daily SONIA as an interest reference rate for Ehreobond markets, as well as continued development of SONIA based rates for such market and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any SONIE Floating Rate Notes issued under the Programme from time to time.

Furthermore, interest on Floating Rate Notes which reference Compounded Daily SONIA is only capable of being determined at the end of the relevant Observation Period (ascidential Condition 5(b)(5A)) and immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Floating Rate Notes which reference Compounded Daily SONIA to estimate reliably the amount of interest which will be payable on such Floating Rate Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Floating Rate Notes without changes to their IT systems, both of which factors could adversely impact the liquidity of such Floating Rate Notes. Further, in contrast to Stept LIBOR-based Floating Rate Notes, if Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA become due and payable as a result of an event of default under Condition 11, or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment Date, rathe of interest payable in respect of such Floating Rate Notes shall only be determined immediately prior to the date on which the Floating Rate Notes become due and payable.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of SONIA references in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of SONIA reference rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposaFlorating RateNotes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA.

Investors should carefully condair these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any suchFloating RateNotes.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally:

Investments in Notes are not depositibilities or protected accounts under the Banking Act

Investments in Notes are an investment in the Issuer and may be affected by director protected to according to the Issuer. Notes are not deposit liabilities or protected to according the Banking Act. Therefore, Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any Australian government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction.

Insolvency laws

In the event that the Issuer becomes insolvent, insolvencedings in respect of the Issuer will be governed by Australian law. Potential investors should be aware that Australian insolvency laws are different from the insolvency laws in other jurisdictions. In particular, the voluntary administration observed the

Corporations Act, which provides for the potentiab**rg**anisation of an insolvent company, differs significantly from similar provisions under the insolvency laws of other jurisdictions.

Noteholders' ability to enforce certain rights in connection with the Notes may be limited or affected by reforms to Australian insolvency legislation relating to "ipso facto" rights.

On 18 September 2017 the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Enterprise Incentives No. 2) Act 2017 (the "Treasury Act") received Royal Assent and was enacted. The Treasury Act contains reforms to Australian insolvency laws. Under the Treasury Act, any right under a contract, agreement or arrangement (such as a right entitling a creditor to terminate a contract or to accelerate a praymeter a contract) arising merely because a company, among other circumstances, is under administration, has appointed a managing controller or is the subject of an application under section 411 of the Corporations Act (i.e. "ipso facto rights"), will not be enforceable during a prescribed moratorium period.

The Treasury Actook effect on 1 July 2018 anapplies ipso facto rights arising under contracts, agreements or arrangements entered into at or after that date, subject to certain exclusions 2018, the Australian Government (Stay on Enforcing Certain Rights) Regulations 2018 (the "Regulations") which sets out the types of contracts that will be excluded from the operation of the stay on the enforcement of ipso facto rights. The draft Regulations indicate that a contract, agreement or arrangement under which a company incorporated in Australia issues or may issue securities such as the Notes may be exempt from the moratorium.

The Regulations provide alth a contract, agreement or arrangement that is, or governs securities, financial products, bonds or promissory notes will be exempt from the moratorium. Furthermore, a contract, agreement or arrangement under which a party is or may be liable to substoriber to procure subscribers for, securities, financial products, bonds or promissory notes is also excluded from the stay. Accordingly, the Regulations should exclude the Notes and certain other arrangements under the Programme from the stay. Act and the Regulations are new to the insolvency regime in Australia, they have not been the subject of judicial interpretation. If the Regulations are determined not to exclude the Notes or any other arrangements relating to the Programme, from the operation under the exclusions mentioned above or any other exclusion under the Regulations, this may render unenforceable in Australia provisions of the Notes or the Programme conditioned solely on the occurrence of events giving rise to ipso fagitations.

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors.

The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interestsgenerally including modifications of the Conditions hese provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majoritid therefore there is no guarantee that the resolutions approved will be consistent with the interests and/or the votes cast by each Noteholder.

Substitution of the Issuer

If the conditions set out in the Conditions of the Notes are met, the Issuewithaut the consent or sanction of the Noteholders, substitute in its place a new issuer as debtor in respect of all obligations arising under or in connection with the Notes (the "Substituted Company"). In that case, the Noteholders will also assume the insolvency risk with regard to the Substituted Company.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in Enlawslor administrative practice

The Conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this ProGizonlane No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Programme CircAlbay such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notestfected by it.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are sectionally required to be issued

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denotitions consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integrales notified be minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would not be able to sellet memainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which he denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The Notes will not have any covenant restricting the incurrence of liens for the benefit of other external indebtedness of the suer

As at the date of this Programme Circular, a significant amount of the Issuer's long term indebtedness has the benefit of a covenant that the Issuer will not create or have outstanding any mortgage, pledge or other charge, upon or with respect to the programme or future assets or revenues to secure repayment of, or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of, any "external indebtedness" (as defined below) without according the same to the holders of that long term indebtedness. This not been given for the benefit of holders of any Notes issued under the Programme the terms and conditions of which are contained in the Programme Circular dated 13 October 2011 or any Programme Circular published by the Issuer after this deathers to given for the benefit of the holders of any Notes, the terms and conditions of which are those contained in this Programme Circular.

As used in the previous paragraph, "external indebtedness" means any obligation for the repayment of borrowed money in the form of or represented by bonds, notes, debentures or other securities:

- (a) which are initially offered outside the Commonwealth of Australia with the consent of the Issuer in an amount exceeding 50 per cent. of the aggregate nominal and the consent of the Issuer in an amount exceeding 50 per cent.
- (b) which are, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or ordinarily traded on any stock exchange or on any recognised securities market.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material markets; sincluding liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could **selNotes**

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If from backet Notesdoes develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide me with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market at prices higher than the relevant investor's initial investment. Therefore, in establishing their investment strategy, investors should ensure that the term o'Notes is in line with their future liquidity requirements. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been estructure the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Each of the Issuer and any Dealer may, but isnot obliged to, at any time purchase Notes at any price in the open market or by tender or private treaty. To the extent that an issue of Notes becomes illiquid, an investor may have to hold the relevant Notes until maturity before it is able to realisalve.

Investors may receive less in the secondary market than their initial investment

If it is possible to sell Notes, they would be sold for the prevailing bid price in the market and may be subject to a transaction fee. The prevailing bid price may **thect**ed by several factors including prevailing interest rates at the time of sale, the time left before the stated maturity date and the creditworthiness of the Issuer. It is therefore possible that an investor selling Notes in the secondary market **creave** reprice less than that investor's initial investment in the relevant Notes.

Impact of implicit fees on thesue/Offer Priceof the Notes

Investors should note that implicit fees (e.g. placement fees, direction fees, structuring fees) may be a comporent of the Issue/Offer Price of Notes, but such fees will not be taken into account for the purposes of determining the price of such Notes in the secondary market.

The Issuer will specify in the applicable Final Terms, the type and amount of any infredistiwhich are applicable from time to time.

Investors should also take into consideration that if Notes are sold on the secondary market immediately following the offer period relating to such Notes, the implicit fees included in the Issue/Offer Princitiation subscription for such Notes will be deducted from the price at which such Notes may be sold in the secondary market.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, that investor will be exposed to movements iexchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding. In addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on theteroin the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may import or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principayable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the lessuer to make payments in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

The above risks may be increased if any Specified Currency and/or an Investor's Currency is the currency of an emerging market jurisdiction.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increasæabove the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in those Notes

One or more independent crediting agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes edit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating agency at a (impolitimation) as a result of any change in rating methodology) addition actual or anticipated changes in the tratings of the Notes will generally affect any trading for, or trading value of, the Notes.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings samed by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered

under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspendited to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances such general restriction livialso apply in the case of credit ratings issued by neture of training agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU registered credit rating agency or the relevant-to-the distriction agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstantes list of registered and certified rating agencies published by ESMA item website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agencypathdication of the updated ESMA list. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Programme Circular.

Changes in any applicable tax law or practice may have an adverse effect on a Noteholder

Any relevant tax law or practice applicable as at the date of this Programme Circular and/or the date of purchase or subscription of any Notes may change at any time (including during any subscription period or the term of any Notes). Any such change may be an adverse effect on a Noteholder, including that Notes may be redeemed before their due date, their liquidity may decrease and/or the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of the tax treatment of the location of the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise expessite by the location of th

Potential conflicts of interest

Where the Calculation Agent is an affiliate of the Issuer, potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent and Noteholders, including with respect to certain determinations and endered the Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Notes that may influence the amount receivable on redemption of the Notes.

Risks relating to Notes denominated in Renminbi

Set out below is a description of the principal risks which may be releavement investor in Notes denominated in Renminbi ("Renminbi Notes"):

Renminbi is not completely freely convertible, there are still significant restrictions on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC and the liquidity of investments in Renminbi Notes is subject to such restrictions

Renminbi is notcompletelyfreely convertible as of the date of this Programme Circular. The government of the PRC (the "PRC Government") continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies despite significant reduction in the control by the PRC Government in recent years over trade transactions involving the import and export of goods and services, as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions. These transactions are known assinguaccount items. Participating banks in Hong Kong and a number of other jurisdictions have been permitted to engage in the settlement of current account trade transactions in Renminolinowever, remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC for the settlement, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on caseby-case basis and is subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC for settlement of capital account items are (as of the date of this Programme Circular being developed.

Although Renminbiwasadded to the Special Drawing Rights basifecturrencies, in addition to the U.S. dollar, euro, Yen and Sterling, created by the International Monetary Fundan international reserve asise 2016 and policies furtherimproving accessibility to Renminbi to settle crossorder transactions in foreign currencies were implemented by The People's Bank of China (the "PBoC") in 2018, there is no assurance thate PRC Government will liberalise control over crossorder remittance of Renminbi ithe future, or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated the future that have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC in Reminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under Renminbi Notes.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of Renminbi Notes and the Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service such Renminbi Notes

As a result of the restrictions imposed by the PRC Government on-borrodser Renminbi fund flows, the availability of Renminbi outside the PRC is limited.

Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity sufrport the PBoC. The relevant RMB Clearing Bank only has access to onshore liquidity support from the PBoC for the purpose of settling open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions. The relevant RMB Clearing Bank is not obliged to settle for participating banks any open positions resulting frother foreign exchange transactions or conversion servicles such cases the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from outside the PRC tsettle such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC regulations will not be prograded or the Settlement Agreement will not be terminated or amended so as to have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside the PRC. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of investments in the Renminbi Notes. To the extent that the Issuer is required to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the Renminbi Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Although the Issuer's primary obligation is to make all payments with respect to Renminbi Notes in Renminbi, where a Renminbi Currency Event is specifized paplicable the applicable Final Terms, in the event that the Issuer determines, while acting in good faith that confidence Inconvertibility, RMB Non Transferability or RMB Illiquidity (each as defined in Condition(1)) has occurred as a result of which Issuer is unable to make any payment in respect of the Renminbi Note in Renminbi, the terms of such Renminbi Noteswill permit the Issuer to make payment in U.S. dollams such other currency as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) converted using the Spot Rate(as defined in Condition(1)) for the relevant Determination Dateall as provided in Condition(1). The value of these Renminbi payments in U.S. dollar terms may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the market.

An investment in Renminbi Notes is subject to exchange rate risks

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and othergforeirrencies fluctuates from time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. On 11 December 2015, the China Foreign Exchange Trade System (ChreTS), a subinstitutional organisation of the PBoC, published the CFETS Renminbi exchange rate index for the first time, which weighs the Renminbi based upon 13 currencies, to guide the market in order to measure the Renminbi exchange rate. Such change anothers that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of Renminbi against other currencies. All payments of interest and principal with respect to Renminbi Notes will be made in Renminbi unless a RMB Currency Event is specified being applicable to the applicable Final Terms, and a RMB Currency Event occurs, in which case payment will be made in U.S. dollar or other foreign currency terms may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of the Renminbi depreciates against the U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currencies, then the value of investor's investment in Renminbi Notes in terms of the U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currency will decline.

An investment in fixed rate Renminbi Notes is subject to interest rate risks

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised its regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility a Renminbi Note carries a fixed interest rate, then the trading price of such Renminbi Notes will vary with fluctuations in Renminbi interest rates. If an investor in Renminbi Notes tries to sell such Renminbi Notes tries tries to sell such Renminbi Notes tries tr

Payments in respect of Renminbi Notes will be made to investors in the manner specified in the Conditions.

Investors might be required to provideertification and other information (including Renminaccount information) in order to be allowed to receive payments in Renminbi in accordance with the Renminbi clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Korraguch other RMB Settlement Centre(s) as may be specified in the applicable in a Terms Except in the limited circumstances stipulated in Condition all payments to investors in respect Refinminbi Notes will be made solely(i) for so long as the Renminbi Notes are represented by Global Note held with the common depositary, for Euroclear and Clears treasem, bourg (each as defined in the "Form of the Notes"), with a subcustodian for CMU or any alternative clearing system, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong uch other RMB Settlement Centrei(s) accordance with prevailing Euroclear and Clears treasmembour grules and procedures or those of the CMU or such alternative clearing system, or (ii) for sogless such Renminbi Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong uch other RMB Settlement Centrei(s) accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment dethe account in the PRC).

There might be PRC tax consequences with respect to investment in the Renminbi Notes

In considering whether to invest in RentbiinNotes, investors should consult their individual abavisers with regard to the application of PRC tax laws, as well as any tax consequences arising underothen wither tax jurisdictions. The value of Noteholder's investment in Renminbi Notes might be materially and adversely affected if the Noteholder is required to pay PRC tax with respect to acquiring, holdispossing of and receiving payments under those Renminbi Notes.

Risks related to Green Bonds, Climate Bonds, Sustainable Bonds or any other equivalent or similarly titled Notes

The application of the net proceeds of otes described as "Green Bonds", "Climate Bonds", "Sustainable Bonds" or any equivalent or similar title may not meet investor expectations or be suitable for an invest investment criteria

In connection with any issue of Notes, it may sheated in "Reasons for the Offer" in Part B of the applicable Final Termsthat the intention of the Issuer, is mong other thing so allocate the net proceeds of the issuance of the Notes to the financing one or more eligible projects or assets ligible Assets and each is "Eligible Asset") permitted by any standard developed for the certification of certain eligible boands Green Bonds", "Climate Bonds", "Sustainable Bonds" or any equivalent or similar title Prospective investors in any such Notes should have regard to the information in "Reasons for the Offer" regarding the use of the net proceeds of such Notes and must determine for themselves the relevance of such interior for the purpose of any investment in such Notestogether with any other investigation such investor deems necessary. Will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply.

There is currently no clear definition (legal, notice) or otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes, or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular promjects set to be considered, "green", "climate", "sustainable" or other equivalently labelled project coasset and no assurance can be given that such a clear definition or consensus will develop over time or that any prevailing market consensus will not significantly change. Accordingly, no assurance is or can be given to investors the logistic Asset or use of the net proceeds of the issuance of any Notes to finance logistic Asset will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green", "climate", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled objectives of that

any adverse environmentand/or otherimpacts will not occur during the implementation, of as a result of any use of the net proceeds of the Notes to finamoexpligible Asset

No assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any report, assessment, opinion or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may or may not be made available in connection with the issue of any Nitheany such title or statedtention as to the use of the net processof any such issuance in particulars to the fulfillment of any ligible Assets of any environmental, sustainability and/or other critena. assurance can also be given that any such criteria will not be amended, updated, replaced eisseed with the result that any such report, assessment, opinion or certification may be withdrawn any such report, assessment, opinion or certification is not, nor shall be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of the sogramme Circular and no responsibility is assumed by the Issuer for any such report, assessment, opinion or certification

Any such report, assessment, opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any other person to buyoselold any such Notes. Any such report, assessment, opinion or certification is only current as of the date it was issued. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such report, assessment, opinion or certification and/orthation contained therein and/or the provider of such report, assessment, opinion or certification for the purpose of any investment in such Notes. Currently, the providers of such reports, assessments, opinions and certifications are not subject to yesight or regulatory or other regime.

In the event that any Notes are listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated "green", "climate", "environmental", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled segment of any stock exchange or securiti market (whether or not regulated), are included in any dedicated "green", "environmental", "sustainable" or other equivalently abelled index no representation or assurance is given by the Issuer, the Dealers or any other person that such listing cardmission satisfies, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply. Furthermore, the criteriarity such listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities market to anathrealso the criteria for inclusion in such index may vary from one index to another representation or assurance also given or made by thest uer, the Dealers or any other person that any such listing or admission to trading will be obtained in respect of any such Notes or, if obtained, that any such listing or admission to trading will be maintained during there of the Notes.

While it is the intention of the Issuer respectof any Noteswith any such title ostated intention as to the use of the net proceeds of any such issualtocapply the net proceeds and obtain and pulatishrelevant reports, assessents, opinions and certifications in, or substantially in, the manner described in "Reasons for the Offer" in Part B of the applicable Final Termsbere can be no assurance that the Issuer will be able to denthris such state intention as to the seof proceeds oto obtain and publish any such reports, assessments, opinions and certifications will not constitute any form of undertaking respect of the Notesor otherwiseand any failure to apply the net proceeds in the manner so described or abtainablish any such reports, assessments, opinions and certifications will not constitute Event of Default (as defined in Condition 11) under the relevant Notes oany other default or breach by the Issuer of any undertaking or obligation in connection the Notes ogive rise to any other claim of a holder of such Notes against the Issuer

Any report, assessment, opinion or certificationnespect of any such Notes may be withdrawn at any time and there can be no assurance that stephort, assessent, opinion or certificationwill not be withdrawn. There can further be no assurance that artificiable Assess will be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results or outcome (whether or not related to the environment) as on on anticipated by the Issuer.

The withdrawal of any report, assessment, opinion or certification as described above, or any such report, assessment, opinion or certification or otherwise indicating that the Issuer is nown may not be complying in whole or in part with any matters for which such report, assessment, opinion or certification is being provided and/or any such Notes no longer being listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange or securities market assescribed above may have a material adverse effect on the value of Notes and/or result in adverse conseques for certain investors with mandate to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose

Documents Incorporated by Reference

The following documents which have been previously published and have been filed wiffCA shall be incorporated in and form part of this Programme Circular:

- a) the audited consolidated and nonsolidated annual financial statements and auditors' reports for the financial years ended 30 Ju2018 (set out on paget25 to 263 (inclusive) and page265 to 275 (inclusive) of the 2018 annual report of the Issue "Annual Report 2018")) and 30 June 2017 (set out on page36 to 192 (inclusive) and paget94 and 201 of the 2017 annual report of the Issue (the "Annual Report 2017");
- b) the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements (including the auditor's review report thereon) as at and for the half year ended 31 Decem**261**8 set out on page**3**8 to 122 (inclusive) and page124 of the Profit Announcement of the Issuer, date debruary 2019 (the "Profit Announcement");
- c) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the Programme Circulars prepared by ASB Finance Limited, ASB Bank Limited("ASB") and the Issuer date26 September 2001, pages 17 to 36 (inclusive); 26 September 2002, pages 17 to 37 (inclusive); 26 September 2003, pages 17 to 37 (inclusive); 1 June 2004, pages 18 to 38 (inclusive); 21 October 2004, pages 20 to 43 (inclusive); 2 March 2005, pages 20 to 43 (inclusive); 14 October 2005, pages 31 to 54 (inclusive); 13 October 2006, pages 32 to 56 (inclusive); 15 October 2007, pages 47 to 71 (inclusive); 16 October 2008, pages 50 to 75 (inclusive); 16 October 2009, pages 62 to 87 (inclusive); 14 October 2019, pages 58 to 92 (inclusive), 13 October 2011, pages 62 to 97 (inclusive) and 20 June 2012, pages 65 to 100 (inclusive); and
- d) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the Programme Circulars prepared by the Issuer dated 19 June 2013, pages 59 to (!Aclusive), 24 June 2014, pages 61 to 86 (inclusive) June 2015, pages 36 to 64 (inclusive) 24 June 2016, pages to 62 (inclusive), 3 July 2017, pages 33 to 61 (inclusive) 3 July 2018, pages 38 to 70 (inclusive)

Following the publication of tsi Programme Circular a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and approved by the FCA in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference the extent applicable (whether expressly by implication or otherwise) be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Programme Circular or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Programme Circular by way of a supplement prepared in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Programme Circular.

Copies of documents incorporated by referenchains Programme Circular will be available from the branch in London of Commonwealth Bank of Australia and from the London office of Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch specified at the end of this Programme Circular. In addition, copies of this Programma Circular by reference herein are available on the London Stock Exchange's website at http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/mankwets/markenewshome.html.

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in thembots incorporated by reference in this Programme Circular shall not form part of this Programme Circular.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either (i) not considered by the Issuer to be relevant for prospective investors time Notes to be issued under the Programme or (ii) covered elsewhere in this Programme Circular.

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Programme Circular which capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes issued by it, prepare a supplement to this Programme Circular or publish a new Programme Circular for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. The Issuer has undertaken to the Dealers ogramme Agreement (as defined in "Subscription and Sallethat it will comply with section 87G of the FSMA.

Form of the Notes

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form ("Bearer Notes"), with or without interest coupons attached, or registered form ("Registered Notes"), without interest coupons attached. Notes will be issued outside the United States in reliance the exemption from registration provided Regulation S under the Securities Act "Regulation S").

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be represented by one or more temporary global Notes in bearer form (a "Temporary Bearer Global Note") without Coupons, or Talons (each as defined in "Conditions of the Notes") which will be deposited on the issue date with either (i) a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or (ii) a sub-custodian for the Hong Kong Monetary Authority ("HKMA") as operator of the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service (the "CMU Service").

If an interest payment date for any Bearer Notes occurs whilst such Notes are represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, the relateind terest payment will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note only to the extent that certification of nor U.S. beneficial ownership (in the form set out in the moreover Bearer Global Note) has been received by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any entity appointed in relation to the relevant Notes as the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent as specified in the applicable Final Terms (the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent").

On or after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is 40 days after the date on which the Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued, provided that certification of -Nu6. beneficial ownership has been received, interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchanged either for (i) interests in a permanent global Note in bearer form (a "Permanent Bearer Global Note" and, together with a Temporary Bearer Global Note, a "Bearer Global Note") or (ii), at the option of the Issuer, Notes in definitive bearer form. The CMU Service may require that any such exchange for a Permanent Bearer Global Note is made in whole and not in part and in such event, no such exchange will be effected until all relevant account holders (as set out in a CMU Instruitient Pos Report (as defined in the rules of the CMU Service (the "CMU Rules")) or any other relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU Service) have so certified. No payments of interest will be made on a Temporary Bearerton Note after the Exchange Date.

Payments of principal, premium (if any) or interest (if any) on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be made through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of the permanent global Note without any requirement for certification of-bb6. beneficial ownership. In respect of a Bearer Global Note held through the CMU Service, any payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts shall be made to the person(vs) withose account(s) interests in the relevant Bearer Global Note are credited (as set out in a CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU Service) and save in the case of paint alent, no presentation of the relevant Bearer Global Note shall be required for such purpose.

The applicable Final Terms will specify whether a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable in whole for securityprinted definitive Bearer Notes updhe occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that (i) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the CMU Service have been closed fo business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available or (ii) the Issuer have will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note to be in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event (a) in the case of Notes held by a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and/or Clearstreamenthours (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global Note) and/or (b) in the case of Notes

held through the CMU Service, the relevant accountholders therein, may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requestig exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (ii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange sccur not later than 60 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent. At present, neither Euroclear nor Clearstream, Luxembourg regard Notes Infogliobas fungible with Notes in definitive form. Temporary Bearer Global Notes and Permanent Bearer Global Notes and definitive Bearer Notes will be issued by the Principal Paying Agent acting on behalf of the Issuer.

The following legend will appear orll Bearer Notes and Coupons: "Any United States person (as defined in the United States Internal Revenue Code) who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws including the limitations provided in sections and 1287(a) of such Code."

The exchange of a Permanent Bearer Global Note for definitive Bearer Notes upon notice from Euroclear and/or ClearstreamLuxembourg(acting on the instructions of any holder) or at any time at the request of the Issuer should not be expressed to be applicable in the applicable Final Tethes Bearer Notes are issued with a minimum Specified Denomination such as €100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount such as €1,000 (or its equivalent in another currency). Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for definitive Bearer Notes.

Registered Notes

Registered Notes will initially be represented by a global note in registered form (a "Registered Global Note" and, together with a Bearer Global Note, a "Global Note"). Registered Global Notes will be deposited with either (i) a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, inhorater and will be registered in the name of its nominee or (ii) a subustodian for the HKMA as operator of the CMU Service. Persons holding beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under the described below, to receive physical delivery of definitive Registered Notes.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the personns on the Register (as defined in Condition) as the registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the Issuer, any Paying Agent or the Registrar will have any responsibility or liability for any spect of the records relating to or payments or deliveries made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Paymentsof principal, interest or any other amount in respect of the definitive Registered Notes will, in the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as defined in Condition (b)) immediately preceding the due date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.

Interests in a Registered Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Registered Note without interest coupons or talons attached only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Confiditionan Exchange Event occurs. Inethevent of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, (a) in the case of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any person acting on their to the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Registered Globate) and/or (b) in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the relevant accountholders therein, may give notice to the Registrar or, as the case may be, the display after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar or, as the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent.

Clearing Systems

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Conditions of the Notes"), the Principal Paying Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with existing Tranche of Notes at a point after the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further

Tranche shall be assigned a common code, ISIN and, where applies and Sen, CFI and CMU instrument number which are different from the commonder ISIN, FISN, CFI and CMU instrument number (as applicable) assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall not be prior to the expiry of the distribution one period (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

For so long as any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Serviceach person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the casternanifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, any Paying Agent and any Transfer Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of Notes for all purposes other than with respect to payments onter which purpose the bearer of the relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent as the holder of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the terms "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Notes held in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/orQMU Service and which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable, and payment in respect of them will only be made, in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Serthiee; ase may be. Notwithstanding the above, if a Note is held through the CMU Service, any payment that is made in respect of such Note shall be made at the direction of the bearer or the registered holder to the person(s) for whose account(s) interesin such Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in accordance with the CMU Rules at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevantificration by the CMU Service (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the castest mani error) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that payment under such Note.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemtedinclude a reference to any additional or alternative clearance system agreed between the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent and the relevant Dealer.

A Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Conditions and circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and the Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Conditions of such Notes and paymeont timefull amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Global Note then the Global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on such day. At the same time holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts writeuroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg on and subject to the deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated 3 July 2019 and executed by the Issuer.

Applicable Final Terms

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Arelae ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) picective 2014/65/EU as amended; MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended supersed) where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as amendessupersed) the "Prospectus Directive"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as amended the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes have brothed in the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II")/MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(C) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE – In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as amended) an define ities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018, the Issuer has determined the classification of the Notes to be capital markets products other than prescribed capital kets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Specified Investment Products defined in the ingapore Monetary Authority (the MAS") Notice SFA 04N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and the MAS Notice FAAN16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products

[Date]

Commonwealth Bank of Australia ABN 48 123 123 124

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): MSFSBD3ON1GSN7O6C537

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the U.S.\$70,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Part A – Contractual Terms

[Terms used herein shall be deemed toolbfined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Programme Circular dated July 2019 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [] [and []] which [together]

¹ Legend to be included onofit of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable"

restriction should be specified to be "Applicable".

Legend to be included front of the Final Terms if one or more of the Managers/Dealers in relation to the Notes is a MiFID regulated entity.

³ Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes sol**Sintg**apore do not constitute prescribed capital markets products as definedunder the CMP Regulations 2018.

constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Dinaerivarogramme Circular"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Programme Circular. Full information on the Issuer andhe offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Programme Circular. The Programme Circular has been published on [the website of the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/markets/marketsewshome.htm].]

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Programme Circular dated [] which are incrporated by reference into the Programme Circular dated July 2019. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Programme Circular dated July 2019 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [] [and []] which [together] constitute[s] a Programme Circular for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (the "Programme Circular"), including the Conditions incorporated by referenice the Programme Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Programme Circular. The Programme Circular has been published on [the website of the Regular Service operated by the London Stock Exchange atttp://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/mankers/marketnews home.htm].]

home.htm].]				
1.	Issu	er:	С	ommonwealth Bank of Australia
2.	(i)	Series of which Notes are to be treated forming part:	[1
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[1
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:] (Is: int pa	ne Notes will be consolidated and form a Series with the Issue Date/le date that is 40 days after the sue Date/exchange of the Tempora Global Note for the terests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred that aragraph 20 below, which is expected to occur or bout []][Not Applicable]
3.	Spe	cified Currency or Currencies:	[1
4.	Agg	regate Nominal Amount:		
	(i)	Series:	[1
	(ii)	Tranche:	[1
5.	Issu	e Price:	[[p] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amou lus accrued interest from []]
6.	(i)	Specified Denominations:	[1
	(ii)	Calculation Amount (in relation to calculation of interestin Notes in global form see Conditions)	[1
7.	(i)	Issue Date:	[1
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[[]/Issue Dat ̞{ Not Applicable]
8.	Mat	urity Date:	[]/[Interest Payment ate falling in or nearest to]
9.	Inte	rest Basis:] per cent. Fixed Rate] [] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR/Compounded Daily DNIA]] +/- [] per cent. Floating Rate] ero Coupon]

			(see paragraph 8]/[14]/[15] below)
10.	Red	empti o /Payment Basis:	[Subject to any purchase and cancellation or expedemption, the Notes will be redeemed on Maturity Date at [] per cent. of their nomina amount]
11.	Cha	nge of Interest Basis:	[][Not Applicable]
12.	Put/	Call Options:	[Not Applicable] [Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [(see paragraph[6]/[17] below)]
PRC	VISI	ONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE
13.	Fixe	d Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applcable]
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/ser annually/quarterly] in arrear]
	(ii)	(A) Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year up to and including the Maturity Da
		(B) Fixed Interest Periods:	[Adjusted/Unadjusted]
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s)for Notes in definitive form (and in relation to Notes i global form see Conditions)	[[] per [] Calculation Amount/Not Applicable]
	(iv)	Business Day Convention:	[Following Business Day Convention/Modifie Following Business Day Convention/Precedir Business Day
	(v)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[[]/Not Applicable]
	(vi)	Calculation to be on a Calculation Amou Basis:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	(vii)		[[] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] []]/[Not Applicable]
	(viii)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/360] [360/360][Bond Basis] [30E/360][Eurobond Basis] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360 (Fixed)][30/360, unadjusted] [30E/360 (ISDA)]
	(ix)	Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year I Not Applicable]
14.	Floa	ting Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	(i)	Specified Period(s)/Sepcified Interest Payment Date(s):	[]
	(ii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business D Convention/Modified Following Business Da Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention][l Applicable]

(iii)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[Not Applicable/[]]
(iv)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest au Interest Amount are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]
(v)	Calculation to be on a Calculation Amou Basis:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(vi)	Party responsible for determing the Rate of Interest and/or calculatingthe Interest Amount (if not the Principal Paying Agent)	[] (the "Calculation Agent)
(vii)	Screen Rate Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	- Reference Rate:	[[] month [LIBOR/EURIBORCompounded Daily SONIA]]
	Interest Determination Date(s):	[]/[Second London business day prior to the start each Floating Interest Period]/[First day of each Floating Interest Period]/[Second day on which TARGET2 is open prior to the start of each Floating Interest Period]/[Fifth London business day prior to the end of each Floating Interest Period]
	Relevant Screen Page:	[]
	 Observation LoolBackPeriod: 	[[[] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]
(viii)	ISDA Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	FloatingRate Option:	[]
	 Designated Maturity: 	[]
	- Reset Date:	[]
(ix)	Linear Interpolation:	[Not Applicable/Applicable- the Rate of Interest fo the [long/short] [first/last] Floating Interest Period sh be calculated using Linear Interpolation]
(x)	Margin(s):	[+/-][] per cent. per annum
(xi)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(xii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(xiii)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/360] [30/360 (Floating)][360/360][Bond Basis] [30E/360][Eurobond Basis] [30/360 (Fixed)][30/360, unadjusted] [30E/360 (ISDA)]
Zero	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(i)	Accrual Method:	[Linear Accrual/Compounding Accrual]
(ii)	Accrual Yield:	[] per cent. per annum

Only include for Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified as being "Compounded Daily SONIA".

15.

	(iii)	Calculation to be on £alculation Amount Basis	[1
	(iv)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Zer Coupon Notes:	[30 [30 [Ac	nditions5(d) and6(e) apply 0/360 (Fixed)] 0/360, unadjusted] ctual/360] ctual/365 (Fixed)]
PR(VIS	IONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION		
16.	Issu	er Call:	[Ap	pplicable/Not Applicable]
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount
	(iii)	If redeemable impart:		
		(a) Minimum Redemption Amount:	[1
		(b) Maximum Redemption Amount:	[]
	(iv)	Notice period:	[] Business Days
17.	Inve	estor Put:	[Ap	pplicable/Not Applicable]
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount
	(iii)	Notice period:	[] Business Days
18.	Fina	al Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount]
19.		emption for taxation reasons or on event] per Calculation Amount/Condition6(f) shall ply]
GEI	NER A	AL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE 1	TO	ES
20.				earer Notes: mporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable formanent Bearer Global Note which is exchange; Definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]
			-	emporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable finitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]
			exc inst acc	otes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium cept to a clearing system, a depository or of titution for the purpose of their immobilisation for the article 4 of the Belgian Law of cember 200\$
			[Re	egistered Notes: egistered Global Note registered in the name cominee for a common depositary for Euroclear actives arstream, Luxembourg]
			[Re	egistered Global Note held through th@MU

42

⁵ Only include for Notes that are to be offerin Belgium

Service]]

21. Payment Business Day Convention

[Following Business Day Convention/Modifie

Following Business Day Convention]

22. Additional Financial Centre(s):

[Not Applicable/[]]

23. Talons for future Coupons to be attached [Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payme Definitive Notes:

Talons may be required if, on exchange into definit

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payme Talons may be required if, on exchange into definit form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to made/No.]

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO RMB NOTES

24. RMB Currency Event: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

25. Spot Rate (if different from that set out in [[]/Not Applicable] Condition7(I)):

26. Party responsible for calculating the Spot Rate [[] (the "RMB Calculation Agent")]

27. Relevant Currency (if different from that i [[]/Not Applicable] Condition 7(I)):

28. RMB Settlement Centre(s): [[]/Not Applicable]

DISTRIBUTION

29. Additional selling restrictions:

[Not Applicable]/[Republic of Korea

The Notes have not been and whilet be registered with the Financial Services Commission of Korea public offering in Korea under the Financial Investment Services and Capital Markets Act ("FSCMA").

The Notes may not be offered, sold and delive directly or indirectly, or offeed or sold to any perso for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Kore or to any resident of Korea except pursuant to applicable laws and regulations of Korea, including FSCMA, the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law a the decrees andegulations thereunder. Furthermor the Notes may not be resold to Korean residents ur the purchaser of the Notes complies with all applica regulatory requirements (including but not limited government reporting requirements under the Fore Exchange Transaction Law and its subordinate dec and regulations) in connection with the purchase of Notes. The Aggregate Nominal Amount of the No divided by the Specified Denomination, and t number of Notes offered in Korea or to a resident Korea, shall in each case be less than 50.

By purchasing the Notes, each Noteholder will deemed to represent, warrant and agree that for period of one year from the Issue Date thereof, Notes may not be subdivided into smaller denominations than the Specified Denomination]. $^6/[OBU]$

43

_

⁶ Only includefor Notes sold in the Republic of Korea.

The following terms restricting the Notes from bein held by or for the benefit of an Australian Tax Resider are necessary so that the Notes can be booked through the Issuer's Offshore Business Unit (the "OBU"). To OBU is a department within the Issuer's Australia business. The OBU is not a separate branch or I entity, and operates from Australia and is register and, as part of the Issuer, is regulated under Australiaw.

By purchasing the Notes,ach Noteholder will be deemed to represent, warrantd agreethat it is not, nor is it acquiring, holdingmanaging or disposing o the Notes for the benefibf, an Australian Tax Resident. Furthereach Noteholder will be deemed agreethat it will not offer, sell or deliver the Notes to an Australian Tax Resident.

For the purposes of the Notes, "Australian T Resident" means any party that is: (a) a Residen Australia for Australian taxation purposes (othlean transactions undertaken in carrying on basiness outside Australia at or through a permane establishment), or (b) a nonesident of Australia for Australian taxation purposes whose involvementhing occurred transaction through а establishmentin Australia. For the purposes of the Notes, "Resident of Australia" has the meaning give in the AustralianIncome Tax Assessment Act (193 and means: (a) person, other than a company, w resides in Australia, or (b) a company which i incorporated in Australia, or which, not being incorporated in Australia, carries on business Australia, and haseither its central management at control in Australia, or its voting power controlled b shareholders who are residents of Australia.

Ву:	
Title:	
Duly authorised	

Signed on behalf of Commonwealth Bank of Australia:

44

Only includefor Noteswhich arebooked through the Issuer's Offshore Business Unit.

Part B- Other Information

	ran b- Othe	er imormation
1.	LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING	
	(i) Listing and admission to trading	[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on behalf) for the Notes to be admitted trading on [the London Stock Exchange's regulated market] [and, to be listed on the Official List of the CA] with effect from [].]
		[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading [the London Stock Exchange's regulated market] [anc to be listed on the Official List of the CA] with effect from [].]
	(ii) Estimate of total expenses related admission to trading:	[]
2.	RATINGS	
		The Notes to be issued [have been]/[are expecte be]/[have not been] rated[
		[S&P: []]
		[Moody's: []]
		[Fitch: []]]
3.	REASONS FOR THE OFFER	
		[]
4.	INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PE	RSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE
	aware, no person involved in the issue [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have e	[] (the Manager Dealer]), so far as the Issues of the Notes has an interest material to the offerngaged, and may in the future engage, in investment th, and perform other services for, the Issuer and
5.	YIELD	[]
	Indication of Yield:	The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the bas the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.
6.	HISTORIC INTEREST RATES (FLOATING RATE NOTES ONLY)	
	Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBORSONIA[]]	rates can be obtained from [Reuters].
7.	OPERATIONAL INFORMATION	
	(i) ISIN:	[]
	(ii) Common Code:	[]
	(iii) CFI:	[[See/[[], as updated, as set out on] the website of Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANN) or alternatively sourced from the responsible Natio Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/N Applicable/Not Available]

[[See/[[], as updated, as set out on] the website of

(iv) FISN:

Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA or alternatively sourced from the responsible Natio Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/N Applicable/Not Available]

		/ ipplicable/ itel / italiable]
(v)	CMU Instrument Number:	[]
(vi)	Any clearing system(s) other than Eurocle and Clearstrema, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable/[]]
(vii)	CMU Lodging and Paying Agent	[[]/Not Applicable]
(viii)	Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment
(ix)	Names and addresses of additional Pay Agent(s) (if any):	[]
(x)	U.S. Selling Restrictions:	[Reg. S Compliance Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFF not applicable]
(xi)	Prohibition of Sales to EEA Reta Investors:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(xii)	Relevant Benchmark:	[Not Applicable]/[] is provided by [].
		[As at the date hereof, [[]] appears the register of administrators and benchmarks established maintained by the European Securities and Mark Authority pursuant to be Benchmarks Regulation
		[As at the date hereof, [[] does not appear in register of administrars and benchmarks establish and maintained by the European Securities Markets Authority pursuant toArticle 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation [As far as the date hereof, the transitional provisions Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply, suct that [] is not currently required to obtain authorisation/registration (or, if located outside European Union, recognition, endorsement equivalence]/[[] does not fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation.]]

8. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[[] has been extracted from []. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately repained that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by p factorhave been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Conditions of the Notes

The following are the Conditions of the Notes which (except for the paragraph in italics) will be incorporated by reference into each global Note and will be endorsed upon each definitive Note. The applicable Final Terms will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to "applicable Final Terms" for a description of the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series of Euro Medium Term Notes (all of the Euro Medium Term Notes from time to time issued by the Commonwealth Bank of Australia ("the Issuer") which are for the time being outstanding being hereinafter referred to as the "Notes", which expression shall include (i) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, units of the lowest Specified Denomination in the Specified Confetence relevant Notes, (ii) definitive Notes issued in exchange (or part exchange) for a global Note and (iii) any global Note). The Notes, the Coupons (as defined below) and the Talons (as defined below) have the benefit of an Amended and Restated Agenegreementlated3 July 2019 (asmodified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") made between uter alios, the Issuer, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as principal paying agent (the "Principal Paying Agent" which expression shall include any successor as principal paying agent), Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as registrar (the "Registrar" which expression shall include any successor as registrar) and the paying agents and transfer agents named therein (the "Paying Agents" and the "Transfer Agents", which expressions shall include any additional or successor paying agents and transfer agents [s.so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer will also appoint a calculation agent with respect to a Series (the "Calculation Agent", which expression shall include any successor calculation agent and any other calculation agent specified in the applicable Final Terms).

The Noteholders, the Couponholders and the Talonholders are entitled to the benefit of the **Covenant** (such Deed of Covenant as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant") dated 3 July 2019 and made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by the common depositary for Euroclear (asidefl below) and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below).

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. Copies of the applicabile frims are available for viewing during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer at Ground Floor, Tower 1, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2000 and copies may be obtained from the Principal Paying Agent at Winchester Housel Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB, England. If the Notes are to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the London Stock Exchange the applicable Final Terms will be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange through a attempt information service. The Noteholders, the Couponholders and the Talonholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them. The statements instance include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Agency Agreement.

Any reference to "Noteholders" in relation to any Notes shall mean (in the case of definitive Notes in bearer form) the holders of the Notes and (in the case of definitive Notes in registered form) the persons in whose name the Notes are registered and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference hereio "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and any reference herein to "Talonholders" shall mean the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, "Series" means each original issue of Notes together with any further issues expressed to form a single series with the original issue and the terms of which (save for the Issue Date or Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, the Issue Price and the amount of the first payment of interest (if any), all as indicated in the applicable Final Terms re otherwise identical (including whether or not they are listed) and shall be deemed to include the temporary and (where applicable) permanent global Notes and the definitive Notes of such issues and the expressions "Notes of this Series" and "holders of Notes of this Series" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. As used herein, "Tranche" means all Notes of the same Series with the same Issue Date.

The final terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set PattirA of the Final Terms attached to or endorsed on this Note which supplement these Conditions. References to the "applicable Final Terms" are, unless otherwise stated, Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note.

The expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or supersed)dand includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the European Economic Area.

The Noteholders, the Couponholders and then Tableders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions relating to the Notes contained in the applicable Final Terms, the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant which are applicable to them. We newspaces ions defined in the Agency Agreement or defined or set out in the applicable Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated. Copies of the applicable Final Terms are available for inspection by the holders of Notes of this Series at the office of the Principal Paying Agent set out at the end of these Conditions. The statements in these Conditions are summaries of the detailed provisions of the Agency Agreementatich provisions shall have precedence over these Conditions if there is any inconsistency.

In the Conditions, "euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Figure of the European Union, as amended.

1 Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes of this Series are Bearer Notes or Registered Notes as specified in the applicable Final Terms and are in the currency (the "Specified Currency") and the denominations (the "Specified Denomination(s)") specified in the applicable Final Terms. Definitive Notes of this Series (if issued) will be serially numbered and Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes and vice versa. This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a FloatiRate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or any appropriate combination thereof depending upon the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Final Terms or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending on the Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is a definitive Bearer Note, it is issued with Coupons for the payment of interest ("Coupons") and, if applicable, Talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached, unless it is a Zero Coupon Note in which case references to interest than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date) and Coupons or Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. References in these Conditions, except in this paragraph, Conditionand Condition10, to Coupons or Couponholders shall be demed to include references to Talons or Talonholders.

Subject as set out below, title to the definitive Bearer Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the definitive Registered Notes will pass upon the registration of transfers in ancoexnoteh the provisions of the Agency Agreement. The holder of each Coupon, whether or not such Coupon is attached to a Bearer Note, in his capacity as such, shall be subject to, and bound by, all the provisions contained in the relevant Note. Subject estsout below, the Issuer, any Paying Agent and any Transfer Agent may (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable laws) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note or Coupon and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not such Note or Coupon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notation of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any global Note, without prejudice to the provisionset out below. For so long as any Notes are represented by a global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"), each person who is for the time being shown in the records of Eurodear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the accordinately person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of Notes for all purposes other than with respect to payments on the lotes for which purpose the bearer of the relevant global Bearer Note or the registered

holder of the relevant global Registered Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the tef the relevant global Note and the terms "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, except in the preceding paragraph and in Condition 16, wherever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearance system specified in Part B of the applicable Final Terms.

Notes which are represented by a global Note held on behalf of Euroclear anethoustr@am, Luxembourg will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

2 Transfer

- (a) Transfers of beneficial interests in globategistered Notes will be feeted by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of transferors and transferees of such interests. A beneficial rieste in a global Registered Note will, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be transferable for definitive Registered Notes or for a beneficial interest in another global Registered Note only in the authorised denomations set out in the applicable Final Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the Agency Agreement.
- (b) A definitive Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part (in the nominal amount of the lowest Specified Denomination or any integral multiple thereof) by the deposit by the transferor of the definitive Registered Note for requision of the transfer at the specified office of a Transfer Agent with the form of transfer endorsed on the definitive Registered Note duly completed and executed by or on behalf of the transferor and upon the relevant Transfer Agent (after due and carefuelnquiry) being satisfied with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the request and subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may prescribe. Subject as provided above, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within fourteen days of the request (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations), deliver at its specified office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by mail to such add the transferee may request a new definitive Registered Note of a like aggregate nominal amount to the definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the definitive Registered Note) transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a delitive Registered Note, a new definitive Registered Note in respect of the balance of the definitive Registered Note not transferred will be so delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.
- (c) In the event of a partial redemption of Nsotender Condition6(c), the Issuer shall not be required to:
 - (i) register the transfer of any definitive Registered Note, or part of a definitive Registered Note, called for partial redemption; or
 - (ii) exchange any definitive Bearer Note called for partial redempti
- (d) Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than at the specified office of a Transfer Agent or by regular mail and paxtheat the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.
- (e) The names of the initial Registrar and other initial Transfer Agents and threat spiecified offices in respect of this Series of Notes are set out at the end of these Conditions. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Registrar or any

other Transfer Agent and to appoint another Reggistr additional or other Transfer Agents. Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices will be given to the holders of the Notes of this Series promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 16.

3 Status of the Notes

The Notes of this Series and the relative Coupons (if any) are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank equally among themselves and equally with the Issuer's other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations (except for certain debts that are required to be preferred by applicable law).

Changes to applicable laws may extend the debts required to be preferred by law.

The applicable laws include (but are not limited to) sections 13A and the Banking Act 1959 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Banking Act") and section 86 of the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Reserve Bank Act"). These provisions provide that in the event that the Issuer becomes unablemented its obligations or suspends payment, its assets in Australia are to be available to meet its liabilities to, among others, the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority, the Reserve Bank of Australia and holders of protected accounts held in Australia richtigieriority to all other liabilities, including the Notes.

The Notes of this Series are not protected accounts or deposit liabilities of the Issuer for the purposes of the Banking Act.

4 [This Condition is no longer applicable]

5 Interest

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes or Zero Coupon Notes.

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

This Condition5(a) applies to Fixed Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions applicable to the telemination of fixed rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this Condition5(a) for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Fixed Rate Notes. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will specify the Interest Comment Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest Payment Date(s), the Maturity Date, the Fixed Coupon Amount, any applicable Broken Amount, the Calculation Amount, the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

(1) Each Fixed Rate Note bearsterest from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Interest in respect of Fixed Rate Notes will accrue in respect of each Fixed Interest Period. In the Conditions, "Fixed Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

Interest will be payable in arrear on theelinetst Payment Date(s) in each year up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

Fixed Interest Periods shall be adjusted ("Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes") or unadjusted ("Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes") as specified in the applicable Final Terms. In the case of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes, a Business Day Convention shall also be specified in the applicable Final Terms and (where applicable) Interest Payment Dates shall be postponed or brought forward, as the case may be, in accordance with Condition5(c)(ii).

In the case of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes, if the Notes are in definitive form and if Fixed Coupon Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (buexcluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or the Broken Amount (if any) so specified.

Interest will be paid subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Condition (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) relative will cease to accrue on each Fixed Rate Note (or, in the case of the redemption of part only of a Fixed Rate Note, that part only of such Note) on the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is pierply owithheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgment) until, but excluding, whichever is the earlier of (A) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Fixed Rate Note up to that day aive deby or on behalf of the holder of such Fixed Rate Note and (B) the day which is seven days after the date on which the Principal Paying Agent has notified the holder in accordance with Condition that it has received all sums due in respect thereof u to that date.

- (2) Except in the case of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Principal Paying Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:
 - (A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented (ib) Cabbal Note or (ii) Registered Notes definitive form the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of (A) the Notes represented by such Global Norte(B) such Registered Notesunless in each case Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms in which case the Rate of Interest shall be expto the Calculation Amountor
 - (B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes hich are Bearer Notes definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction

The resultant figure (including after applican of any Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as applicable, to the aggregate outstanding nonimal of Fixed Rate Notes which are Registered Notes in definitive form or the Calculation Amount in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Bearer Nivotessinitive form) shall be rounded to the nearest submit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such submit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of

- (i) a Fixed Rate Notewhich is a Bearer Notion definitive form, or
- (ii) a Global Noteor Registered Note in definitive formwhere "Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis" is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms,

is a multiple of the Calculatin Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Noter such Global Noter Registered Notehall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculatin Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

The calculation of each Interest Amount by the Principal Paying Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

In this Condition 5(a), "Day Count Fraction" has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(c).

In these Conditions "sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes

This Condition5(b) applies to Floating Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions applicable to the determination of floating rate interest and museable in conjunction with this Condition5(b) for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Floating Rate Notes. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify any Specified Interest Payment Dates, any Specified Periedntherest Commencement Date, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centres, whether ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the party who will calculate the amount of interest due if it is notice Agent, the Margin, any maximum or minimum interest rates and the Day Count Fraction. Where ISDA Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify the applicable Floating Rate Option, Designated Matyriand Reset Date. Where Screen Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will specify the applicable Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s) and Relevant Screen Page.

(1) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or
- (B) if no Specified Interest Payent Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Periodeiraphplicable Final Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each period from and including an Interest Payment Date or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Dater the relevant payment date if the Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment (Datesuch period, a "Floating Interest Period" and, together with a Fixed Interest Period, each an "Interest Period").

(2) Interest Payments and Accrual

Interest will be paid subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Condition (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms). Interest existecto accrue on each Floating Rate Note (or, in the case of the redemption of part only of a Floating Rate Note, that part only of such Note) on the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgement) until, but excluding, whichever is the earlier of (A) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Floating Rate Note up to that day axedecei by or on behalf of the holder of such Floating Rate Note and (B) the day which is seven days after the date on which the Principal Paying Agent has notified the holder

in accordance with Condition 6 that it has received all sums due in respect thereof up to that date.

(3) Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of each Floating Rate Note will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(4) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Floating Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this Condition 5(b)(4), "ISDA Rate" for a Floating Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Principal Paying Agenthe Calculation Agent, as aplicable, under an interest rate swap transaction if the Principal Paying Agent orthe Calculation Agentas applicable, were acting as the Calculation Agent (as defined in the ISDA Definitions (as defined belown) that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes, (the "ISDA Definitions") and under which:

- (A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (C) the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of thisoadition 5(b)(4), "Floating Rate", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

When this Conditior (b)(4) applies, in respect of each relevant Floating Interest Period:

- the Rate of Interest for such Floating Interest Period will be the rate
 of interest determined by the Principal Paying Agent the
 Calculation Agentas applicable accordance with this Condition
 5(b)(4); and
- (ii) the Principal Paying Agertar the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will be deemed to have discharged its obligations under Condition 5(b)(8) in respect of the determination of the Rate of Interest if it has determined the Rate of Interest in respect of such Floating Interest Period in the manner pitological in this Condition (b)(4).
- (5) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes not referencing Compounded Daily SONIA

Where "Screen Rate Detenination" is specified in the papilicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be obsided and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as beint BOR" or "EURIBOR", the Rate of Interest for a Floatin on the papilicable Final Terms as period below, be either:

- (A) the offered quotation; or
- (B) the arithmetic mean (rounded niecessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate (being either LIBOR or EURIBOR, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) which appears appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page on that service which displays the information) as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) (the "Specified Time") on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agentor the Calculation Agentas applicable five or more such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agentas applicable, for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

In the event that the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the fage above no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the Specified Time, the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agent, as applicable with the assistance of the Issuer if required thall request each of the Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agent, as applicable in the Reference Ra at approximately the Specified Time on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agent, as applicable the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Principal Paying Ageont the Calculation Agent, as applicableth an offered quotation as provided in the preceding pragator, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the Reserve Interest Rate. The "Reserve Interest Rate" shall be the rate per annum which the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable termines to be either (ihe arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.0600eing rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicate (three dated at the request off) e Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, the Reference Banks any two or more of them, at which such banks offered, at approximately the Specified Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leadi banks in the London interank market (if the Reference Rate is LIBOR) or the Euro zone interbank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agentor the Calculation Agent, as applicableith offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provide above) of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, at approximately the Specified Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more backs (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for the purpose) informs the Principal Paying Agentthe Calculation Agent, as applicable, it is quoting to leading banks in the London into market (if the

Reference Rate islBOR) or the Eurezone interbank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), or (ii) in the event that the Principal Paying Agendr the Calculation Agent, as applicable determine no such arithmetice and, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition5(b)(5) the expression "Reference Banks" means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal Londorffice of four major banks in the London interbank market and, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Eurezone office of four major banks in the Euroneinter-bank market, in each case aselected by the Principal Paying Agentr the Calculation Agent, as applicable, who may consult the Issuer

- (5A) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA
 - (i) Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which thete of Interest is to be determined and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily SOM", the Rate of Interest for a Floatingterest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to such Floating Interest Period plus or minus the Margin (if any) as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

"Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to a Floatiningterest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment of the control of the sonial period corresponding to sufficiently be solved the sonial period (with the sonial period by the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agent, as applicable, on the relevant of the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-pLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of adendar days in the releval interest Period:

"do" is the number of London Banking Days in the relevanting Interest Period;

"i" is a series of whole numbers from oned peach representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological from, and including, the first London Banking Day in the releval bating Interest Period; "London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign curror deposits) in London;

"n_i", for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such London Banking Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Look-Back Period" is the period of Londo Banking Daysspecified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevantFloating Interest Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Floating Interest Periodor such other date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due

"p" is the number of London Banking Days included in the Observation LookBack Period

the "SONIA reference rate", in respect of any London Banking Day, is a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ('SONIA") rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and a then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and

"SONIA_{i-pLBD}" means the SOM reference rate for the London Banking Day (being a London Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation Period) falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

- If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Obasiem Period, (ii) the applicable SONIA reference rate is not made available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then (unless the Principal Paying Agentthe Calculation Agent, as applicably has been notified of any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (and any related Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments) pursuant to Condition 5(e) below, if applicable) the SONIA reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day shall be: (i) Bhaek of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on such London Banking Day; plus (ii) the mean of the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Dayson which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and the lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowestads).
- (iii) In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be:

- A. that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a differental Mgin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Floating Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Floating Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of the test (as the case may be) relating to the relevant Floating Interest Period, in place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable) relating to that last preceding ating Interest Period); or
- B. if there is no sufe preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first scheduled Floating Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the first schedule Floating Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin and, if applicable, any Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest, applicable to the first scheduled Floating Interest Period).
- (iv) If this Series of Notes becomes due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, the final Rate of Interest shall be calculated for Ftbeting Interest Periodrom (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencemb Date) to (but excluding) the date on which the Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of Interest shall continue to apply to the Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as provided in Condition 5(b)(2).
- (6) Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a minimum Rate of Interest for any Floating Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Floating Interest Period determined in accordance with the aboves provisis less than such minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Floating Interest Period shall be such minimum Rate of Interest. If the applicable Final Terms specifies a maximum Rate of Interest for any Floating Interest Period, there in t event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Floating Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is greater than such maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Floating Interest Period shall be the maximumRateof Interest.

Unless otherwise stated the applicable Final Terms, threinimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be zero.

- (7) Business Day, Interest Determination Date and Relevant Screen Page
 - (A) In this Condition, "Business Day" has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(c).
 - (B) In this Condition, "Interest Determination Date" has the meaning set out in the applicable Final Terms.
 - (C) In this Condition, "Relevant Screen Page" has the meaning set out in the applicable Final Terms.
- (8) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Principal Paying Agendr the Calculation Agent, as applicabheil, as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest door calculate the Interest Amountayable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Floating Interest Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Interest Amount payable on the FloatingaRe Notes for the relevant Floating Interest Period will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Noteunless"Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Bäsiss specified as being applicable in the application Terms which case the Rate of Interest shall be applied to the Calculation Amount
- (B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes in idition form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest-sub of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such subnit being rounded upwasdor otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of:

- (i) a Floating Rate Note in definitive for, ror
- (ii) a Global Note where Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis" is specified as being applicable in take plicable Final Terms,

is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Floating RateNote or such Global Noteshall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination suchoutstanding nominal amount of the Notesithout any further rounding.

The determination of the Rate of Interest and calculation of each InterestnAbyou the Principal Paying Agent of Calculation Agent as applicableshall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(9) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Principal Paying Agentr the Calculation Agent, as applicable will cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount for each Floating Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notificather than where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily SONIA". to the Issuer and, in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are listed on a stock exchange, that stock exchange as soon as possible but in any event not later than the second Business Day after their determination and will cause exitcsuch information to be given to the holders of the Notes of this Series in accordance with Confetion not later than the fourth Business Day after their determination in the case of Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA, incase of notice to each of the Issuer, any stock exchange and in accordance with Condition 16 as provided abovethe Principal Paying Agentr the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will cause such notice to be givens soon as possible afthere determination of the relevantRate of Interest and Interest Amouand no later than the second London Banking Day (as defined in Condition 5(b)(5A) above) after their determination Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be

amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notification as aforesaid in the event of an extension or shortening of the Floating Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to any stock exchange on with the Notes affected thereby are for the time being listed.

(10) Notifications, etc. to be final

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the opsovis these Conditions by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of default, bad faith or manifest error by them or any of their directors, officers, employees or agents) be binding on the Issuer, the Principal Payenty Ag the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and all holders of the Notes of this Series and Coupons relating thereto and (in the absence of any default, bad faith or manifest error as referred to above) no liability to the Issuer or the holders of these with this Series and Coupons relating thereto shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or-exercise by them of their powers, duties and discretions under this Condition.

(11) Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of a Floating Interest Period in the applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Floating Interest Period shall be calculated by the Principal Paying Agethe Calculation Agentas applicable, by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Floating Interest Per and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Floating Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Principal Paying Agentor the Calculation Agent as applicable shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

"Designated Maturity" means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of time designated in the Reference Rate.

(c) Day Count Fraction and Business Day Convention

(i) Day Count Fraction

"Day Count Fraction" means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms:

(1) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in, for the purposes of Condito(an), the Fixed Interest Period or, if interest is required to be calculated for a period (the "Relevant Period") other than a full Interest Period, the Relevant Period, as the case may be, and, for the purposes of Condito(an), the Floating Interest Period, in each case divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the relevant period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) thead number of days in that portion of the relevant period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the relevant period falling in a nonleap year divided by 365);

- (2) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in, for the purposes of Conditto(a), the Fixed Interest Period or the Relevant Period, as the case may be, and, for the purposes of Condition5(b), the Floating Interest Period, in each case divide3d5;
- (3) [This Condition is no longer applicable]
- (4) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in, for the purposes of Conditi5(a), the Fixed Interest Period or the Relevant Period, as the case may be, and, foruthperses of Condition 5(b), the Floating Interest Period, in each case divided by 360;
- (5) if "30/360 (Floating)", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on **a** fmula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction
$$= \frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interter eriod falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls; "M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls:

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, **ssle**uch number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;

(6) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in, for the purposes of Condition, the Fixed Interest Period or the Releant Period, as the case may be, and, for the purposes of Condition 5(b), the Floating Interest Period, in each case divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction
$$=\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the InteresPeriod falls; "M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls:

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be, 31 which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

- (7) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:
 - (A) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the Interest Period or the Relevant Period, as the case may be, from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but to the trading) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year; or
 - (B) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period uting which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year; and
 - (2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year;

"Determination Period" means the period from (and including) a Determination Date (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) to (but excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencement on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date); and

- (8) if "30/360 (Fixed)" or "30/360, unadjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period erRelevant Period, as the case may be, (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12-39 months) divided by 360.
- (9) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in, for the purposes Gondition 5(a), the Fixed Interest Period or the Relevant Period, as the case may be, and, for the purposes of Condition 5(b), the Floating Interest Period, in each case divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls; "M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Periordless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31 and D2 will be 30.

(ii) Business Day Convention

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically orresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (1) in the case where a Spiteed Period is specified in accordance with Condition 5(b)(1)(B) above the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (A) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (b)wbshall apply mutatis mutandis or (B) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (a) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to immediately preceding Business Day and (b) each subsequent Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls in the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred; or
- (2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business newsout would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

In theseConditions:

"Business Day" means (unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms):

- (A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general basin(encluding dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and, if any Additional Business Centre(s)ther than TARGET2) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, in such Additional Business Centre(s);
- (B) if TARGET2 is specified as Additional Business Centre in the applicable Final Terms, a day on which the Tresopean Automated ReaTime Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System (TARGET2') is open; and
- (C) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Cuyrenc other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency or (2) in relation to any sum payableuino, ea day on which TARGET2 is open.
- (d) Where a Zero Coupon Note becomes due and repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and repayable shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as determined in accordance with Ctiodi 6(e). As from the Maturity Date any overdue principal of such Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Accrual Yield. Such interest shall continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (Athe day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the holder of such Note and (B) the day which is seven days after the date on which the Principal Paying Agent has notified the holder in accordance with Condition 16 that it has received all sums due in respect thereof up to that date. Such interest will be calculated as provided for the relevant calculation to be made in respect of the applicable Day Count Fraction in Conditi6(e).

(e) Benchmark Discontinuizatn

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditio5\$b) above if the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interestn{occumponent part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to that Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions of this Conditio5(e) shall apply.

(i) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If there is a Successor Rate, then the Issuer shartlphyonotify the Principal Paying Agentor the Calculation Agent, as applicabled, in accordance with Condition, the Noteholders of such Successor Rate and that Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition(e)(ii)) subsequent be used by the Principal Paying Agentor the Caculation Agent, as applicable place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interestine Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition(e)).

If there is no Successor Rate but the Issuer, acting in good if at the commercially reasonable manneamd by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include conditation with an Independent Adviser, determines that there is an Alternative Rate, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Principal Paying Augent the Calculation Agent, as applicable and, in accordance with Condition 6, the Noteholders of such Administrative Rate and that Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition (ii)) subsequently be used in place of the

Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereoforf all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Conditto(e)).

(ii) Adjustment Spread

If, in the case of a Successor Rate, an Adjustment Spread is formally recommended, or formally provided as an option formalies to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Principal Paying Aggenthe Calculation Agent, as applicableand, in accordance with Condition 16, the Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Principal Paying Aggettte Calculation Agent, as applicableshall apply such Adjustment Spread to the Successor Rate for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rateest (notes component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate.

If, in the case of a Successor Rate where no such Adjustment Spread is formally recommended or provided as an option by any Relevant Nominating Body, or in the case of an Alternative Rea, the Issuer, acting in good faithin a commercially reasonable manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent Adviser, determines that there is an Adjustment Spread in customary matrkesage in the international debt capital markets for transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Issuer shall promptly notify the incipal Paying Agentor the Caculation Agent, as applicable and, in accordance with Condition 6, the Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Principal Paying Agentite Caculation Agent, as applicable apply such Adjustment Spread toe th Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be are ach subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable).

If no such recommendation option has been made (or made available) by any Relevant Nominating Body, or the Issuer so determines that there is no such Adjustment Spread in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets and the Issuer further determines, addingood faith, in a commercially reasonable manner and following consultation with an Independent Adviser, that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Adjustment Spread to the Spread to the Spread to the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Adjustment Spread to the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Adjustment Spread to the Spread t

- (1) the Adjustment Spread determined by the Issuer, acting in goodifaith commercially reasonable mannered following consultation with an Independent Adviser, as being the Adjustment Spread recognised or acknowledged as being the industry stadder overthe-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or
- (2) if there is no such industry standard recognised or available, such Adjustment Spread as the Issuer, acting in good, faintha commercially reasonable mannand following consultation with an Independent Adviser, determines to be appropriateaving regard to the objective, so far as is reasonably practicate in the circumstances, of reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the case may be)

Following any such determination of the Adjustment Spread, the Issuer shall promptly notify the Principal Paying Agent the Calculation Agent, as applicable, and, in accordance with Condition 6, the Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Principal Paying Agentor the Calculation Agent, as applicable all apply such Adjustment Spread to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by ference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable).

(iii) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Conditio b(e) and the Issuer, acting in good faithin a commercially reasonable manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent Adviser, determines in its discretion (A) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary tosure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments") and (B) terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent or that Collation Agent, as applicable, shall agreewithout any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders to the necessary modifications to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date speirifiseach notice, subject to the Issuer having to give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 122nd any Benchmark Amendments invotreasing the obligations or duties, or decreasithe rights or protections, the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicated the Conditions and/or the Agency Agreementunless agreed between the Issuer thread Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable

In connection with any such modifications in accordance whis Condition 5(e)(iii), if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to trading and listed on the official list of a stock exchange, the Issuer shall comply with the rules of that stock exchange. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition, no Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread will be adopted, nor will any other amendment to the terms and conditions of any Series of Notes be made to effect the Benchmark Amendments, if and to the extent that, in the determination bestuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the treatment of any relevant Series of Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital.

Any Benchmark Amendmentdetermined under this condition 5(e)(iii) shall be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable and, in accordance with Condition 16, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of such Benchmark Amendments.

(iv) Independent Adviser

In the event thessuer is to consult with an Independent Adviser in connection with any determination to be made by the Issuer pursuant to this Cortal (the) of the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practical for the purposes of any such consultation.

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condt (en) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and (in the absence of fraud or wilful default) shall have no liability whatsometry to the Issuer or the Noteholders for any determination made by it or for any advice given to the Issuer in connection with any

determination made by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition otherwise in connection with the Notes.

If the Issuer consults with an Independent Advisers to whether there is an Alternative Rate and/or any Adjustment Spread is required to be applied and/or in relation to the quantum of, or any formula or methodology for determining such Adjustment Spread and/or whether abyenchmark Amendments are necessary and/or in relation to the terms of any such Benchmark Amendments, a written determination of that Independent Adviser in respect thereof shall be conclusive and binding on all parties, save in the case of manifest earror, (in the absence of fraud or wilful default) the Issuer shall have no liability whatsoever to the Noteholders in respect of anything done, or omitted to be done, in relation to that matter in accordance with any such written determination.

No Independent Adviser appointed in connection with the Notes (acting in such capacity), shall have any relationship of agency or trust with the Noteholders.

(V) Survival of Original Reference Rate Provisions

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under this diction 5(e), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for indictions 5(b), the Agency Agreement and the applicational Terms as the case may be, will continue to apply unless and until the Issuer has determined the Successor the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and any Adjustment Spread and Benchmark Amendments, in accordance with the relevant provisions of this Condition

(vi) Definitions

In this Condition5(e):

"Adjustment Spread" means either a spread, or the formula or methodology for calculating a spread and the spread resulting from such calculation, which spread may in either case be positive or negative and is to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) rethe Original Reference Rates replaced with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer determines in accordance with this Condito(e) is used in place of th@riginal Reference Rate in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate interest period and in the same Specified Currency as the Notes.

"Benchmark Event" means the earlier to occur of

- (1) the Original Reference Rate ceasing the published for at least five Business Days or ceasing the published for at least five
- the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the administration original Reference Rate that it will, by a specified date, cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate) and (ii) the date falling six months prior to such specified date;
- (3) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or indefinitely discontinued is prohibited from being used is no longer representative, that its use is subject to restrictions or adverse consequences or, where such discontinuation, prohibition, restrictions or

adverse consequences are to apply from a specifited after the making of any public statement to such effect, the later of the date of the making of such public statement and the date falling six months prior to such specified date; and

it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date becomewful for the Calculation Agent, any Paying Agent or the Issuer to determine any Rate of Interest and/or calculate any Interest Amount using the Original Reference Rate (including without limitation, under Regulation (EU)No. 2016/1011, if applicable).

"Independent Advisërmeans an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer at its own expense;

"Original Reference Rate" means the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified in the applicable applicable relevant Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) in respect of the Notes (provided that if, following one or more Benchmarke s, such originally specified Reference Rate (or any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate which has replaced it) has been replaced by a (or a further) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and a Benchmark Event subsequently occurs in respect of such Successor or Alternative Rate, the term "Original Reference Rate" shall include any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate)

"Relevant Nominating Bodymeans, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- (1) the central bank for the currency to white benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (2) any working group or committee sponsored chaired or cochaired by or constituted at the request of (i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (ii) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (iii) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and

"SuccessoRate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

6 Redemption and Purchase

(a) Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note of this Series will be redeemed its Final Redemption Amount in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

Subject to Condition (f), the Notes of this Series may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice in accordance with Condition (which notice shall be irrevocable), at the Early Redemption Amount provided in, or calculated in accordance with, paragraph (f) or (g) (as applicable) below, together with (if provided in such paragraphs)

interest accrued up to, but excluding, the date fixed fixed for emption, if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Consdittio(ii) the Issuer becomes obliged to pay approved issuer levy at a rate exceeding the rate of the levy being charged at the date issue of the Notes as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including the manner of exercising any official discretion thereunder), which change or amendment becomes known generally or to the Issuer on or after the Issue Date (or, in the case of a second or subsequenteTota Notes of this Series, the Issue Date for the original Tranche) provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given in respect of the Notes of this Series earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be oblige observed additional amounts and, for the purpose only of determining the earliest date on which such notice may be given, it shall be deemed that a payment, in respect of which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts, is due in respectitoe Notes of this Series on the day on which any such change or amendment becomes effective.

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

This Condition6(c) applies to Notes which are subject to redemption prior to the Maturity Date at the option of the Issuer (other than for taxation reasons), such option being referred to as an "Issuer Call". The applicable Final Terms contains provisions applicable to any Issuer Call and must be read in conjunction with this Conditation for full information on any Issuer Call. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify the Optional Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption Amount, any minimum or maximum amount of Notes which can be redeemed and the applicable notice periods.

If Issuer Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may on any Optional Redemption Date specified in the applicable Final Terms at its option, on giving not less than the period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms holdrers of the Notes of this Series (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption and where any such period of notice is expressed as a specified number of business days, the expression "business day" shall have the meaning given in Condition (g)) in accordance with Condition (h, redeem all or from time to time some only of the Notes of this Series then outstanding on the relevant Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in the applice Final Terms together with (in the case of Fixed Rate Notes) interest accrued to, but excluding, the relevant Optional Redemption Date.

In the event of a redemption of some only of such Notes, such redemption must be for an amount being not less that met Minimum Redemption Amount and not more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (if any) specified in the applicable Final Terms. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, Notes to be redeemed will be selected individually by lot (without involving any pet only of a Bearer Note) not less than 40 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. In the case of a partial redemption where some or all of the Notes are represented by a global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, such redmption with respect to those Notes will take place in accordance with the procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time. Each notice of redemption will specify the date fixed for redemption and, in the case of a partial redemptitie aggregate nominal amount, and, where some or all of the Notes are in definitive form, the serial numbers, of the Notes to be redeemed and, in each case, the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes of this Series which will be outstanding after three abaedemption. In addition, in the case of a partial redemption of a Series of Notes which includes Registered Notes, the Issuer will publish an additional notice of redemption not less than 80 nor more than 95 days before the date fixed for redemptionshich notice will specify the period during which exchanges or transfers of Notes may not be made as provided in Co2dition

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

This Condition6(d) applies to Notes which are subject to redemption to the Maturity Date at the option of the Noteholder, such option being referred to as an "Investor Put". The applicable Final Terms contains provisions applicable to any Investor Put and must be read in conjunction with this Condition6(d) for full information on any Investor Put. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify the Optional Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption Amount and the applicable notice periods.

If Investor Put is specified as being applicable in the applicable Ferms, upon any Noteholder giving to the Issuer in accordance with Conditiont less than the period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms (the "notice period"), the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice redeem in whole (but inopart) the Notes the subject of the notice on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount together with (in the case of Fixed Rate Notes) interest accrued up to, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date.

To exercise the rightstrequire redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, if this Note is in definitive form, and held outside Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, deliver, at the specified office of any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Réignistrar the case of Registered Notes) on any business day (as defined in Cor(di)) dralling within the notice period a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Payingent or from the Registrar (a "Put Notice") and, in the case of a Put Notice in respect of Bearer Notes, in which the holder must specify a bank account outside Australia to which payment is to be made under this Condition. If this Note is in definitiveorm, the Put Notice must be accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or under its control.

If this Note is represented by a Global Notes in definitive form and held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of such exercise in coordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (which may include notice being given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary for them to the Principal Paying Agent by electronic means) in a form acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time.

A Put Notice or other notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this Condition once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem all Niotesedetherewith on the applicable redemption date.

(e) Zero Coupon Notes

(1) The amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Note pursuant to paragrap(b), (c) or (d) above or upon it becoming due and repayable as provided in Cotidin 11 shall be an amount (the "Amortised Face Amount") calculated in accordance with the formula for the Accrual Method specified in the applicable Final Terms:

Linear Accrual: Amortised FaceAmount = Reference Amount x (1+ Accrual Yield x y)

Compounding Accrual: Amortised FaceAmount = Reference Amount x (1+Accrual Yield)

where:

"Reference Amount" means:

- (A) the product of the Issue Price and:
 - (i) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note represented by a Global Note where the Zero Coupon Notes are beingeneded in full, the aggregate Outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note, unless "Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis" is specified as being applicable in the applical Terms or
 - (ii) in the case of a Zero Opon Note in definitive form or where some only of the Zero Coupon Notes are being redeemed or where "Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis" is specified as being applicable in the applicableFinal Terms the Calculation Amount; and
- (B) where the Specified Denomination of:
 - (i) a Zero Coupon Note in definitive form; or
 - (ii) the Global Note or a Zero Coupon Note represented by a Global Note, as applicable, where "Calculation to be on a Calculation Amount Basis" is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Termsor the Reference Amount is otherwise to be determined by reference to the Calculation Amount.

is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Reference Amount in respect of such Zero Coupon Note or such Global Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

"Accrual Yield" means the rate specifieds such in the applicable Final Terms; and

"y" is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be either (i) 30/360 (Fixed) or 30/360 unadjusted (in which case the numerator will be equal to the number of days (calculated on the basis of a 36day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and payable and the denominator will be 360) or (ii) Actual/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (iii) Actual/365 (Fixed) (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 365).

(2) If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redempt such Note pursuant to paragraph, (c) or (d) above or upon its becoming due and

repayable as provided in Condition is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Note shall be the amount calculated assign in Condition 6(e)(1) aboves though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which all amounts dimerespect of such Note have been paid; and
- (b) the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Notes has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition

(f) Early Redemption Amounts

For the purposes of paragra(bb) aboveand Condition 1, unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms, Notes will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount, being (1) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Floating Rate Notes Final Redemption Amount or (2) in the case of Zero Coupon Notes at the Amortised Face Amount of such Notes determined in accordance with paragra(bb) above in each case in the relevant Specified Currency together with, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes deemed pursuant to paragra(bb) above interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption.

(g) Purchase and Cancellation

The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes of this Series (provided that all unmatured Coupons appertaining to such Notes in definitive bearer form, are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in any manner and at any price.

All Notes of this Series together, in the case of definitive Notes in bearer form, with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto, purchased by behalf of the Issuer (other than thoseNotespurchased in the ordinary course of the business of dealing in securities) will be cancelled forthwith.

7 Payments and Exchange of Talons

- (a) Payments in respect of definitive Bearer Notes
 - (i) Payments of principated interest (if any) in respect of definitive Bearer Notes (if issued) will (subject as provided below) be made against surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, presentation and endorsement) of definitive Bearer Notes or Coupons (which expression this Condition and Condition 0, shall not include Talons), as the case may be, at any specified office of any Paying Agent outside Australia.
 - All payments of principal and interest with respect to definitive Bearer Notes will be made outside Australizand (except as otherwise provided in paragraph below) the United States. Payments in any currency other than euro in respect of definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made by transfer to an account (in the case of payment in Yeon to nonresident of Japan, a nonesident account) in the Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency (or, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or U.S. dollars London or another place outside Australia and (except as otherwise provided in paragraph below) the United States) provided that if at any time such payments cannot be so made, then payments will be made outside Australia and (except as otherwise vided in paragraph below) the United States in such other manner as the Issuer may determine and notify in accordance with Condition Offic. Payments in euro in respect of definitive Bearer Notes will be made by transfer to a euro account outside Aliastanad (except as otherwise

provided in paragraph(d) below) the United States (or any other account outside Australia and (except as otherwise provided in paragraph (all) hollow) the United States to which euro may be transferred) specified by the payee.

(b) Payments in respect of Registered Notes

Payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes (whether or not in global form) will (subject as provided in this Condition) be made against presentation and surrender of such Registered Notes at the specifiedice outside Australia of the Registrar by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency. Payments of interest in respect of Registered Notes will (subject as provided in this @ndition) be made by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency and posted on the business day in the city in which the Registrar has its specified office immediatelyipgeced the relevant due date to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing on the register of holders of the Registered Notes maintained by the Registrar (the "Register") (i) where in global form, at the close of bluesiness day (being for this purpose a day on which Euroclear and Clearstreamembourg are open for business) before the relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive form, at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteentlayd is a business day) before the relevant due date (the "Record Date") at his address shown on the register on the Record Date. Upon application of the holder to the specified office of the Registrar not less than three business days in the city in which the Registrar has its specified office before the due date for any payment in respect of a Registered Note, the payment of principal and/or interest may be made (in the case of payment of principal against presentation and surrender of the relevant Registrete as provided above) by transfer on the due date to an account in the Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency subject to the provisions of the following two seemes. If the Specified Currency is Australian dollars, payment will be made (in the case of a transfer to a bank account) by transfer to an account in London or another place outside Australia and, if the Specified Currency is Yen, payment will be made the case of payment to a normalident of Japan) by cheque drawn on, or by transfer to a menident account. If the Specified Currency is euro, payment will be made in euro to a euro account outside Australia (or any other account outside Australia towhich euro may be redited ortransferred, as the case may, bespecified by the payee.

(c) Payments in respect of global Bearer Notes

- (1) Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any global Bearer Note will (subject as proved below) be made in the manner specified in the relevant global Note against presentation and endorsement or surrender, as the case may be, of such global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside Australia. A record of each payment made surch global Note, distinguishing between any payment of principal and interest, will be made on such global Note by the Paying Agent to which such global Note is presented for the purpose of making such payment, and such record shall (save in the caseanffest error) be conclusive evidence that the payment in question has been made.
- (2) The holder of a global Bearer Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order, the holder of such global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes must look solelyto Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of the relevant global Note. Subject to Condition no person other than the holder of

a global Bearer Net shall have any claim against the Issuer in respect of any payments due on that global Note.

(d) Payments of interest in U.S. dollars in respect of Bearer Notes

Notwithstanding the foregoing, payments of interest in U.S. dollars in respect of Bearer Notes will only be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States (including the States and District of Columbia and its possessions)) (1) if (A) the Issuer shall have appointed Pagents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of interest on the Bearer Notes in themea provided above when due, (B) payment of the full amount of such interest at all such specified offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (C) such payment is then perteid under United States law and (2) at the option of the relevant holder if such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

(e) Payments subject to applicable laws

Payments in respect of the Notes will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in any jurisdiction, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9 and (ii) any withholding or deduction required putest to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the (Orode) regulations thereunder or any official interpretations thereof) ornaterigovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof (or any law implementing such an intergovernmental agreement) ectively referred to as "FATCA,") and any such amounts withheld or detailed will be treated as paid for all purposes under the Notes, and no additional amounts will be paid on or in respect of the Notes with respect to any such withholding or deduction.

(f) Unmatured Coupons and Talons

- (1) Fixed Rate Notes in definitive bearer formath(er than Long Maturity Notes (as defined in subparagrap(2)) and save as provided in Condition(e)) should be presented for redemption together with all unmatured Coupons (which expression shall include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of **s**aldmich will have matured on or before the relevant redemption date) appertaining thereto, failing which, the amounts of any missing unmatured Coupons (or, in the case of payment of principal not being made in full, that proportion of the aggregate amountum missing unmatured Coupons that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal amount due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Any amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupons at any time in the period expiring 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condimental for the payment of such principal, whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void pursuant to Condition 10 or, if later, five years from the due date for payment of such Coupon. Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive bearer form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupainsrespect of any such Talons will be made or issued, as the case may be.
- (2) Upon the due date for redemption of any Floating Rate Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive bearer form, any unmatured Coupons or Talons relating to such Note (whether or not attiched) shall become void and no payment or exchange, as the case may be, shall be made in respect of them. Where any such Note is presented for

redemption without all unmatured Coupons or Talons relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the **prision** of such indemnity as the Issuer may require. A Long Maturity Note is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Fixed Interest Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Note.

(g) Payments due on notation days

If any date for payment of principal, interest or any other payment in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon is not a business day, then the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment at the place of presentation of the amount due until either (A) if the Payment Business Convention is specified as Following Business Day Convention in the applicable Final Terms, the next following business day or (B) if the Payment Business Day Convention is specified as Modified Following Business Day Convention in the applicable Finalms, the next day which is a business day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event the holder shall be entitled to such payment at the place of presentation on the immediately preceding business day (in each case, unterest or other sum in respect of any such postponed payment.

If any date for payment of principal, interest or any other amount in respect of any Registered Note is nota business day, then the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment, in the case of principal, at the place of presentation or, in the case of interest or any other amount, by transfer to an account specified by the holder until either (A) if FollowBusiness Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the next following business day or (B) if Modified Following Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the next day which is a business day unless it woulkebyefall into the next calendar month, in which event the holder shall be entitled to payment at the place of presentation or to such account as applicable on the immediately preceding business day (in each case, unless otherwise specified in the applidabFinal Terms) and shall not be entitled to any interest or other sum in respect of any such postponed payment.

In this Condition "business day" means, subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms:

- (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange exchange exchange and foreign are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:
 - (A) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation:
 - (B) any Additional Financial Centréother han TARGET2) specified in the applicable Final Termsand
 - (C) if TARGET2 is specified as an Additional Financial Centre in the applicable Final Terms a day on which TARGET2 is openind
- (ii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency dthereturo, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which TARGET2 is open.
- (h) Payment of accrued interest

If the due date for redemption of any interest bearing Bearer Note in definitive form is not a due date for the payment of interestating thereto, interest accrued in respect of such Note from, and including, the last preceding due date for the payment of interest (or, if none, from the Interest Commencement Date) will be paid only against surrender (or, in the case of part payment, presentation and endorsement) of such Note.

(i) Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg (or any other Paying Agent notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition or the purposes of this paragraph) in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet in respect of the Bearer Note in definitive form to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 0. Each Talon shall, for the process of these Conditions, be deemed to mature on the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in the Coupon sheet in which that Talon was included on issue matures.

(j) Initial Paying Agents

The initial Principal Paying Agent and the otheritial Paying Agents in respect of this Series of Notes are set out below. If any additional Paying Agents are appointed in connection with any Series, the names of such Paying Agents will be specifical Terms.

The Issuer ma at any time vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint additional or other Paying Agents, provided that it will, so long as any of the Notes of this Series is outstanding, maintain:

- (i) a Principal Paying Agent,
- (ii) a Paying Agent (whicknews be the Principal Paying Agent) having a specified office in a leading financial centre in Europænd
- (iii) so long as any Notes of this Series are admitted to the official list dunited Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") and to trading orthe London Stock Exchange plc's market for listed securities or on another stock exchange, a Paying Agent (which may be the Principal Paying Agent) having a specified office in London or other place as may be required by that stock exchange

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in paragraph of this Condition. Notice of any variation, termination or change in Paying Agents will be given to the Notes of the Notes of the Issuer in accordance with Condition

(k) All payments in respect of the Notes in RMB will be made solely by credit to a RMB account maintained by the payee at a bank in Hong Konguch other financial centre(s) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms as RMB Settlement Centrie(s) accordance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines issued from time to time (including all applicable laws and regulations with respect to the settlement of RMB in Hongok carray relevant RMB Settlement Centre(s)

(I) RMB Currency Event

If "RMB Currency Event" is specified as being applicable the applicable Final Terms and a RMB Currency Event, as determined by the Issuer acting in good faith, exists on a date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon, the Issuer's obligation to make a payment in RMB under the terms of the Notes may be replaced by an obligation to pay such

amount in the Relevant Currency converted using the Spot Rate for the relevant Rate Calculation Date.

Upon the occurrence of a RMB Currency Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with Conditionstating the occurrence of the RMB Currency Event, giving details thereof and the action proposed traken in relation thereto.

For the purpose of this Condition(I) and unless stated otherwise in the applicable Final Terms: "Governmental Authority" means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, adhistrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong;

"Rate Calculation Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange) in Sydney, Hong Kong, London and New York City;

"Rate Calculation Date" means the day which is two Rate Calculation Business Days before the due date of the levant payment under the Notes;

"Relevant Currency" means U.S. dollars or such other currency as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"RMB Currency Events" means any one of RMB Illiquidity, RMB Non-Transferability and RMB Inconvertibility;

"RMB Illiquidity" means the general RMB exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient RMB in order to make a payment under the Notes, as determined by the Issuer in a commercially reasonable mannein follo consultation with two independent foreign exchange dealers of international repute active on the RMB exchange market in Hong Kong;

"RMB Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amounted in respect of the Notes into RMB on any payment date at the general RMB exchange market in Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Athority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond the control of the Issuer, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"RMB Non-Transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to deliver RMB between accounts inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong (including where the RMB clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Kong is disrupted or suspended), other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless swchrube or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series and it is impossible for the Issuer due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Spot Rate" means, unless specified otherwise in the applicable Final Terms, the spot CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Renminbi in the ever counter RMB exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement in two Rate Calculation Business Days, as determined by the MB Calculation Agent at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Rate Calculation Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a redefiverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF. If neither rate is available, the MB Calculation Agent shall determine the rate taking into consideration all available information which RMB Calculation Agent deems relevant, including pricing information obtained from the RMB non

deliverable exchange market in Hong Kong or elsewhere and the CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate in the PRC domestic foreign exchange market.

8 [*This Condition is no longer applicable*]

9 Taxation

All payments of, or in respect of, principal and interest on the Notes so Statiles by or on behalf of the Issue will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed or levied by or on behalf of any Tang Jurisdiction unless such Taxes are required by law to be withheld or deducted. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts of, or in respect of, principal and/or interest as will result (after deduction of the Taxes) in payment to the soof the Notes of this Series and/or the Coupons relating thereto of the amounts which would otherwise have been payable in respect of the Notes of this Series or, as the case may be, Coupons relating thereto, except that no such additional amounts shabe payable with respect to any Note of this Series or Coupon relating thereto:

- (a) the holder of which subject to such Taxes in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his being connected with a Taxing Jurisdiction other than by reason only of thieghof the Note or Coupon or the receipt of payment thereon;
- (b) the holder of whichs an associate (as that term is defined in section 128F of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Australian Tax Act")) of the Issuer andhe payment being sought is not, or will not be, exempt from interest withholding tax because of section 128F(6) of the Australian Tax Act;
- (c) presented for paymentore than 30 days after the Relevant Date, except to the extent that the holder thereof wouldhave been entitled to such additional amount on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days;
- (d) the holder of whichcould lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such deduction or withholding by complying with any statutory queirements in force at the present time or in the future or by making a declaration of processidence or other claim or filing for exemption

For the avoidance of doubt, in no event will the Issuer, Paying Agent or any other person be required to pay any aditional amounts in respect of the Notes for, or on account of, any withholding or deduction required pursuant to FATCA.

The "Relevant Date" in relation to any Note or Coupon of this Series means whichever is the later of:

- (i) the date on which payment in resp of such Note or Coupon first becomes due and payable; or
- (ii) if the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Note or Coupon has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such date, the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders of this Series in accordance with Conditate auch moneys have been so received.

The "Taxing Jurisdiction" in relation to any Note or Coupon of this Series means the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subdivision or anythority thereof or therein having power to tax.

References in these Conditions to principal and interest shall be deemed also to refer (as appropriate) (i) to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Conditi(iii) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, to the Amortised Face Amount and (iii) to any premium which may be payable in respect of the Notes.

10 Prescription

Claims for payment of principal under the Notes (whether in bearer or registered form) shall be prescribed upon the expiry of 10 yeaand claims for payment of interest (if any) in respect of the Notes (whether in bearer or registered form) shall be prescribed upon the expiry of five years, in each

case from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condisportherefor subject to the provious of Condition 7. There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 7.

11 Events of Default

If any one or more of the flowing events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur and be continuing:

- (a) the Issuer fails to pay the principal of the Notes of this Series when due or fails to pay any interest due thereon within 14 days of the due date; or
- (b) the Issuer defaults in performae or observance of or compliance with any of its other undertakings set out in the Notes of this Series which default is incapable of remedy or which, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 30 days after notice of such default shall have been giverto the Issuer by a Noteholder; or
- (c) [This paragraph is no longer applicable];
- (d) the Issuer becomes insolvent or it is unable to pay its debts as they mature or the Issuer applies for or consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator or receiver **btsther** or the whole or any part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or takes any proceeding under any law for a readjustment or deferment of its obligations or any part thereof or makes or enters into a general assignment **arran**gement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; or
- (e) any law is passed the effect of which is to dissolve the Issuer or the Issuer ceases to carry on a general banking business in the Commonwealth of Australia or the Issuer ceases to be authorised to carry on a general banking business within the Commonwealth of Australia,

then any holder of a Note may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by Ptinecipal Paying Agent, declare any Note held by it to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the amount provided in, or calculated in accordance with, Core (ifray) to the date of repayment, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition, no Event of Default in respect of the Notes shall occur solely on account of any failure by the Isturperform or observe any of its obligations in relation to, or the taking of any proceeding or the making or entering into of any assignment, arrangement or composition in respect of, any share, note or other security or instrument constituting Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital (each as defined by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority from time to time).

12 [*This Condition is no longer applicable*].

13 Meetings of Noteholders; Modifications of Conditions; Waiver

The Agency Agreement contains provisionous convening meetings of holders of the Notes of this Series to consider any matters affecting their interests, including modifications of the terms and conditions of the Notes of this Series and the Agency Agreement. Any such modification must be authorised by an Extraordinary Resolution which is defined in the Agency Agreement to mean a resolution passed by a majority consisting of not less than-thuraeters of the votes cast at a meeting of the holders of the Notes of this Series duly convened and Theteloquorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes of this Series for the time being outstanding or, at any adjourned meeting, one onrore persons being or representing the holders of the Notes of this Series whatever the nominal amount of Notes of this Series so held or represented; provided that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain terms, inclanding eduction or cancellation of, or modification of the method of calculating, the amount payable in respect of the

Notes of this Series, any modification of, or of the method of calculating, the date of payment of principal or interest in respect of the otes of this Series or any modification of the currency of payment of the Notes of this Series or the Coupons relating thereto, the quorum will be one or more persons holding or representing not less than thirds, or at any adjourned such meeting, less than onethird, in nominal amount of Notes of this Series for the time being outstanding. The Agency Agreement provides that (i) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the Agency Agreement by a majority consisting ot less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution, or (ii) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all the holders of the Notes, shall, in each case, be effective as an Extraordinary Resolution of the holders of the Notes of this Series (whether present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution) and on all the holders of Coupons relating thereto.

The Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer may agree without the consent of the holders of the Notes of this Series or the holders of Coupons relating thereto to any modifications to the terms and conditions of the Notes of this Series or the Coupons inegathereto or to the provisions of the Agency Agreement which irthe opinion of the Issue are of a formal, minor or technical nature, are made to correct a manifest error or (not being such a modification as is mentioned in the proviso to the third sentence of the preceding paragraph) are not prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Notes of this Series.

14 Substitution

- (1) The Issuer may, without the consent or sanction of the Noteholders, the Couponholders, the Talonholders, agree to the substitution place of the Issuer as the principal debtor under the Notes of any other corporation (hereinafter in this Condition referred to as the "Substituted Company") provided that:
 - a deed poll and such other documents (if any) shall be executed by the **institute** a Substituted Company as may be necessary to give full effect to the substitution (together, the "Documents") and (without limiting the generality of the foregoing) pursuant to which the Substituted Company shall undertake in favour of each Noteholder Couponholder and Talonholder to be bound by the word and the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant as if the Substituted Company had been named in the Notes, the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant as the principal deb in respect of the Notes in place of the Issuer (or any previous substitute);
 - (b) any applicable solicited credit rating of the Substituted Company is the same or higher than any such rating of the Issuer immediately prior to the substitution;
 - (c) each stock exhange or market on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed in writing that following the proposed substitution of the Substituted Company the Notes will continue to be listed on such stock exchange or market;
 - (d) (without prejudice to the generality paragraphs(1)(i) and (ii) of this Condition) where the Substituted Company is incorporated, domiciled or resident in a territory other than the Commonwealth of Australia, an undertaking or covenant shall be given by the Substituted Company in terms esponding to the provisions of Condition 9 with the addition to or substitution for the references to the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subvision thereof or authority thereof or therein having power to tax of references to that other depriter any political sub-division thereof or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax in which the Substituted Company is incorporated, domiciled or resident and Condition shall be modified so that references to such latter territory defrecato or substituted for the Commonwealth of Australia;

- the Documents shall contain a warranty and representation by the Substituted Company that (A) the Substituted Company has obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents esseary for or in connection with the assumption by the Substituted Company of liability as principal debtor in respect of, and of its obligations under, the Documents and the Notes; (B) such approvals and consents are at the time of substitution in forther and effect; and (C) the obligations assumed by the Substituted Company under the Documents are legal, valid and binding in accordance with their respective terms;
- (f) the Issuer shall have delivered or procured the delivery to the Principal Paying Agent and the Registrar a copy of a legal opinion addressed to the Issuer and the Substituted Company from a leading firm of lawyers in the country of incorporation of the Substituted Company to the effect that the Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Company, such opinion to be dated not more than seven days prior to the date of substitution of the Substituted Company for the Issuer and to be available for inspection by Noteholders, Couponholders, and Talonholders at the spified offices of the Principal Paying Agent and the relevant Registrar;
- (g) the Issuer shall have delivered or procured the delivery to the Principal Paying Agent and the Registrar a copy of a legal opinion addressed to the Issuer and the Substituted Companyfrom a leading firm of Australian lawyers to the effect that the Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer, such opinion to be dated not more than seven days prior to the date of substitution of the Substituted Company for the Issuer and to be available for inspection by Noteholders, Couponholders and Talonholders at the specified offices of the Principal Paying Agent and the relevant Registrar;
- (h) the Issuer shall have delivered or procured the delivery to the Principal Pageints A and the Registrar a copy of a legal opinion addressed to the Issuer and the Substituted Company from a leading firm of English lawyers to the effect that the Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the parties thereto under hEnglis law, such opinion to be dated not more than seven days prior to the date of substitution of the Substituted Company for the Issuer and to be available for inspection by Noteholders, Couponholders and Talonholders at the specified offices of the PrincipaPaying Agent and the relevant Registrar; and
- (i) if the Substituted Company is incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales, the Substituted Company shall have appointed a process agent in England to receive service of process on its behalfeliation to any legal action φroceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes or the Documents.
- (1) Upon the execution of the Documents and compliance with the requirements referred to in paragraph(1) of this Condition, the Substituted Companyalshbe deemed thenceforth to be named in the Notes as principal debtor in place of the Issuer (or of any previous substitute under these provisions), and the Notes shall thereupon be deemed to be amended in such manner as shall be necessary to give effecteto. The execution of the Documents and compliance with such requirements shall operate to release the Issuer (or such previous substitute as aforesaid) from all of its obligations in respect of the Notes.
- (2) The Documents shall be deposited with and heplothe Principal Paying Agent and the Registrar for so long as any Note remains outstanding and for so long as any claim made against the Substituted Company by any Noteholder, Couponholder or Talonholder in relation to the Notes or the Documents shall have been finally adjudicated, settled or discharged. The Substituted Company shall acknowledge in the Documents the right of every Noteholder,

Couponholder and Talonholder to the production of the Documents for the enforcement of any of the Notes or the Documents.

(3) Not later than 14 days after the execution of the Documents and compliance with the requirements referred to in paragra(dh) of this Condition, the Substituted Company shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition

15 Replacement of Notes and Coupons

If any Note (including a global Note) or Coupon is mutilated, defaced, stolen, destroyed or lost, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent on payment by the claimant of such costs as may bincurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacement Notes or Coupons will be issued.

16 Notices

- (a) All notices regarding Registered Notes of this Series (if any) will be valid if mailed to the holders (or the first named of joint holders) at their respective addresses in the register of holders and will be deemed to have been given on the fourth weekdaytated attendance.
- (b) All notices regarding the Bearer Notes of this Series (if any) will be valid if published in one leading London daily newspaper (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if this is not practicable, one other English language it anewspaper with general circulation in Europe and shall, if published more than once, be deemed to be given on the date of the first such publication. Holders of Coupons appertaining to Bearer Notes in definitive form of this Series will be deemed to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of the Bearer Notes of this Series in accordance with this paragraph (b).
- (c) Until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as all the global Notes for this Series are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, be substituted, in relation only to this Series, for such publication as aforesaid the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourgappropriate, for communication by it or them to the holders of the Notes of this Series. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes of this Series on the second day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.
- (d) Notwithstanding paragrap(h) of this Condition16, in any case where the identity and addresses of all the holders of Bearer Notes in definitive form is known to the Issuer, notices to such should be given individually by recorded delivery mail to such addresses and will be deemed to have been given when received at such addresses.
- (e) Notices to be given to the Issuer by any holder of Notes under Cond(tito) shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relative definitive Note or Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of definitive Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of definitive Registered Notes). Whilst any Notes are represented by a global blotton behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, such notices may be given by a holder of any Notes so represented to the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar via Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner alse Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg may approve for this purpose.

17 Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the holders of the Notices of to Series or the Coupons (if any) relating thereto to create and issue further Notes ranking pari passu in all respects (or in all respects save for the Issue Date or Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, the Issue Price and the amount of thretfpayment of interest (if any) on such further Notes) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Notes of a particular Series (including the Notes of this Series).

18 Disapplication of Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of any Note but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

19 Governing Law

The Notes of this Series, Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and any nontractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes of this Series, Coupons and Talons (if any)atiedy thereto, the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with, English law.

The courts of each of England and the Commonwealth of Australia are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which mayrisse out of or in connection with the Notes of this Series and Coupons and Talons relating thereto, including any dispute as to their existence, validity, interpretation, performance, breach or termination or the consequences of their nullity and any teispedating to any nonontractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes of this Series and Coupons and Talons relating thereto and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes of this Series and Coupons and Talons relating thereto and anycommunicatual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes of this Series and Coupons and Talons relating thereto may be brought in such courts.

The Issuer has appointed the General Maṇa@erope from time to time of the Issuer located at its London branch (currently at New Ludgate, 60 Ludgate Hill, Londom C4M 7AW, United Kingdom) to receive service of process in any action which may be instituted in England based on any of such Notes, Coupons or Talons (including any action relating to any-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with any of such Notes, Coupons or Talons).

20 CMU Notes

Where the Notes are CMU Notes, **she**Conditions shall be modified as specified in **t**Cisndition20 and to the extent any provision of **she**Conditions is otherwise inconsistent with the terms of this Condition20 it shall be deemed to have been modified accordingly.

References in the Conditions to the Principal Paying Agent, the Registra Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed as a reference to the CMU lodging and paying agent appointed in relation to the CMU Notes as specified in the applicable Final Terms (the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent").

References in the Conditions to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed as a reference to the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "CMU Service").

In this Condition "CMU Notes" means Notes denominated in any currency which the CMU Service accepts for settlement from time to time that are, or are intended to be, initially cleared through the CMU Service.

Payments

If a Note is held through thCMU Service, any payment that is made in respect of such Note shall be made at the direction of the bearer or the registered holder to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in account the rules of the CMU Service (the "CMU Rules") at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the CMU Rules) or any other relevant notification the CMU Service (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the case of manifestherror) ("CMU Accountholders").

The CMU Accountholders at the direction of the bearer or the registered holder of a Note held through the CMU Service shall be the only persons entitled to receive payments in respect of such Note and the Issuer will be dischargeby payment to, or to the order of, such CMU Accountholder, in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of the CMU Service as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of CMU Notes must look solely to the CMWicSetor its share of each payment so made by the Issuer to the order of the bearer or the registered holder of such Note.

Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes, which indude making a profit. If, in respect of an issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Summary Information

Commonwealth Bank of Australia is a public companthwin ordinary share capital A\$38,015million at 31 December 2018. The Bank is governed by, and operates in accordance with, itsit Otions, the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules of the Australian Securities Exchange (which constitute the teorgovernance regime of Australia), and certain provisions of the Commonwealth Banks Act 1959 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "1959 Act"). The objectives of the Issuer include providing integrated financial services including retail, business and ititistional banking, superannuation, life insurance, general insurance, funds management, broking services and finance company activities. The Bank was incorporate bublic company 17 April 1991 in the Australian Capital Territory and has Austra Barsiness Number 48 123 123 124. Its registered office is Ground Floor, Tower 1, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2000, telephone number +61 2 9118 1339. The Bank and its subsidiaries together provide a wide range of banking, financial and related services in Australia.

At 31 December 2018, the Bank and its controlled entities had total assets of A\$980,430 million, deposits and other public borrowings of A\$637,010 million and total regulatory capital of A\$70,450 million. Net profit after income tax(statutory basis), for the half year ended 31 December 2018, was A\$4,599.million

Business Overview

The Bank, with a fulltime equivalent staff(including staff from discontinued operations) 44,870 at 31 December 2018, provides a comprehensive range integrated financial services, including retail banking, premium banking, business banking, institutional banking, funds management, superanninus dirance investment and share broking oducts and services, primarily in Australia and New Zealand of the bound of the diraction operations throughout Asia, and in the United Kingdom, Malta and the United States act that as at 30 April 2019, the Bank was Australia's largest bank in terms of housing loans and retail (household) deposits is sourced from APRA monthly Bain Statistics April 2019 (issued 3 May 2019) (Tables 2 and 4). The Bank confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by APRA, no facts have been or integrated would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

On 13 June 2000, the Bank acquired 100 per. cdr@olonial, significantly increasing its wealth management capabilities. The Bank conducts its operations primarily through the wing business units:

Retail Banking Services

Retail Banking Services provides home loan, consumer finance and retail deposit products the CBA and Aussie brandsand servicing to all retail bank customers and -redationship managed small business customers. In addition, commission is received for the distribution of Wealth Management products through the retail distribution network.

Business & Private Banking

Business Private Bankingserves the banking needs of business, corporate and agribus mers across the full range of financial services solutions, as well as providing banking and advisory services for high net worth individuals. It also provides equities trading and margin lending services through its CommSec.business

Institutional Banking and Markets

Institutional Banking and Marketserves the commercial and wholesale banking needs of large Corporate, Institutional and Government clients across a full range of financial services solutions including financial and capital markets, transaction banking, working capital and risk management through dedicated product and industry specialists is responsible for the manufacture of banking products, including payments and markets infrastructure, distributed through Retail Banking Services Bausiness & Private Banking channels as well as across a select international network of locations

Wealth Management

Wealth Management provides Superannuation, Investment, Retirement and Insurance products and services including financial planning whichelp to secure and enhance the financial wellbeing of more than 2.3 million customers. In addition, as a global asset management business, it manages investments on behalf of institutional investors and pension funds, wholesale distributors and platformscial advisers and their clients.

New Zealand

New Zealandincludes the Banking, Funds Management and businesses operating in New Zealand under ASB and Sovereign brands

Bankwest

Bankwest operates in the domestic market, providing lendi**ngtaid**, business and rural customers as well as a full range of deposit products. While more than half of its 1 million customers are based in Western Australia, its offers full banking services across the country

International Financial Services

The International Financial Services which incorporates Indonesian retail and business banking operations, investments in Chinese and Vietnamese banks, a joint venture Chinese life insurance business, life insurance and investment management operations in Instianend a financial services technology business in South Africa. It does not include the Business & Private Banking, Institutional Banking and Markets and Colonial First State Global Asset Management businesses in Asia

Other Divisions

Corporate Centrencludes the results of unallocated support functions of Group such as Treasury, Investor Relations, Group Strategy, Marketing and Secretariat. It also includes vgride pelimination entries arising on consolidation, centrally raised provisions and external revenue and expenses

Recent Developments

Legal Proceedings

On 3 August 2017, AUSTRAC commenced civil penalty proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia against the Bank, concerning contraventions of four provisions of ATMEL/CTF Act. On 20 June 2018 the Federal Court of Australia approved the agreement between the Bank and AUSTRAC to resolve these proceedings Accordingly, the Bank recognised a A\$700 million expense in its financial statements for atheial year ended 30 June 2018.

The Bank has also acted to strengthen financial crime capabilities more broadly, and has invested significantly recognising the crucial role that it plays, including through its Program of Action with coverage across all aspects of financial crime (including AML/CTF, sanctions and arbitribery and corruption) and all business units.

As a result of the Bank's investment in its financial crimes environment, the Bank is today in a better position to ensure that it complies with its AML/CTF obligations in deiteg; deterring and reporting financial crime. However, there is still a significant amount of work to be dorner Bank is committed to ensuring that the necessary work is done as quickly as possible.

The Group may in the future be subject to additioned ulatory actions, litigation, investigations and governmental proceedings emanating from the conduct the subject of the proceedings, which could result in penalties and costs, reputational damage, contractual damage claims, class actions or other interested the Bank's stakeholders, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

Although the Bank provides updates to AUSTRAC and the Group's other regulators on the Program of Action, there is no assurance that AUSTRAC or the Group's other regulators will agree that the Group's Program of

Action will be adequate or that the Program of Action will effectively enhance the Group's compliance programs.

In Septembe 2017, following the commencement of the civil proceedings against the Bank by AUSTRAC, ASIC launched an investigation in relation the Bank's disclosure in respect of the allegations raised in connection with the AUSTRAC proceedings. ASIC is investigating, among othings, whether the officers and directors at the Bank complied with their obligations under the Australian Corporations Act. The Bank continues to engage with ASIC in respect of the investigation and respond to requests made by ASIC. It is currently not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of this investigation, if any, on the Bank. The Bank has provided for the costs expected to be incurred in relation to this investigation.

On 28 August 2017, APRA announced it would establish Prudential Inquy. The Prudential Inquiry considered, amongst other things, whether the Group's organisational structure, governance, financial objectives, remuneration and accountability frameworks conflicted with sound risk management and compliance outcomes. Apanel was appointed on 8 September 2017 to conduct the Prudential Inquiry, comprising of Dr John Laker AO, Jillian Broadbent AO and Professor Graeme Samuel AC (the "Panel").

Following the Prudential InquiryAPRA released the inal Report The Final Report made number of findings regarding the complex interplay of organisational and cultural factors will be in Bank and the need for enhanced management of informancial risks. In response to the Final Repthre, Bankhas acknowledged that it will implement all of the recommendations and has agreed to adjust its minimum capital requirements by an additional A\$1 billion (risk weighted assets A\$12.5 billion) until such time as the recommendations are implemented to APRA's satisfaction. The effect of this adjustment equates to 28 basis points of CET1 capital and reduce the Banks CET1 ratio asat 30 September 2018 from 10.3 per cent. to 10 per cent.

The Bankhas entered into an Enforceable Undertaking under which Banks remedial action plan (the "Remedial Action Plan") in response to the Final Report is monitored by APRA.

The Remedial Action Pah provides a detailed program change outlining how the Bankwill improve the way it runs its business, manages risk, and works with regulators. The Remedial Action probletices a comprehensive assurance framework, with Promontory Australasia (Sydney) having been appointed as the independent reviewer and is required to report to APRA on the progress regularly, with the first report being submitted on 28 Septemb 2018 and the second report on 20 December 2018. Both these reports have been released by Bank Promontory Australasia (Sydney) has noted that the Remedial Action Plan program of work remains on track and Banks commitment to implementing the Prudential Inquiry's recommendations in a timely and comprehensive way continued to be strong with all milestones on schedule to be delivered by the due dates. A third report was submitted to APRA on 30 April 2019. This report has yet to be released by Bank.

While the Bank is not currently aware of any other enforcement action by other domestic or foreign regulators relating to the allegations raised by AUSTRAC (or similar matters) as of the date **Brodgiss** mme Circular there can be no assurance that **B**ank will not be subject to such enforcement actions in the future. The settlement in connection with the proceedings launched by AUSTRAC, or any other formal or informal proceeding or investigation by other government or regulatory agencies (domessire ign), may result in additional litigation or proceedings by other regulators or private parties.

This risk is evidenced by the shareholder class action proceeding which was commenced in the Federal Court of Australia on 9 October 2017 alleging breachêthe Bank's continuous disclosure obligations and misleading and deceptive conduct in relation to the subject matter of the civil penalty proceedings brought by AUSTRAC. It is alleged that the Bank's shareholders who acquired an interest in the Bank's ordinary shares between 1 July 2015 and 3 August 2017 suffered lossused by the alleged conduct.

A similar subject matter shareholder class action was filed on 29 June 2018 by law firm Phi Finney McDonald on behalf of a group of shareholders who acquire interest in the Bank's ordinary shares between 16 June 2014 and 3 August 2017.

The Bank intends to vigorously defend both shareholder class actions. At this time it is not possible to reliably estimate the possible financial impact on the Group of schections. Accordingly, no loss provision has been made, although the Bank has provided for legal costs expected to be incurred to defend these claims.

Defence of Superannuation Class Action

On 9 October 2018, Slater and Gordon Lawyers filed a classnadtion against the Bank and CFSIL in the Victorian Registry of the Federal Court of Australia. The method is the second respondent to this claim. The claim relates to investment in cash and deposit options (which at an and deposit products) in Colonial First State FirstChoice Superannuation Trust and Commonwealth Essential Super. The main allegation is that members with these options in the funds received lower interest rates on them than they would have had CFSIL put them in equivalent produs with the highest interest rates obtainable on the market. It is alleged that the Bank was involved in CFSIL's breaches as trustee of the funds and CFSIL's breaches as Responsible Entity of the underlying managed investment schemes. It is currently ones to determine the ultimate impact of these claims, if any, on the Group. Both Break and CFSIL deny the allegations articled a defence to the claim. However Slater and Gordon Lawyers have made further amendments to the claime Bandk and CFSIL filed a defence to the amended claim 7 June 2019. The amendments introduce additional allegations relating to another term deposit and a breach of trust in respect of adviser commissioners estimated to be incurred in the defence of the claim.

The Royal Commission

The Royal Commission was established on 14 December 2017 and was authorised to inquire into misconduct by financial service entitiesir(cluding the Bank). Seven rounds of hearings into misconduct in the banking and financial services industry were held throughout 2018, covering a variety of topics including consumer and business lending, financial advice, superannuation, insurancepathidyaround. The Royal Commission's final report was delivered on 1 February 2019. The final report included 76 policy recommendations to the Australian Government and findings in relation to the case studies investigated during the hearings, with raofiumbe referrals being made to regulators for misconduct by financial institutions, which is expected to result in heightened levels of enforcement action across the industry.

The 76 recommendations covered many of the Bank's business areas, and also canvassed the role of the regulators and the approach to be taken to customer focus, culture and remuneration. The recommendations regarding the role of regulators, in particular the 'litigate first' approach for breaches of financial services law, will likely I ead to a change in the Bank's regulator relationships and the Bank can expect an increase of activity, costs and reputational impact in this area. The Bank released a statement to the ASX on 8 March 2019 welcoming the final report and committing to actionstelliver on the recommendations.

Other industry-wide regulatory reforms and political developments

Examples of significant regulatory reform under development in Australia inalude iew of Open Banking, APRA's proposals to revise the capital frameword ADIs and Treasury Laws Amendment (Design and Distribution Obligations and Product Intervention Mount 2019.

In late 2017, the Australian Government announced it would legislate an ecoviden consumer Data Right to Open Banking. The Australian Government hadecided to phase in Open Banking with major banks expected to make data available on credit debit card, deposit and transaction accounts from July 2019, before expanding to other banking products (e.g. mortgange) sharing of consiner data between banks and accredited third parties (at the direction of the consumer). The consumer are intended to increase competition in the financial sector and improve customer outcomes. Consume Right laws have not yet been passed by the

Federal Parliamentin Australia Increased competition resulting from Open Banktimagy adversely impact the Issue's business and financial condition.

APRA proposal for increasing the loss-absorbing capacity of ADIs

On 8 November 2018 the Group noted the ascelent the discussion paper by APRA (the "APRA Paper") on the loss-absorbing capacity of DIs.

The APRA Paper outlines APRA's proposed approach for loss-absorbing capacity, consistent with the Financial System Inquiry recommendation to implement a framewoufficient to facilitate the orderly resolution of Australian ADIs.

The APRA Paper recommends that the Australian regime be established under the existing capital framework, rather than by introducing new forms of leads sorbing instruments.

For the four Australian major banks, including the Group, APRA proposes an increase in the total capital requirement of between four and five percentage poin (No. 1), with the requirements taking full effect from 2023. APRA further notes that it is anticipated that banks would satisfy this requirement predominantly with additional Tier 2 capital.

Based on the Bank's RWA of A\$445 billion as at31 Decembe2018, and all other things being equal, the additional four to five percentage points represents an increament are of approximately A\$18 billion to A\$22 billion of the Group's total capital. The Group expects that this requirement would result in a decrease in other forms of funding. The ultimate cost will be determined by market factors and the final/forakmissued by APRA.

It is expected that APRA will finalise its requirements in late 2019

Wealth Management and Mortgage Broking Businesses Update

On 14 March 2019, the Group advised of an update on its remediation and demerger plans for its wealth management and mortgage broking businesses. The update followed the release of the Group's full response to implementing the recommendations from the Royal Commission.

The Group is prioritising the implementation of these recommendations, refunding customtheresmediating past issues. Accordingly, the Group has suspended preparations for the demerger in order to support its focus on these priorities.

The Group remains committed to its strategy to become a simpler, better bank, including ultimately of the exit its wealth management and mortgage broking businesses.

Trading Update for the Quarter Ended 31 March 2019 – Net Profit

On 13 May 2019, the Group announced its results for the quarter ended 31 March 2019. These results included A\$714 million in pretax additional customer remediation provisions (A\$500 million post tax), which impacted the Group's net profit. Of these provisions, A\$704 million was recognised in operating expenses (continuing operations) and A\$10 million was recognised in discontinued atipes. Unaudited net profit after tax (statutory basis) was approximately A\$1.75 billion, with unaudited net profit after tax (cash basis) from continuing operations of approximately A\$1.70 billion, a decrease from approximately A\$2.30 billion and approximately A\$2.35 billion, being the simple average of the quarters ended 30 September 2018 and 31 December 2018, respectively. Unaudited net profit after tax (cash basis) from continuing operations decreased by 28 per cent.

The unaudited net profit after taxtatutory basis) and unaudited net profit after tax (cash basis) figures have been rounded to the nearest A\$50 million

Enforceable Undertaking accepted by the Australian Information Commissioner

On 27 June 201,9the Australian Information Commission amounced that it has accepted an Enforceable Undertaking (he "Undertaking") offered by the Bank The Undertaking underpins execution of further enhancements to the management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a management and retention of customer personal information with a managemen

The Undertakingfollows the Banks ongoing work to address two incidents; one relating to the disposal of magnetic data tapes containing historical customer statements; and the other relating to internal user access to certain systems and palications containing customer personal informatione Bankreported both incidents to the OAIC in 2016 and 2018 respectively and has since been working to address these incidents.

The Bankhas found no evidence to date, as a result of these incidentities tustomers' personal information was compromised, or that there have been any instances of unauthorised attrees.

The Banks commitments in the Undertakinginclude reviewing and implementing further enhancements

- internal privacy policies, procedures and record retention standards;
- internal user access controls on systems and applications that hold personal information; and
- the privacy risk management and monitoring processes that apply to service proviblerBaokand certainof its subsidiaries.

The Undertaking provides the Bankwith 90 days to develop and submit to the OAIC a work plan, and timetable of work that the Bankwill complete to meet its obligations under **the** dertaking

Financial Condition and Operating Results

The following tables set out certain consolidated summary financial data relating to the Bank. This data has been extracted without material adjustment from the published consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the financialyears ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 and the half years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. The financial data for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and for the half years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 have been restateprepriate in the published consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the half year ended 31 December 2018 to conform to the presentation in the current period. The financial data for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 which is referred to the Bank for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. The financial data for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 in the published consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the period ended 31 December 2017 have not been restated to conform to the presentation in the current period

	As at full year ended 30 June	
•	2018	2017
	Restated	As disclosed
	(in millions A\$)	
Balance Sheet		
Lendingasset ^(S)	743,744	732,225
Total assets	975,165	976,318
Deposits and other public borrowings	622,234	626,655
Shareholders' equity attributable to Equity holders of the Bank	67,306	63,114
Income Statement		
Net interest income	18,342	17,543
Other opeating income	6,788	7,843
Loan impairment expense	(1,079)	(1,095)
Operating expenses	(11,029)	(10,626)
Net profit before income tax	13,022	13,665
Income tax	(3,952)	(3,879)
Net profit after income tax from continuing operations	9,070	9,786
Non-controlling interests in continuing operations	(13)	(20)
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank from continuing operations	9,057	9,766
Net (loss)/profit after income tax from discontinued operation	278	166
Non-controlling interests in discrolinued operations	(6)	(4)
Net profit attributable to Equity holders of the Bank	9,329	9,928

	As at half year ended 31 December	
	2018 Restated	2017 Restated
	(in millions A\$)	
Balance Sheet		
Lending assets	753,560	736,538
Total assets	980,430	961,930
Deposits and other public borrowings	637,010	624,897
Shareholders' equity attributable to Equity holders of the Bank	68,025	65,537
Income Statement		
Net interest income	9,134	9,257
Other operating income	3,172	3,594
Loan impairment exense	(577)	(596)
Operating expenses	(5,317)	(5,458)
Net profit before income tax	6,412	6,797
Income tax	(1,831)	(2,033)
Net profit after income tax from continuing operations	4,581	4,764
Non-controlling interests in net profit after income taxrfr continuing operations	(6)	(6)
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank from continuing operations	4,575	4,758
Net profit after income tax from discontinued operations	28	151
Non-controlling interests in net profit after income tax from discontinued operations	(4)	(3)
Net profit attributable to Equity holders of the Bank	4,599	4,906

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Includes loans, bills discounted, other receivables and bank acceptances of customers.

⁽²⁾ Includes other banking income, net funds manageamentoperating income, and net insurance operating income

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Bank consists Aufine TemplemanJones (Chairman), Wendy Stops Shirish Apte and Catherine Livingstone

The charter of the Audit Committee incorporate sopices to ensure that the Committee is independent and effective, including the following:

- (i) the Audit Committee comprises at least three members whom must be independent executive directors. Committee members are to be financially literated between them are to have the accounting and financial expertise and sufficient understanding of the financial services industry toulfil its responsibilities;
- (ii) the chairman of the Audit Committee must not be the Chairman of the Board. The Risk Committee @airman will be a member of the Audit Committee, and the Audit Committee Chairman will be a member of the Risk Committee to assist with the flow of relevant information between the two Committees;
- (iii) meetings will be held at least six times per yæramore fequently if necessaryThe external auditor and the Commonwealth Bank Group's internal auditor (the "Bank Auditor") are invited to attend all meetings;
- (iv) management mayttendCommitteemeetingsat the invitation of the Committee Chairman.

 The Audit Committee will have free and unfettered access to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Executive Officer's direct reports, any other relevant internal and external party and information and may make any enquiries necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.
- (v) the Bank Auditor has a direct reporting line to the Audit Committee, while maintaining an administrative reporting line to the Chief Financial Officer; and
- (vi) the Audit Committe may obtain independent advice the Bank's expense, including by engaging and acceiving advice and recommendations from appropriate independent experts with prior approval of the Chairman of the Board.

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

- (i) reviewing significant accounting and financial repostiprocesses and issues, including changes to the accounting standards and regulatory requirements and their impact on the financial statements of the Group;
- (ii) reviewing and recommending to the Board for approval the half and/datl financial statements of the Group and any accompanying reports, following discussion with management and the external auditor;
- overseeing management's design and implementation of the Group's internal control framework and the processes for assessing the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls;
- reviewing the processes and controls that support the opinions provided in the cutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifications for the Group's half-year and fullyear financial reporting, and management's report on risk management and internal controls over financial reporting processes, including the disclosures made;
- (v) obtaining assurance over the effectiveness of the processes and controls adopted for the Group's financial reporting obligations to APRA from management and the external auditor and considering the adequacy of the assurances;
- (vi) recommending the appointment or removal of the external auditor to the **Bo**ard shareholder approval;

- (vii) reviewing and approving the scope and terms of the annual audit services ment, the engagement fee for the external auditorraudit and nor audit services and the rotation of external audit partners for the external auditor;
- (viii) assessing, at least annually, the adequacy, independence, and effectivenesscoops internal audit and providing feedback to management;
- (ix) approving the Group's annual internal audit plan, including any significant changes to it and overseeing progress against it;
- (x) assessing, at least annually, the performance, adequacy, effectiveness and indepentible external auditor, including against any auditor independence requirements arising under legal, regulatory, or accounting, requirements or the Group's policies;
- (xi) reviewing the annual audit plans of the external auditor;
- (xii) reviewing and recommending the Board for approval the disclosure relating to the provision of non-audit services provided by the external auditor (including whether the provision of non-audit services is compatible with auditor independence requirements) for inclusion in the annual report;
- (xiii) approving, on the recommendation of management, the appointment and the removal of the Bank Auditor
- (xiv) monitoring the timely resolution of significant internal control deficiencies identified by the Bank Auditor, the external auditor, management egulators;
- reviewing reports from management informing of significant incidents, themes and trends reported under the Speak Up Program, Group Whistleblower Policy and Group ribbetily and Corruption Policy, summarising the outcomes from investigation matters raised under the Speak Up Program and the Group Whistleblower Policy, and overseeing management's actions to investigate and address serious cases of reported fraud and/or unethical behaviour; and
- (xvi) considering any significant issues raiseduatitacommittee meetings of APRA regulated subsidiaries within the Group authorities within the Group which are regulated globally as reported to the dudit Committee Chain an and responding appropriately

Directors of Commonwealth Bank of Australia

The Board of the Bank consists of thirectors including the Chairma(nwho is a nonexecutive director) one executive director and non-executive directors with wide financial and commercial knowledge and experience (the "Board"). The Board of the Bank hairs place procedures declare and manage any potential conflicts of interest, including between Director's duties to the Bank, and their private interests or other duties. These procedures provide that a Director with a potential conflict will not receive which may involve a potential conflict of interest and will not be present during the discussion or decision on any matter involving that conflict. Accordingly, there are no potential conflicts of interest between the private interests or interest of the Directors and their duties to the Bank is: Ground Floor, Tower 1, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2000.

The members of the Bood are:

Catherine Livingstone AO, Chairman

Catherine has been Naon-Executive Director since March 2016 and was appointed Chairman on 1 January 2017. She is Chairman of the Nominations Committee, a member of the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee and the People & Remuneration Committee.

Catherine's a former Chairman of Telstra Corporation Limited and of the CSIROU was Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Cochlear Limited he has served on the Boards of Macquarie Group Limited, Goodman Felder Limited and Rural Press Limited. Streen former President of the Business Council Australia and the Australia Museum 2008, Catherine awarded Officer of the Order of Australia

Other Directorships and Interests: WorleyParsoimsitted, Saluda Medical Pty Ltd, University of Technology Sydney (Chancellor)The Australian Balletand the CISRO Australia Telescope National Facility Steering Committee

Qualifications: Bachelor of Arts (Accounting) (Hons), Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia New Zealand, Fellow of Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering, Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and Fellow of the Australian Academy of Science.

Shirish Apte, Independent Non-Executive Director

Shirish has been a Non-Executive Director since June 2014. He is Chairman of the Risk Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Shirish has more than 32 years' financial services experience, having held various senior roles with Citi, including CoChairman of CitiAsia Pacific Banking, Chief Executive Officer Offiti Asia Pacific, Co-Chief Executive Officer of Europe, Middle East & Africa and Country Managerand Deputy President of Citi Handlowy, where he is nown member of the Supervisory Board Shirish is a former Director of Crompton Greaves Ltd.

Other Directorships and Interests: IHH Healthcare Bhd (including two of its subsidiaries), Fullerton India Credit Company Limited, AIG Asia Pacific Pte Ltd, Clifford Capital Pte Ltd, Pierfront Capital Mezzanine Fund Pte Ltd (Chairman) Supervisory Board of Citilandlowy (Vice Chairman) Accion International

Qualifications: Chartered Accountant, Bachelor of Commerce (Calcutta), MBA (London Business School).

Sir David Higgins, Independent Non-Executive Director

Sir David has been aNon-Executive Director since September 2014. He is Chairman of **Rise**ple & Remuneration Committee and a member of the Risk Committee.

Sir David is Chairman of Gatwick Airport Limited, which operates Gatwick Airport in the UK. Sir David is a senior advisor to Global Infrastructure Partneirs the United Statesand to Lone Star Fundisle is the former Chairman of High Speed Two (HS2) LtdPreviously he was Chief Executive Officer of Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd, Chief Executive Officer of dthOlympic Delivery Authority for the London 2012 Olympic

Games, Chief Executive Officer of English Partnerships and Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Lend Lease.

Other Directorships anotherests: Gatwick Airport Ltd (Chairman) d United Utities PLC (Board Member)

Qualifications: Bachelor of Engineering (Civil), USyd, and Diploma, Securities Institute of Australia.

Wendy Stops, Independent Non-Executive Director

Wendyhas been **A**lon-ExecutiveDirector since March 2015. She is a membethef Audit Committee and the People &Remuneration Committee.

Wendywas Senior Managing Director, TechnologyAsia Pacific for Accenture Limited from 2012 intune 2014. Wendy's career at Accenture spanned some 32 yieawshich she held various senipositions, including Global Managing Director, Technology QualityRisk ManagementGlobal Managing Director, Outsourcing Quality & Risk Management and Director Operations, Asia Pacifiche also served on Accenture's Global Leadership Council from 200 until her retirement.

Other Directorships and Interestitium Ltd, Coles Group Fitted For Work Ltd, University of Melbourne (Council Member) Chief Executive Women (Member) ustralian Institute of Company Directors Technology Governance & Innovation Panel and Chairman of the Melbourne Business School's Centre for Business Analytics Advisory Board

Qualifications: Bachelor of Applied Science (Information Technology) and Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Anne Templeman-Jones, Independent Non-Executive Director

Anne has been allon-Executive Director since March 2018 the is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk Committee

Anne is an experienced listed company Nonecutive Director, currently serving on the boards of GUD Holdings Ltd, The Citadel Group Ltd and WorleyParsons Ltd. She is the former Chairman OBATION financial advice companies and is a former director of Cuscal Ltd, HT&E Limited, Pioneer Credit Ltd, TAL Superannuation Fund, and HBF's private health and general insurance companies.

Anne had a 30-year executive career developing deep operational risk, governance and strategy experience. Early in her career she held auditclaaccounting roles with Priceaterhous@oopersworking in Australia and overseas. She gained experience in corporate banking with Bank of Singapore and then Westpac Banking Corporation("Westpac"), and in private banking with Australia and New Zealand Banking GroupAlctrole returned to Westpac in 2007 and went on too the two remains senior management positions in private banking, risk and strategy until 2013. She has serve@basirman ormember of the audit and risk committees on current and past boards.

Other Directorships and lerests GUD Holdings Limited, The Citade Group Limited, Worley Parsons Limited and Cyber Security Research Committee

Qualifications:Bachelor of Commerce (University of Australian School of Managemen Master of Risk Managemen (University of New South Was), Chartered Accountant and Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

Mary Padbury, Independent Non-Executive Director

Mary has been Nominations Committee and the People & Remuneration Committee.

Mary is a preeminent intellectual property lawyer with ove Spears experience. Mary retired as Partner of Ashurst at the end of April 2018 and the role of Vice Chairman of Ashurst the end of 2017. She was Chairman of Ashurst Australia for eight years prior to the firm's full merger with Ashurst LLP in 2013.

Mary spent a number of years in the United Kingdom with boutique firm, Bristows, and as resident partner of Ashurst Australia. She has undertaken intellectual proposity for Australian and multinational corporations in a range of technology areas and has extensive international, legal and governance experience.

Other Directorships and nierests: Transaman IP Attorneys Board (Chairman), The Macfarlane Burnet Institute for Medical Research and Public Health (Chairman), Clinical Genomics Technologies Pty Ltd (Chairman), Chief Executive Women (Member) and Victorian Legal Admissions Committee (Member).

Qualifications: Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and Bachelor of Arts, iversity of Melbourne. Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Robert Whitfield, Independent Non-Executive Director

Roberthas been Non-ExecutiveDirector since September 2017. He is a member of the Risk Committee and the NominationsCommittee.

He has significant banking and finance and senior management experience in the private and public sectors. He is a Director of New South Wales Treasury Corporation ("NSW Treasury") and was previously its Chairman. He is a former Secretary of NSWeasury and NSW Industrial Relations.

Prior to NSW TreasuryRoberthad a 30 year career with Westpac Banking Corporation ("Westpac") and held various senior management positidhere including Chief Executive Officer of the Institutional Bank, Chief Risk Officer, Group Treasurer and Chairman of the Asia Advisory Board. At Westpac's risk management knowledge of equity and capital markets and was instrumental in developing Westpac's risk management function and strategiestobertis a former Depty Chair of the Australian Financial Markets Association.

Other Directorships anotherests: New South Wales Treasury Corporation.

Qualifications:Bachelor of Communicatio(University of New South Wales), Graduate Diploma in Banking, Graduate Diploma in Finance, Advanced Managemen Programme (Harvard Business Schoos Enior Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia (FINSIAn) d Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

Professor Genevieve Bell, Independent Non-Executive Director

Genevieve became Non-Executive Director on 1 January 2019. Genevieve is a cultural anthropologist, technologist and futurist. Genevieve is a Distinguished Professor at the College of Engineering and Computer Science at the Australian National Uersity (ANU) and is the inaugural Florence Violet McKenzie Chair at the university. Genevieve is a Senior Fellow of Intel Corporation and is the Vice President of Intel's Digital Home Group

Other Directorships and Interestatorence Violet McKenzie(Charman), Autonomy, Agency & Assurance Innovation Institute(3A) and Nationa Science and Technology Council (Member)

Qualifications:Postgraduate Doctoral Degreteaster of Arts, Master of Philosophand Bachelor of Arts.

Paul O'Malley, Independent Non-Executive Director

Paul became **b**lon-Executive Director on 1 January 2019. Paul is a member of the People & Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee.

Paul was Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of BlueScope Steel Limited fromta 2017 after joining the company as Chief Financial Officer eighteen months prior. He was formerly the Chief Executive Officer of TXU Energy, a subsidiary of TXU Corp based in Dallas, Texas, and has held other senior financial management roles within XIU. Paul had previously worked in investment banking and consulting.

Paul is a former Director of the Worldsteel Association, Chairman of their Nominating Committee and Trustee of the Melbourne Cricket Ground Trust.

Other Directorships and Interests: Anatian Catholic Redress Limited (Chairman).

Qualifications: Bachelor of Commercle asters of Applied Positive Psychology an ACA from the institute of Chartered Accountants in England

Matt Comyn, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Matt wasappointed Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer on 9 April 2018. He has nearly 20 years' experience across business, institutional and retail banking and in wealth management. He joined ithe Bank 1999 and has held a number of senior leaders hes. rBetween 2006 and 2010, Matt was Managing Director CommSec. In 2010, he left the Bank for a short time to become Chief Executive Officer of Morgan Stanley's wealth business in Australia. Matt returned to the Bank to lead local business banking 20102, he was appointed Group Executive Retail Banking Services

Other Directorships and derests: Unicef Australia and markets Foundation for Children

Qualifications: Executive MBA from Sydney University, a Master's degree in Commerce, majoring in finance, and a Bachelor's degree in Aviation, both from the University of New South Wales. Matt has also completed the General Management Program at Harvard Business School.

Subscription and Sale

The Dealers have in an Amended and Restated Programmement dated July 2019 (as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Programme Agreement") agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time agree to purchase Notes. Any such agreeament for particular purchase will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Note'sand "Conditions of the Note's above. In the Programme Agreement, the substance has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses. The Dealers are entitled to be released and discharged from their obligations in relation to any agreement to issue and purchase Notes under the Programme Agreement in certain and corresponding to payment to the Issuer.

The selling restrictions agreed between the Issuer and the Dealers are set out in a Schedule of Selling Restrictions date 3 July 2019 and are summarised below. The restrictions may be amended from time to time by agreement between the Issuer and the Dealers. The selling restrictions are as follows:

United States of America

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, of as 1920 ende (the "Securities Act") or any applicable securities laws of any state or jurisdiction of the United States, accordingly, may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. federal tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and Treasequilations promulgated thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes (i) as part of their distribution at time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution, as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer or, in the case of an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis, the relevant lead manager, of all Notes of the Tranche of with such Notes are a part, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with Regulation S of the Securities Fauth Dealer has further agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will equired to agree, that it will send to each dealer to which it sells any Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States of the programme account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration ander the Securities Act.

Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplation by ProgrammeCircular as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

(a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

- (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II");
- (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as ameondedpersed)d where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as define on (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
- (iii) not a qualified investor as definedthe Prospectus Directivand
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and **the**tes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscriber the Notes.

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", in relation to each Member State to European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, the total virtue and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated binis Programme Circular as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member State, except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in the Vanta Member State:

- (A) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
- (B) at any time to fewer than 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) sighter to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (C) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of Notes referred in(A) to (C) aboveshall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a war open and to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision:

- the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of isufficiformation on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or substree ibe Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State; and
- the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or supersed) and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and eabbrf@ealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment ya (tiwithin the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA would not, if the Issuer was not an authorised persopply to the Issuer; and
- (ii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

The Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

In addition to the cases described in the Public Restriction under the Prospectus Directive selling restrictions in which the Dealers can make an offer of Notes to the public in an EEA Member State (including the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg), the Dealers can also make an offer of Notesptabths in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg:

- (a) at any time, to national and regional governments, central banks, international and supranational institutions (such as the International Monetary Fund, the European Central Bank, the European Investment Bank) and ther similar international organisations:
- (b) at any time, to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets (including, credit institutions, investment firms, other authorised or regulated financial institutions, undertakings for collective investment and their management companies, pension and investment funds and their management companies, insurance undertakings and commodity dealers) as well as entities not so authorised or regulated whose corporate purpose is tsoilerlyest in securities; and
- (c) at any time, to certain natural persons or small and medizaed enterprises (as defined in the Luxembourg act dated 10 July, 2005 on prospectuses for securities implementing the Prospectus Directive into Luxembourg law) recoded in the register of natalrepersons or small and mediasized enterprises considered as qualified investors as held by the Commission de surveillance du secteur financier as competent authority in Luxembourg in accordance with the Prospectus Directive.

Belgium

Each Dealer represents and agreed each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agreed an offering of Notes may not be advertised to any individual in Belgium qualifying as a consumer within the mearginof Article I.1 of the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (a Belgian Consumer) and that it has not offered, sold or resold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, sell, resell, transfer or deliver, the Notes, and that it not be similar documents in relation to the Notes, directly or indirectly, to any Belgian Consumer

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registeemder the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended; the "FIEA") and each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agreed, absolitoffered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Articlet foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended) or to others for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEAnd any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Australia

No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act) in relation to the Programme or any Notes has been or will be lodged ASIC. Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that in connection with the distribution of each Tranche of Notes it:

- (a) will not make(directly or indirectly)any offer or invitation in Australia or any offer or invitation which is received in Australia in relation to the issue, sale or purchase of any blodles
- (b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, any information memorandum, advertisement, diclosure document or other offering material relating to the Notes in Australia,

unless(i) the aggregate consideration payable by eatthereor invitee is at least A\$500,000 for the Notes or its foreign currency equivalent (in either case disregardingerys, if any, lent by the Issuer or other person

offering the Notes or its associates (within the meaning of those expressions in Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act)), or the offer or invitationotherwise does not requiresclosure transfers in accordace with Part 6D.2 or Part 7.9 of the Corporations Act(ii) the offer or invitationis not made to person who is petall client (as defined in section 761G or 761GA of the Corporations Act(ii) such action complies with all applicable laws, regulations and directives and (iv) such action does not require any document to be lodged or registered with ASIC.

Each Dealer has agreeathd each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required totagree, offer Notes to be issued by the Issuer sale in a manner which will allow payments of interest or amounts in the nature of interest on those Notes to be exempt from Australian withholding tax under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act, as amended. In particular, each Dealer has agreeath further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agreeat it will not sell Notes to any person if, at the time of sale the Dealer knew or had reasonable grounds to suspect that as a result of such sale, any Notes or an interested a was being, or would later be, acquired (directly or indirectly) by an Offshore Associate of the Issuer (other than one acting in the capacity of a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the Notes or in the capacity of a clering house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme).

An "Offshore Associate" of the Issuer means an associate (as defined in section 128F of the Australian Tax Act) of the Issuer that either is a nonesident of the Commonweth of Australia which does not acquire the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia or, alternatively, is a resident of Australia that acquires the Notes in carrying on business at or through a permaneistheretabloutside of Australia.

For the avoidance of doubt, the selling restrictions immediately above concerning section 128F of the Australian Tax Act apply irrespective of the jurisdiction in which the Notes are being offered or sold.

New Zealand

No action has been taken to permit the Notes to be offered or sold to any retail investor, or otherwise under any regulated offer, in terms of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 of New Zeatland of MCA"). In particular, no product disclosure statementimited disclosure documented the FMCA has been or will be prepared or lodged in New Zealand in relation to the Notes.

Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represse and agree, that has not offered, sold or delivered and will not directly or indirectly offer, sell or deliver any Note in New Zealand atmobil not distribute any offering memorandum or advertisement in relation to any offer of Notes, in New Zealand transcript than o "wholesale investors" as that term is defined in clauses 3((2)), (b), (c) and (d) of Schedule 1 to the MCA,

- (a) beinga person who is:
 - (i) an "investment business";
 - (ii) "large"; or
 - (iii) a "government agency",

in each case as defined in Schedule theoFMCA; or

(b) a person who meets the "investment activity criteria" specified in clause 38 of the Schedule 1 to the FMCA.

In addition, no person may distribute any offering material or advertisement (as defined in the FMCA) in relation to any offer of Notes in New Zealand other than to such persons as referred to in the paragraph above.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agreet it has not offered or soldnet will not offer or sell, any Notes to persons whom it believes to be

(a) persons who are resident in New Zealand for New Zealand income tax purposes

- (b) personswho carry on business in New Zealand through a fixed establishment (as defined for New Zealand inome tax purposes) in New Zealand hold the Notes for the purposes of a business carried on through that fixed establishment; or
- (c) a registered bank engaged in business through a fixed establishment in New, Zealand

unless such persons certify that they chalvalid certificate of exemption of other evidence of exempt status acceptable to the Issuer and/or the relevant Paying Afgerithew Zealand resident withholding tax purposes otherwise have exempt status in respect of resident withholding tax povide a New Zealand tax file number to such Dealer (in which event the Dealer shall provide details thereof to the Issuer or to a Paying Agent).

Republic of Italy

The offering of the Notes has not been registered pursuant to Italian securities legistletiancordinglyeach Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, threat Notes may be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copities: Programme Circular (including the applicable Final Terms) or of any other document relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:

- (i) to qualified investorsikvestitori qualificati), as defined pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1989 as amended (the "Financial Services Act") and Article 34-ter, first paragraph, letter b) of Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa ("CONSOB") Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended from time to time ("Regulation No. 11971"); or
- (ii) in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 of the Financial Services Act and Article-24 of Regulation No. 11971.

Any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copiesthost Programme Corular (including the applicable Final Terms) or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy undering it abovemust be:

- (a) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediarynitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with the Financial Services Act, CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of 29 October 2007 (as amended from time to time) and Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended (the "Banking Act");
- (b) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act, as amendient luding the applicable reporting requirements and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time, pursuant to which the Bank of Italy may requenformation on the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy; and
- (c) in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations or requirement imposed by CONSOB or other Italian authority.

Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (i) to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO") and any rules made under the SFO; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellangus Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Konng "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meanintheoC(WUMP)Q and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or or dissue or its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (pexit permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to

persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Macau

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that no Notes have been or will be registered or otherwise authorised for public offer under the Finaniael System Act of Macau (Decreew no. 32/93M of July 5, 1993) (the Financial System Act) or promoted, distributed, sold or delivered in Macau, and no document relating to any Notes will be distributed or circulated in Macau, except Macau licensed enties following notification to the Macau Monetary Authority and under the terms of, and in compliance with, the Financial System Act and any other laws, guidelines and recommendations Macau that may apply om time to time to the offer and sale of any Notes in Macau

Republic of Korea

The Notes have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Services Commission of Korea for public offering in the Republic ofKorea ("Korea") under the Financial Investment Services and Capital Markets Act (the "FSCMA"). Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or delivered (and will not offer, sell or deliver) any Notes, directly or indirectly, or offered or sold (and will not offer or sell) any Notes to any person for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of Korea except pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of Korea, including the FSCMAFthreign Exchange Transaction Law and the decrees and regulations thereone Furthermore, the Notemay not be resold to Korean residents unless the purchaser of the Notes complies with all applicable regulatory requirements (including but not limited to government reporting requirements under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law and its subordinate decrees and regulations) in connection with the purchase of the Notes aggregate nominal amount of the Notes divided by the specified denomination of the offered in Korea or to a resident in Korea allin each case less than 50.

By purchasing the Notes, each Noteholder will be deemed to represent, warrant and agree that for a period of one year from the issue date thereof, the Notes, may not be distinct into smaller denominations that Expecified Denomination.

Singapore

Each Dealehas acknowledgethat and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledgethat this Programme Circular has not beæmd will not beregistered as a prospectus with the MAS. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that into offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchast evill not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchast enables as not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Programme Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of any Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (a) to an institutional invested fined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (b) to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA or any pen pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provisions of the SFA.

Where the Notes are Isscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital objective owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor:
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trusts an individual who is an accredited vestor,

securities or securities based derivatives contracts ach terms defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferable within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to amatterinder Section 275 of the SFA except:

- (i) to an institutional rivestor or to a relevant persoon, to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) of the SFF or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (iv) pursuant to Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (v) as specified inRegulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offershowstments) \$ecurities and Securities based Derivatives ContractRegulations 2018 of Singapore

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms in respect of anyNotes; all Notesissued or to bessued under the Programme shallphoescribe capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) Exactly ded Investment Products (as defined time MAS Notice SFA 04N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products in Investment Products in Recommendations on Investment Products).

The PRC

Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that neither it nor any of its affiliates basedoff sold or will offer or sell any of the Notes in the PRC, except as permitted by the applicable laws or regulations of the PRC

Taiwan

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that the Notes have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China ("Taiwan") and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan pursuant to the relevant stiesurlaws and regulations and (ii) may not be offered, issued or sold within Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances that constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan or any other relevant laws antibresgul that require a registration or filing with, or approval of, the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan. No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorised to offer or sell the Notes in Taiwan.

General

No action (other than the approval that Programme Circular as an approved prospectus for the purposes of Section 85 of the FSMA by the CA) has been taken by the Issuer or any of the Dealers that would, or is intended to, permit an offer of any Notesaimy country or jurisdiction where any such action for that purpose is required.

Accordingly, each Dealer has presented and agreedd each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to epresent and agreed it will not, directly of or sell any Notes or distribute or publish any offering circular, prospectus, form of application, advertisement or other document or information in any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in compliaincentwit applicable laws and regulations and all offers and sales of Notes by it will be made on the same terms.

Without prejudice to the generality of the preceding paragraph each Dealerhessented analgreed and each further Dealer appointed under theogramme will be required topresent analgree that, except as provided in the Programme Agreement, it will obtain any consent, approval or permission which is required for the offer, purchase or sale by it of Notes under the laws and regulations einifoany jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such offers, purchases or sales and it will comply with all such laws and regulations.

General Information

1 Admission of the Notes to the Official List

The admission of Notes to the Officialst will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount (excluding accrued interest). It is expected that each Tranche of Notes which is to be admitted to the Official List and to trading by the London Stock Exchange will be admitted separatehydatehen issued, subject only to the issue of a global Note or Notes representing the Notes of such Tranche. Application has been made the FCA for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange south Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market. The listing of the Programme in respect of such Notes is expected to be granted on or aroutedJuly 2019.

2 Authorisation

The establishment of the Programme was authoritise the Managing Director of the Issuer. The increase of the size of the Programme to its present limit of U.S.\$70,000,000,000 was authorised by the Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer.

3 Consents

No authorisations, consents or approvals are required by the from government agencies or other official bodies in Australia in connection with the creation of the Programme, the issue of any Notes thereunder or the execution and delivery (where applicable) of the Programme Agreement the Agency Agreement and he Deed of Covenant or the performance by the Issuer of its obligations thereunder save for the obtaining, where necessary, of approval from the Reserve Bank of Australia or other regulatory body in respect of payments on any of the Notes if such payments ade outside the Commonwealth of Australia.

4 Litigation

Except as disclosed ithis Programme Circulathere are no, nor have there been any, governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or the tenewhich the Issuer is aware) during the twelve months immediately preceding the date of this Programme Circular which may have or have had in the recent past a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its subsidies, taken as a whole.

5 Significant or Material Change

There has been no significant change in the financial position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since the date of its unaudited financial statements prepared to 31 De20e16bærd there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since the date of its audited financial statements prepared to 320018 ne

6 Audited Financial Statements

The Issuer's consolidated financial statements for the years ended 30 12017 and 30 June 018 were audited, without qualification, by Pricewaterhouse Coopers, Chartered Accountant One of International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo NSW 2000 alia. The auditors of the Issuer have no material interest in the Issuer.

7 Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The appropriate Common Code and ISalNd, if applicable, the FISN and/or Cfor each Tranche of Notes allocated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be contained in the applicable Final Terms.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert112,1B Brussels Belgium and the address of Clearstrealmuxembourg, is Clearstream BankingA., 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L1855 Luxembourg.

8 Documents Available for Inspection

Copies of the following documents may be inspected during usual business hours on any business day at the offices of Commonwealth Bank of Aralia and at the offices of any Paying Agent in the United Kingdom for so long as the Programme remains in existence:

- (i) the Constitution of the Issuer;
- (ii) the Commonwealth Banks Act 1959, as amended, the Commonwealth Banks Amendment Act 1984, the Commonwealth Banks Amendment Act 1985, the Commonwealth Banks Amendment Act 1987, the Commonwealth Banks Restructuring Act 1990, the State Bank (Succession of Commonwealth Bank) Act 1990, the Commonwealth Banks Amendment Act 1993, the Commonwealth Bank Sale Act 1995;
- (iii) the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the forms of the Notes, Coupons and Talons;
- (iv) this Programme Circular, any supplementary listing particulars published and Ferath Termsrelating to Notes admitted to the Official List;
- the terms and conditins of the notes contained in the Programme Circulars prepared by ASB Finance Limited, ASB and the Issuer dated 26 September 2001, pages 17 to 36 (inclusive); 26 September 2002, pages 17 to 37 (inclusive); 26 September 2003, pages 17 to 37 (inclusive); 1 June 2004, pages 18 to 38 (inclusive); 21 October 2004, pages 20 to 43 (inclusive); 2 March 2005, pages 20 to 43 (inclusive); 14 October 2005, pages 30 to 54 (inclusive); 13 October 2006, pages 32 to 56 (inclusive); 15 October 2007, pages 47 to 71 (inclusive); 14 October 2008, pages 50 to 75 (inclusive); and 16 October 2009, pages 62 to 87 (inclusive); 14 October 2010, pages 58 to 92 (inclusive), 13 October 2011, pages 62 to 97 (inclusive) and 20 June 2012, pages 65 to 100 (inclusive);
- (vi) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the Programme Circulars prepared by the Issuer dated 19 June 2013, pages 59 to 84 (inclusive), June 2014, pages 61 to 86 (inclusive), 24 June 2015, pages 36 to 64 (inclusive) June 2016, pages 34 to 62 (inclusive), 3 July 2017, pages 33 to 61 (inclusive) and 3 July 2018, pages 38 to 70 (inclusive)
- (vii) the auditors' reports and audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements for the financial years ended 30 2016 (contained in the Annual Report 18) and 30 Jun 2017 (contained in the Annual Report 17) of the Issuer; and
- (viii) the Profit Announcement.

9 Australian Taxation

The following is a summary of the Australian taxation treatment, at the date of this Programme Circular, of payments of interest on Nestand certain other matters. It is not exhaustive and does not deal with the position of certain classes of holders of a Note (such as dealers in securities). Prospective holders of Notes should be aware that the particular terms of issue of any selfices of may affect the tax treatment of that and other series of Notes. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. Holders of Notes who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional adviser

References to 'interest' include amounts in the nature of or in substitution for interest.

The requirements for obtaining an exemption from Australian interest withholding tax set out in section 128F of the Australian Tax Act include:

(i) the issuer must be resident of Australia when it issues the Notes and when interest is paid;

the issue of the Notes must satisfy a public offer test containing five basic alternatives designed to ensure that lenders in capital markets are aware that the issue in the

Where practicable, the Issuer intends to issue Notes in a manner which will satisfy these requirements.

The public offer test

In summary, the alternatives to satisfy the public offer test are:

- (i) offers to 10 or more professional marketanciers, investors or dealers who are not associates of each other:
- (ii) offers to 100 or more potential investors;
- (iii) offers of listed Notes;
- (iv) offers as a result of negotiations being initiated via electronic or other market sources; or
- (v) offers to dealers, manage or underwriters who by agreement with the issuer offer the Notes for sale within 30 days by one of the preceding methods.

The issue of &lobal Note by one of these methods will satisfy the public offer test.

Associates of issuer

The public offer testwill not be satisfied if, at the time of issue, the issuer knew or had reasonable grounds to suspect that the Notes, or an interest in the Notes, was being, or would later be, acquired either directly or indirectly by an Offshore Associate of the issubsection one acting in the capacity of a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the Notes or in the capacity of a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme).

Moreover, the section 128F emption will not be available if, at the time of payment, the issuer knows or has reasonable grounds to suspect that interest in respect of a Note is to be paid to an Offshore Associate of the issuer other than one receiving the payment in the capacitle of ing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme. The Conditions of the Notes provide that in these circumstances the Issuer will not be required to gross up interest payments.

ACCORDINGLY, NOTES MUST NOT BE PURCHASED BY OFFSHORE ASSOCIATES OF THE ISSUER OTHER THAN THOSE ACTING IN THE PERMITTED CAPACITIES DESCRIBED ABOVE

As a result of the issue Global Notes, rights conferred by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg in relation to the Notes will be creed in favour of the Noteholders.

Section 126 of the Australian Tax Act imposes a type of withholding tax at the reference cent. on the payment of interest on bearer notes if the issuer fails to disclose the names and addresses of the holders to the Australian Taxation Office. Section 126 does not apply to the payment of interest on notes held by nonesidents who do not carry on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia where the issue of those notes satisfied the requirementations 128F of the Australian Tax Act or interest withholding tax is payable. However, the operation of section 126 in relation to notes held in some circumstances is unclear.

The Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonwealth of Australia may give a **directi**der section 255 of the Australian Tax Act or section 260 of Schedule 1 to Taxation Administration Act 1953 or any similar provision requiring the issuer to deduct from any payment to any other party (including any holder of Notes) any amount in tax payable by that other party.

The Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 of the Commonwealth of Australia ins provisions governing the taxation of financial arrangements (referred to as "the TOFA regime") which may apply to the Notes. However, he law that governed the taxation of financial arrangements before the introduction of the TOFA regime will continue to apply to Notes held by taxpayers that are not subject

to the TOFA regime because they do not meet certain threshold requirements characteristic to the TOFA regime does not contain any measures that override the exemption from Australian interest withholding tax available under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act in respect of interest payable on the Notes.

10 The Proposed Financial Transactions Tax

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common financial transactions tax ("FTT") in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia Saovakia (the "participating Member States"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstance rimary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC) No. 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, to deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the solisaling issued in a participating Member State.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member Btates. may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains undeltained EU Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

11 Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1988@cody known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" (as defined by FATCA) may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes foreign passthru payments to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting or related requirements. Tstaueris classified as a foreign financial institution A number of jurisdictions (including Australia) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATIGAS"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions Inder the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes rain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as Notes, are uncertain and may be ubject to change Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations indefinas thru payments are published in the U.S. Federal Register Notes issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining foreign passthru payments are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be grandfathered for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution of the issuer). However, if additional Notes (as described under "Terms and Conditions-Further Issues") that are not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the expiration of the gnalfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in Notes. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCAarotGA with respect to payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding.

The impact of FATCA for Australian financial institutions will also depend on associated guidance issued by the Australian Taxation Office spective investors should consult their tax advisers on how these rules may apply to the Issuer and to payments they may receive in connection with the Notes.

12 Common Reporting Standard

The Organisation for EconomiCo-operation and Developme Standardfor Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information(the "CRS") requires certain financial institutions to report information regarding certain accounts to their local tax authority and follow related due diligence procedures. Noteholders may be request to provide certain information and certifications to ensure compliance with the CRS. A jurisdiction that has signed a competent authority agreement may provide this information to other jurisdictions that have signed by the complete of th

Prospective investors should consult their tax advisers on how the CRS may apply to such investor.

13 Post-issuance information

Save as set out in the Final Terms, the Issuer does not intend to provide aissupposte information in relation to any issues of others.

14 Dealers transacting with the Issuer

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of businessertain of the Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make markets Notes issued under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) entering into him strategies on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates, investor clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading activities.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Deand their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or the Issuer's affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their drectiposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the cretion of short positions in secties, including potentially. Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investmentmenendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments

Registered and

Head Offices of

the Issuer

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Ground Floor Tower 1

201 Sussex Street Sydney NSW2000

Australia

Principal

Paying Agent

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House

1 Great Winchester Street

London EC2N 2DB

England

Registrar

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2 Boulevard Konrad Adenauer

L-1115 Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Paying

Transfer

Agents

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House

1 Great Winchester Street

London EC2N 2DB

England

and

Credit Suisse AG

Paradeplatz 8 8001 Zurich Switzerland

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. 2 Boulevard Konrad Adenauer

L-1115 Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Auditors to the

Issuer

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

 ${\bf Price water house Coopers}$

One International Towers Sydney

Watermans Quay Barangaroo NSW 2000

Australia

Dealers

Barclays Bank PLC

5 The North Colonnade

Canary Wharf London E14 4BB

England

Barclays Capital Asia Limited

41/F Cheung Kong Center 2 Queen's Road Central

Hong Kong

BNP Paribas

10 Harewood Avenue London NW1 6AA

England

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB

England

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited

One Cabot Square London E14 4QJ England

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Stree London EC2N 2DB England

HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ England

Merrill Lynch International 2 King Edward Street London EC1A 1HQ

England

NatWest Markets Plc 250 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AA

England

UBS AG London Branch

5 Broadgate London EC2M 2QS

England

Legal Advisers

To the Issuer as to Australian law

Allen & Overy Level 25 85 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000

Australia

To the Issuer as to Australian tax law

Greenwoods & Herbert Smith Freehills ANZ Tower

161 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia Daiwa Capital Markets Europe

Limited

5 King William Street London EC4N 7AX

England

Goldman Sachs International

Peterborough Court 133 Fleet Street London EC4A 2BB

England

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

25 Bank Street Canary Wharf London E14 5JP England

Morgan Stanley & Co. International

plc

25 Cabot Square Canary Wharf London E14 4QA

England

Nomura International plc

1 Angel Lane London EC4R 3AB

England

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

acting through its branches outside

Australia

To the Issuer as to English law

Allen & Overy LLP
One Bishops Square
London E1 6AD
United Kingdom

To the Dealers as to English law

Clifford Chance LLP

10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ United Kingdom